
TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 

APRIL 6,  2015

AGENDA 

MAYOR AND TOWN COUNCIL 

MAYOR JODY L. MCLEOD COUNCILMAN ART HOLDER 
MAYOR PRO TEM MICHAEL GRANNIS COUNCILMAN R.S. “BUTCH” LAWTER, JR. 
COUNCILMAN BOB SATTERFIELD COUNCILMAN JASON THOMPSON 

TOWN STAFF 

STEVE BIGGS, TOWN MANAGER 
KIMBERLY A. MOFFETT, TOWN CLERK 

BRUCE THOMPSON II, TOWN ATTORNEY 

P. O. Box 879 - Clayton, North Carolina 27528 - Office (919) 553-5002 - Fax (919) 553-8919

  Jody L. McLeod Bob Satterfield 
       MAYOR          R.S. “Butch” Lawter, Jr. 

Art Holder  
   Bruce Thompson Jason Thompson   
TOWN ATTORNEY COUNCIL MEMBERS 

     Steve Biggs Michael Grannis 
 TOWN MANAGER   MAYOR PRO TEM 



AGENDA 
THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE CLAYTON TOWN COUNCIL 

MONDAY, APRIL 6, 2015 THE CLAYTON CENTER 
6:30 PM COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

1. CALL TO ORDER
Pledge of Allegiance & Invocation – Mayor Jody L. McLeod

2. ADJUSTMENT OF THE AGENDA

3. CONSENT AGENDA
(Items on the consent agenda are considered routine in nature or have been 
thoroughly discussed at previous meetings.  Any member of the Council may 
request to have an item removed from the consent agenda for further 
discussion.) 
a. Draft minutes – March 2, 2015
b. Fresh Air Fund Proclamation
c. Surplus Property Resolution
d. Municipal Records Retention & Disposition Schedule Resolution
e. Special Event – Clayton Road Race
f. Special Event – Santa Baby Road Race
g. Special Event – Zaxby’s Movie Night(s)
h. Warranty and Dedication Acceptances

• Spring Branch Medical Park Phase 2, Smith Packet AL Facility
• Chandlers Ridge (Old Lyndale) Subdivision, Phase 2

Potential Action: Motion for Approval of Consent Agenda as Presented 

4. INTRODUCTIONS AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
a. Introduction of new employees;

• Conner Franks – Electric Line Technician
• Sonya Davis – Customer Service Representative

b. Certificate of Excellence in Financial Reporting
c. Introduction of Miss Clayton 2015

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS
a. Public Hearing – PDD 2014-127 – Steeplechase Planned Development –

Rezoning to PD-MU

Potential Action:   Tabled until April 20, 2015 

b. Public Hearing -  PSD 2014-128 - Steeplechase Planned Development –
Preliminary Plat/Master Plan

Potential Action:  Tabled until April 20, 2015 

Page 1 of 282



 
6. OLD BUSINESS  

a. Library Card Fees – Updated 
 
Potential Action:   Place on April 20, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
b. Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library Long Range Plan 

 
Potential Action:  Place on April 20, 2015 Agenda for Approval 
 

7. NEW BUSINESS 
a. Clean Sweep Proclamation 
 
Potential Action:  Place on April 20, 2015 Consent Agenda 
 
b. Nomination to Fill Vacancy on Public Arts Advisory Board 
 
Potential Action:  Approve Appointment as Presented 
 

8. STAFF REPORTS 
a. Town Manager 
b. Town Attorney 
c. Town Clerk  
d.   Other Staff 
 

9. OTHER BUSINESS 
a. Informal Discussion & Public Comment 
b. Council Comments 
 

10. ADJOURNMENT 

Page 2 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3a    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Draft Minutes 
 
DESCRIPTION: Draft minutes from the March 2, 2015 and March 16, 2015 

Town Council meetings.   
 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
 
4-6-15   Consent    Draft Minutes 
         
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3 of 282



Minutes 
Clayton Town Council 

March 2, 2015 
 
Present:  Mayor Jody McLeod, Mayor Pro Tem Michael Grannis, Council 
Member Bob Satterfield, Council Member Art Holder, Council Member Jason 
Thompson, Council Member Butch Lawter 
 
Staff Present:  Steve Biggs, Town Manager; Nancy Medlin, Deputy Town 
Manager; Katherine Ross, Town Attorney; David DeYoung, Planning Director; 
Stacy Beard, Public Information Officer;  Bruce Naegelen, Downtown 
Development Coordinator; Tommy Roy IT Technician and Kimberly Moffett, 
Town Clerk 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Mayor McLeod called the meeting to order at 6:34 p.m. 
 
Girl Scout Junior Troop 672 led the Pledge of Allegiance and Mayor 
McLeod offered the Invocation.  

 
2. ADJUSTMENT OF THE AGENDA 
 

Order of items listed under Public Hearings was changed.  The 
Steeplechase item was moved to be the first item to be heard. 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA 

a. Warranty and Dedication Acceptances: 
• Chandlers Ridge (Old Lyndale) – Phases 1 & 2 
• Spring Branch, Phase 1 
• Glen Laurel East, Phases 2A & 2B 
• Spring Branch Commercial Subdivision, Phase 1 
• Spring Branch Medical & Commercial Park, Phase 2 
• South Tech Park/Harvest Mill Lane 

b. Approval of Special Event -  2015-02 – 2015 Town Square Concert      
Series 

c. Resolution  #2015-07 – Water Reclamation Reimbursement 
d. Proclamation – Arbor Day 2015 
e. Ordinance  #2015-03-01 – Amendment Related to Right-Of-Way 

Encroachments 
 

Action: Approval of Consent Agenda as Presented 
 

Motion: Council Member Holder 
Second: Council Member Thompson 
Vote:  Unanimous 

 

Page 4 of 282



4. INTRODUCTIONS AND SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
a. Junior Girl Scout Troop 672 - Community Services Project –Grace

Episcopal Church Back Pack Buddies

Two members of Junior Girl Scout Troop 672 offered a presentation 
regarding their upcoming community service project.  A food drive will 
be held on April 25, 2015 for the benefit of the Back Pack Buddy 
Program.  The food drive will be held at Grace Episcopal Church.  

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS
a. Public Hearing – PDD 2014-127 – Steeplechase Planned Development

– Rezoning to PD-MU

Mayor McLeod opened the Public Hearing at 6:40 p.m.  Mr. DeYoung 
stated we are still awaiting receipt and review of the traffic study. 

Action:   Tabled until March 16, 2015 

Motion:  Council Member Satterfield 
Second:  Council Member Lawter 
Vote:  Unanimous 

b. Public Hearing -  PSD 2014-128 - Steeplechase Planned Development
– Preliminary Plat/Master Plan

Mayor McLeod opened the Public Hearing at 6:41 p.m.   Mr. DeYoung 
stated we are still awaiting receipt and review of the traffic study. 

Action:  Tabled until March 16, 2015 

Motion: Council Member Satterfield 
Second: Council Member Lawter 
Vote: Unanimous 

c. Public Hearing – PSD 2014-145 – Lions Gate –Phases 7 A, 7B,7C, & 7D

Mayor McLeod opened the Public Hearing at 6:43 p.m. 

Town Attorney, Katherine Ross provided information regarding   
evidentiary hearing procedures. Ms. Ross stated the Town Council 
normally functions in a legislative capacity; preliminary subdivision 
application hearings are “quasi-judicial,” which means that the Council 
would essentially act as a court of law. She stated there is a burden that 
the applicant must meet the four findings of fact as found in the UDO of 
the Town Code of Ordinances. She added anyone opposed to the 
application would have to put on evidence of a similar kind, showing the 

Page 5 of 282



findings of fact have not been met. Ms. Ross explained that all evidence 
and testimony provided to the Council in such a hearing must comply 
with the North Carolina Rules of Evidence, which means that all such 
evidence and testimony must be relevant, based on personal knowledge, 
given under oath, and otherwise be competent and admissible. Ms. Ross 
also explained that her role during the hearing is to monitor all evidence 
and testimony to ensure that it complies with the Rules of Evidence, the 
Town’s procedures, and all other applicable requirements. 

The Mayor stated those who would be offering testimony would need to 
step forward and be administered oath.  The Town Clerk administered 
the oath to the following; David DeYoung, Fred Smith, Donnie Adams and 
Thad Advent. 

The applicant is requesting a major subdivision approval that would 
allow for a total of 82 townhome units within the existing Lions Gate 
Development located near intersection of Amelia Church and Shotwell 
Roads.   The applicant is present with his team. 

The site is 10.31 acres in total and the zoning is PD-MU.  Existing use is 
vacant.   Total of 82 lots is being requested as follows; Phase 7A – 36 
lots/units, Phase 7B – 24 lots/units, Phase 7C – 10 lots/units and Phase 7D 
– 12 lots/units.

A minor amendment to Master Plan will be required for consistency with 
proposed phases.  Requirement would be the adjustment of phase lines 
and park location.  Approval of preliminary subdivision plat is subject to 
approval of the revised Master Plan and is listed as a condition of 
approval. Despite need for minor modification, proposed subdivision is 
consistent with approved Master Plan.  

Development is consistent with Unified Development Code.  The 
applicant has addressed the Findings of Fact. 

Applicant is requesting alternative compliance to Class C buffer because 
they have a dedicated 35’ greenway easement and the Clayton 
Community Center Pedestrian Connector Greenway will be passing 
through buffer.  Additionally, installation of buffer materials will be 
delayed until such time greenway is built to allow for flexibility in 
greenway location and plantings may be placed on either side of the trail. 

Access will be off future Fieldspar Lane, which was approved as part of 
Phases 1A & 1B.  Fieldspar Lane is accessed off of Middleton Street, 
which is the existing primary entrance to Lions Gate. 

Page 6 of 282



Staff and the Planning Board are both supportive of approval of PSD 
2014-145, with conditions as listed. 

Mayor Pro Tem Grannis asked for clarification of dumpster locations.  
Mr. DeYoung stated there are currently two locations on the plan and 
both are completely screened with landscape surrounding the 
enclosures. 

With no other questions from Town Council, the applicant, Fred Smith, 
addressed the Council at 6:48 p.m. 

Mr. Smith stated the project is consistent with the Master Plan and meets 
all requirements of the Town and stated he was happy to answer any 
questions. 

Mayor Pro Tem Grannis asked if there were any professionals that would 
be going through the Findings of Fact and substantiating those 
statements.  Mr. Smith stated there would not. 

Mayor Pro Tem Grannis stated he had particular interest with regard to 
Findings of Fact #3 and #4. 

Mr. Smith stated with regard to both items, the development is consistent 
with the Master Plan which has been approved.  He stated town staff, 
which has three certified planners, have certified that the development 
has met the requirements of both items #3 and #4.  Mr. Smith further 
stated he believed the Town had a good staff. 

Mayor McLeod asked if anyone in opposition wished to speak.  With no 
one coming forward, the Mayor turned the item over to Council for 
discussion. 

Action: Motion for Approval of PSD 2014-145 

Motion: Council Member Lawter 
Second: Council Member Holder 
Vote: Unanimous 

d. Public Hearing -  SUP 2014-143 – Murdock Solar Farm

Mayor McLeod opened the Public Hearing at 6:55 p.m. 

Town Attorney, Katherine Ross, provided information regarding 
testimony. 

Page 7 of 282



The following people were administered the oath by the Town Clerk; 
David DeYoung, Thomas Cleveland, Rich Kirkland, Mike Fox and Keith 
Colson. 

Mr. DeYoung stated the applicant is requesting Special Use Permit 
approval for a 21+ acre solar farm on a 31.9 acre parcel.  A solar farm is 
a low impact industrial type use where solar panels generate electricity 
that is sold into the grid through the local electricity provider.  The 
Special Use Permit application runs concurrently with a Site Plan which 
contains details for the solar farm use on this property. 

This project is located at 2663 Guy Road.  The western border of this 
parcel is in the Wake County/Johnston County line.  It is located west of 
Guy Road, south of US Highway 70 and south of Golden Nugget Drive.  
Current zoning is Residential Estate (R-E) and existing use is vacant.  
Current zoning is consistent with surrounding uses.   

Proposed development is not inconsistent with the Strategic Growth Plan 
and meets requirements of the Unified Development Code. 

Staff recommends approval with the following conditions: 

• Development of site is limited to approved site plan – reference
SP2014-144.

• All mechanical equipment (excluding the electrical tie-in and utility
metering area) must be completely screened from view from out of
the site.

• A Zoning Compliance Permit shall be required prior to issuance of
any building permits.

The Planning Board recommends approval with conditions as listed 
above.  

Mayor McLeod asked if there were any questions from Council, with 
there being none, the applicant addressed the Council. 

Mr. Mike Fox stated he is an attorney and is representing the applicant.  
He stated also in attendance were Keith Colson, a representative of the 
company who will operate the solar farm; Thomas Cleveland who is a 
Solar Engineer and Rich Kirkland who an Appraiser who has performed 
an analysis on this project. 

Mr. Colson stated there was a prior question regarding an easement 
issue.  He stated this issue has been addressed by readjusting. 

Page 8 of 282



Mr. Cleveland addressed the issues of public health and safety and site 
setup.  He states there is no concrete at the site, the system is easily 
removable, there are no batteries at the site and stated solar is safe and 
environmentally friendly. 

Mr. Kirkland stated he had completed a financial impact study and 
analysis which indicates there is no financial impact to any adjoining 
property.  

Mayor McLeod asked if there was anyone in opposition that wished to 
speak.  With no one coming forward the item was turned over to Council 
for questions and deliberation. 

Action:  Approval of SUP 2014-143 

Motion: Council Member Thompson 
Second: Council Member Holder 
Vote: Unanimous 

6. OLD BUSINESS
a. Special Event - 2014-129 – Millstock Art and Music Festival

Mr. Naegelen reported that based on feedback from previous 
presentation, changes had been made to the layout and location of food 
trucks.  Food trucks will now be located on Horne Square.  

Action:  Approval of Event 

Motion:  Mayor Pro Tem Grannis 
Second: Council Member Lawter 
Vote: Unanimous 

b. Clayton Center Office Renovations

Mr. Biggs reports this item was previously discussed and endorsed at 
last year’s Town Council retreat. 

The cost estimate for this project was $175,367.  With a few necessary 
minor design changes the total cost is approximately $180,000.    
Original thought was this work would need to budgeted as a two phase 
projects, however, it appears this project could be completed as a single 
phase which would shorten the overall duration of inconvenience while 
creating a cost savings of $24,000. 

Page 9 of 282



The proposed layout and renovations include the temporary relocation of 
Customer Service Department, Office of the Deputy Town Manager, and 
Finance Department. 

Temporary location of Customer Service would be the second floor.  The 
Finance Department will move to the Clayton Center side of the building 
and Room 223 will serve as the temporary housing location for 
offices/departments as renovation is underway.  

Mr. Biggs stated the furniture budget would be approximately $50,000 
and he feels very comfortable with finding resources for that full budget 
amount. 

Mr. Biggs stated that work would take approximately 3 months for 
completion and could begin in 3 weeks. 

Action: Approval to move forward with project. 

Motion: Mayor Pro Tem Grannis 
Second: Council Member Satterfield 
Vote:  Unanimous 

7. NEW BUSINESS
a. Legislative Agenda

• Support NC League of Municipalities “Municipal Advocacy
Goals”

• Seek Restoration or Replacement of North Carolina Historic
Preservation Economic Development Tax Credit

Mr. Biggs stated the North Carolina League of Municipalities has 
officially endorsed the restoration of the Historic Tax Credit. 

There was discussion regarding Clayton being somewhat land 
locked.  On the east side there is a research and training zone that we 
cannot annex.  On the west side there is the existing agriculture crop 
science study area which is in ownership of the State of North 
Carolina.  It is the interest of the town to seek legislative approval of 
annexation.  This would create a very significant area of 
contiguousness which would allow for expansion of development.   

Mayor Pro Tem Grannis asked for any updates regarding loss of 
revenue from privilege license issuance.  Mr. Biggs stated he recently 
met with Representative Daughtry who stated while he is in 
agreement that these financial losses should be replaced; there are 
no promises.  The overall feeling at the General Assembly is that 

Page 10 of 282



municipalities should consider raising property taxes to make up for 
lost revenue. 

Action: Endorse Legislative Agenda 

Motion: Council Member Lawter 
Second: Council Member Holder 
Vote: Unanimous  

b. Resolution Appointing  Deputy Town Clerk and Duties

This Resolution will transfer duties of the Deputy Town Clerk from the 
Deputy Town Manager to the Administrative Assistant within the office of 
the Town Clerk. 

Action:  Place on March 16, 2015 Consent Agenda 

c. Dumpster Service Court Design & Location Update
Bruce Naegelen introduced Anthony Garcia who is a member of the 
Downtown Development Association. Mr. Garcia provided a 
recommendation regarding Dumpster/Service Court Design and 
Locations for downtown businesses.  He stated numerous design models 
were viewed and discussed.  It is the recommendation of the committee 
that a base design consist of the following: 

• Dark gray, powder-coated metal sides and doors(s) with metal
frames on a concrete pad.

• Dark gray, powder-coated metal corner posts (square in cross-
section), with similar (but smaller diameter) beams spanning
between posts.

• Dark or light gray corrugated or meshed metal panels acting as
the visual shield.  Ability to see silhouettes behind is good for
safety.

• 8’ minimum and 10’ maximum height for walls
• 8” gaps along bottom and at intervals along walls for safety.
• A limited use of brick.  A solid enclosure, open inside, with interior

bollards on the back end for dumpster guidance and wall
protection.

• Concrete slab could be pre-form or poured in place.

Council Member Satterfield asked if it were common for towns to 
become involved in commercial areas.  Mr. Biggs stated it was common, 
especially in downtown areas.  Council Member Satterfield suggested 
that some small businesses might get together and share dumpsters.  

Page 11 of 282



Currently there is no cost estimate.  There was discussion regarding 
cost and responsibility.  Town would not be responsible and cost would 
be transferred to property owner.    Mayor Pro Tem Grannis stated he 
was excited to see movement in this area and this has been a problem for 
several years in the downtown area. 
 

8. STAFF REPORTS 
a. Town Manager 
Mr. Biggs provided written financial reports to the Council which 
included Sales Tax Report, Comprehensive General Fund Statement and 
Expenditure Report. 
 
b. Town Attorney 
c. Town Clerk  
 Calendar of Events  
d. Other Staff 
Mr. DeYoung provided a status report on the Comprehensive Growth 
Update - everything is on schedule.  Council Member Lawter asked if the 
questions from the group of folks that attended the meeting at Cooper 
Elementary would be incorporated into the April report.  Mr. DeYoung 
stated they would. 
 
Stacy Beard, Public information Officer, reported that the Red and White 
Building demolition would begin on Wednesday.  Ms. Beard also reported 
that the deadline for new sculpture submissions was extended by three 
weeks to broaden the reach to additional artists. 
 

9. OTHER BUSINESS 
a. Informal Discussion & Public Comment 
Mr. James Lipscomb thanked Town Council and stated he believed the 
improvements to Town Hall are a good and necessary step.  As director 
for the Downtown Development Association, he asked for direction 
regarding next steps for downtown trash containment.  Mayor McLeod 
stated the Council would like some time to digest all the information they 
received.  Mr. Lipscomb also asked the Council to consider having a 
conversation with the County Clerk of Court regarding possibility of 
holding traffic court in old council chambers. Mayor McLeod stated that 
would be an item for discussion at the Town Council Retreat.  
 
Mr. Mark Altman, who is a resident, stated he attended the meeting 
tonight to hear the Steeplechase item.  He stated he was happy to hear 
that the Town is thinking about landlocked issues and asked the Council 
to also think about future impact fees.  
 

Page 12 of 282



Ms. Leisa Mills, a resident of Smith Ridge, stated she continues to have 
concerns regarding Steeplechase and access into Smith Ridge.  She 
states the residents of Smith Ridge do not want that access to occur. 
 
b. Council Comments 
 

10. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Action: Adjournment 
 
Motion: Council Member Holder 
Second: Council Member Lawter 
Vote:  Unanimous 
 
With there being nothing further, the meeting was adjourned at 8:22 p.m. 
 
 
Duly adopted this 6th day of April, 2015 while in regular session. 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
Jody McLeod 

Mayor 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Kimberly A. Moffett, CMC, NCCMC 
Town Clerk 

Page 13 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3b    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Fresh Air Fund Proclamation 
 
DESCRIPTION: The Town received a request from the Fresh Air Fund to 

recognize this organization.  The Fresh Air Fund provides a 
summertime experience for children, who might not 
otherwise have the opportunity, to enjoy the fresh air of 
Clayton backyards, parks, greenways, and wide open 
spaces.   

 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
3-16-15   Place on April 6, 2015  Proclamation 
    Consent Agenda 
 
4-6-15   Consent    Proclamation 
         
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14 of 282



 
Town of Clayton 

PROCLAMATION  
The Fresh Air Fund 

 

WHEREAS, The Fresh Air Fund provides free summer experiences in 
the country to more than 7,000 New York City children each summer, 
and 

 
WHEREAS, The Fresh Air Fund allows city children to visit the homes 
of volunteer host families In 13 states from Virginia all the way to Maine 
and even Canada, and 

 
WHEREAS, Clayton families have been participating in The Fresh Air 
Fund’s Volunteer Host Family program for over 130 years, and 

 
WHEREAS, The Fresh Air Fund allows New York children to enjoy 
Clayton backyards, parks, greenways, and wide open spaces, and 

 
WHEREAS, The Fresh Air Fund is celebrating its 139th summer, 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Honorable Mayor and Clayton Town Council 
wish to recognize 

THE FRESH AIR FUND 
 

We urge all citizens to support and encourage children of ages to value 
all summertime experiences by getting outside and enjoying fresh air 
and the wonderful experiences offered by The Fresh Air Fund 
 
Duly proclaimed by The Clayton Town Council this the 6th day of April 
2015. 
 

       

 Jody L. McLeod  
  Mayor 

Resolution 2015-011 

Page 15 of 282

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRw&url=http://simplethings.freshair.org/&ei=14rsVOqFBszagwTi5oPwAQ&bvm=bv.86475890,d.eXY&psig=AFQjCNHDwZzoJOfjbugP1qoT8tQGBWtMZQ&ust=1424874533210354


TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3c    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Surplus Property Resolution 
 
DESCRIPTION: This resolution will authorize the sale of Town of Clayton 

surplus property on www.govdeals.com, which is an internet-
based auction system. 

 
RELATED GOAL:   
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
3-16-15   Place on April 6, 2015  Resolution 
    Consent Agenda 
         
 
4-6-15   Consent    Resolution 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16 of 282



Resolution 2015-012 

TOWN OF CLAYTON 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE SALE OF  

CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY AT PUBLIC AUCTION 
 

WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Clayton desires to dispose of 
certain surplus property of the Town; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council of the Town of Clayton desires to utilize the 

auction services of an Internet-based auction system 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Town Council that: 
 
1. The following described property is hereby declared to be  
 surplus to the needs of the Town:     
           

Vin./Serial #                           Description 
  
2FALP71W11X126877 2001 Ford Crown Vic 
  
2FAHP71W13X173578 2003 Ford Crown Vic 
  
Suction lift pump             Smith & Lovelace #VL256TTDR8666AN-R28 
  
Suction lift pump             Smith & Lovelace #VL256TTDR8666AN-R28W 
  
2FAFP71W36X157619 2006 Ford Crown Vic 
  
2FAFP71W86X157616 2006 Ford Crown Vic 
  
2B3LA43GX8H235914 2008 Dodge Charger 
  
1FTEF15N3SNA78678 1995 Ford F-150 
  
Portable Generator           ECCO #C50ES w/ 10hp Briggs&Straton 
 

 
 

2. The Finance Director or his designee is authorized to receive, on behalf of 
the Town Council, bids via public electronic auction for the purchase of the 
described property. 

 
3. The public electronic auction will be held beginning no earlier than April 17, 

2015 [resolution shall be published at least 10 days before the date of 
auction]. 

 
4. The Town Council further authorizes the disposal of Town surplus property 

by use of a public electronic auction system provided by GovDeals Inc. The 
property for sale can be viewed at www.govdeals.com. Citizens may bid on 
the property at the same website. The terms of the sale shall be:  All items are 
sold as is, where is, with no express or implied warranties; All items will be 

Page 17 of 282

http://www.govdeals.com/


sold for cash or certified check only; Payment must be received for all items 
sold before they may be removed from the premises; All items sold must be 
paid for and removed from the site of the sale within 5 business days of the 
sale, or they will be subject to resale. 

 
5. The Town Clerk shall cause a notice of the public auction for surplus             

property to be noticed by electronic means in accordance with NC G.S.            
160A-270(c), available on the Town of Clayton website:             
www.townofclaytonnc.org. 

 
6. The highest bid, if it complies with the terms of the sale, may be                                      

accepted by the Finance Director or his designee and the sale                                       
consummated. 
 

Duly adopted by the Clayton Town Council this 6th day of April 2015, while in 
regular session. 

 
 

_____________________________________ 
      Jody L. McLeod  

Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

________________________________________ 
Kimberly A. Moffett, CMC 
Town Clerk 
 

Page 18 of 282

http://www.townofclaytonnc.org/


TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3d    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Amendments to the Municipal Records Retention & Disposition 

Schedule  
 
DESCRIPTION: At the November 5, 2015 Council approved the use of the 

2012 Municipal Schedule for the Town of Clayton. 
 
 Amendments to this Schedule include: 

• Adding Law Enforcement Records – Law Enforcement 
Audio and Video Recordings 
 

• Amending Employee Eligibility Records (I-9 forms etc.) 
as follows: 
Mandatory to retain records throughout entire 
employment.  Records may be destroyed upon 
separation;  either 3 years from the date of hire OR 1 
year after separation, whichever is later. 
 

RELATED GOAL: Legislative 
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
3-16-15   Place on April 6, 2015  Resolution 
    Consent Agenda 
         
 
4-6-15   Consent    Resolution 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 

Page 19 of 282



 

Page 20 of 282



Resolution 2015-013

Page 21 of 282



Page 22 of 282



Page 23 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3e    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Clayton Road Race 
 
DESCRIPTION: The Clayton Road Race has been scheduled for May 9, 2015. 
 
RELATED GOAL:   
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
3-16-15   Place on April 6, 2015  Special Events Report 
    Consent Agenda 
         
 
4-6-15   Consent    Special Events Report 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24 of 282



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Planning Staff Contact:  Bruce Naegelen: 919-280-1278 

 
EVENT INFORMATION:  
 
Event Name: Clayton Road Race File Number:   2015-03 

Event Description:  5k Road Race – will require road closings 

Event Date(s): May 9th, 2015 Event Time(s): 8:00 am to 11:00 am 

Event Location:   Downtown streets – Second/Atkinson/Horne/Barbour/Fayetteville 

Event Coordinator: Matt Lorion Contact Number: 919-624-9807 

Contact Email: mlorion@townofclaytonnc.org 

Attendees (Per Day): 300-400  
 
 

TOWN SERVICES REQUESTED: 
 

Department / 
Division 

Requested Services Date/Time Primary 
Contact 

Contact 
Phone # 

Public Works 5 Trash Roll-Out Carts & 3 Recycled 
carts to The Clayton Center Parking 
Lot (Horne Street) 

Deliver: 
5/8/15 
Pick-up: 
5/11/15 

Steve Blasko 359-1287 

Public 
Works/PD 

Road barricades and cones for street 
closures 

Deliver: 
5/8/15 
Pick-up: 
5/11/15 

Steve Blasko 
Ken Lunger 

359-1287 
550-0826 

PD Put barricades/cones in place by 8 am 5/9/15 Ken Lunger 550-0826 
Town Council Authorize closure of roads for race 3/16/15   

 
 

STAFF USE: 
 

SEC 
Approval 

  Approved 
Date:  3/3/2015   No Council Action needed    Denied 

    
Council 
Action 

Presentation        Date: 3/16/15   Approved      Denied 
Consent Agenda    Date: 4/6/15 Date:   

    
Pending 
Actions 

  DOT Road Closure Approval 

  Issue Permit    Date:   
  ABC Permit Submittal 
  Other 

(SEC – Special Event Committee)  

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

SPECIAL EVENT ACTION ITEM REPORT 

Page 25 of 282

mailto:mlorion@townofclaytonnc.org


TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3f    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Santa Baby Road Race 
 
DESCRIPTION: The Santa Baby Road Race is scheduled for December 5, 

2015. 
 
RELATED GOAL:   
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
3-16-15   Place on April 6, 2015  Special Events Report 
    Consent Agenda 
         
 
4-6-15   Consent    Special Events Report 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26 of 282



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Planning Staff Contact:  Bruce Naegelen: 919-280-1278 

 
EVENT INFORMATION:  
 
Event Name: Santa Baby File Number:   2015-04 

Event Description:  1 mile Fun Run – 5 K timed run   

    

Event Date(s): 12-5-2015 Event Time(s): 9:00 am  to  12:00 pm 

Event Location:   110 W. Main Street – down town Clayton 

Event Coordinator: Calvin Spradlin Contact Number: 919-802-5334 

Contact Email: Reciprocityevents@gmail.com 

Attendees (Per Day): 500+  
 
 

TOWN SERVICES REQUESTED: 
Department / 

Division 
Requested Services Date/Time Primary 

Contact 
Contact 
Phone # 

Public Works 5 trash roll-out carts at Town Square Deliver: 
12/4/15 
Pickup: 
12/7/15 

Steve Blasko 359-1287 

Public 
Works/PD 

Road barricades & cones for street 
closures 

Deliver: 
12/4/15 
Pick-up: 
12/7/15 

Steve Blasko 
Ken Lunger 

359-1287 
550-0826 

PD Put barricades in place by 8:00 am 12/5/15 Ken Lunger 550-0826 
Town Council  Authorize closure of roads for race 3/16/15   
     

 
 

STAFF USE: 
SEC 
Approval 

  Approved 
Date:  3/3/2015   No Council Action needed    Denied 

    
Council 
Action 

Presentation        Date: 3/16/15   Approved      Denied 
Consent Agenda    Date: 4/6/15 Date:   

    
Pending 
Actions 

  DOT Road Closure Approval 

  Issue Permit    Date:   
  ABC Permit Submittal 
  Other 

(SEC – Special Event Committee)  

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

SPECIAL EVENT ACTION ITEM REPORT 

Page 27 of 282

mailto:Reciprocityevents@gmail.com


TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 
Agenda Item: 3g    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Zaxby’s Movie Night(s) 
 
DESCRIPTION: Zaxby’s Movie Night(s) are  scheduled for May 2, 2015 and 

August 22, 2015. 
 
RELATED GOAL:   
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
3-16-15   Place on April 6, 2015  Special Events Report 
    Consent Agenda 
         
 
4-6-15   Consent    Special Events Report 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28 of 282



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Planning Staff Contact:  Bruce Naegelen: 919-280-1278 

 
EVENT INFORMATION:  
Event Name: Zaxby’s Movie Night File Number:   2015-05 

Event Description:  Free public movie- bounce house – food vendors 

    

Event Date(s): 5-2-15 & 8-22-15 Event Time(s): 6:00 pm to 10:00 pm 

Event Location:   110 W. Main Street 

Event Coordinator: Bruce Naegelen Contact Number: 919-280-1278 

Contact Email: bnaegelen@townofclaytonnc.org 

Attendees (Per Day): 500-800  
 
 

TOWN SERVICES REQUESTED: 
 

Department / 
Division 

Requested Services Date/Time Primary 
Contact 

Contact 
Phone # 

Public Works 5 Roll-out Trash Carts / 3 Recycled 
carts @ Town Square 

Deliver: 
5/1 & 8/21 
Pick-up: 
5/4 & 8/24 

Steve Blasko 359-1287 

Public Works Barricades to close Town Square 
Parking lot 

Deliver: 
5/1 & 8/21 
Pick-up: 
5/4 & 8/21 

Steve Blasko 359-1287 

Town Council Close Town Square Parking Lot Noon 
to 10:00 pm  

5/2/15 & 
8/22/15 

  

 
 

STAFF USE: 
 

SEC 
Approval 

  Approved 
Date: 3/3/2015    No Council Action needed    Denied 

    
Council 
Action 

Presentation        Date: 3/16/15   Approved      Denied 
Consent Agenda    Date: 4/6/15 Date:   

    
Pending 
Actions 

  DOT Road Closure Approval 

  Issue Permit    Date:   
  ABC Permit Submittal 
  Other 

(SEC – Special Event Committee)  

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

SPECIAL EVENT ACTION ITEM REPORT 

Page 29 of 282

mailto:bnaegelen@townofclaytonnc.org


TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 3h    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Warranty and Dedication Acceptances    
 
DESCRIPTION: Chandler’s Ridge (Old Lyndale) Phase 2 
 Spring Branch Medical Park Phase 2, Smith Packet AL Facility 
  
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
3-16-15   Place on April 6, 2015   Inspectors Memos 
    Consent Agenda     
         
 
4-6-15   Consent     Inspectors Memos  
   
 
 
 

Page 30 of 282



Page 31 of 282



Page 32 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 4a    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Introductions and Special Presentations 
 
DESCRIPTION: Dale Medlin will introduce Conner Franks .  Mr. Franks is the 

newest  Electric Line Technician .  Tim Simpson will introduce 
Sonya Davis, who is the new Customer Service 
Representative at the OPS Center. 

 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-6-15   Introduction    N/A 
         
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 4b    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 
 
DESCRIPTION: The Government Finance Officers Association has notified the 

Town of Clayton that it has been awarded a Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2014.  This is the highest form of 
recognition in governmental and financial reporting and 
attainment represents a significant accomplishment by the 
Town of Clayton.   

 
 This certificate will be presented to Robert McKie, Finance 

Director for the Town of Clayton. 
  
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-6-15 None     Certificate 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34 of 282



Page 35 of 282



Page 36 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 4b    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Introductions and Special Presentations 
 
DESCRIPTION: Keith Branch will introduce Miss Clayton 2015   
 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-6-15   Introduction    N/A 
         
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 5a    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Public Hearing - PDD 2014-127 – Steeple Chase Planned 

Development – Rezoning to PD-MU 
 
DESCRIPTION: Steeple Chase Planned Development – Rezoning to PD-MU.  

This is a  631 acre project and is generally located east of City 
Road, west of North O’Neil Street, and between Sam’s Branch 
and the Neuse River.  The applicant is requesting approval to 
rezone the subject property to Planned Development –Mixed 
Use. 

  
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
2-16-15   Set Public Hearing  Staff Report 
    for March 2, 2015   Supporting Documents 
 
 
3-2-15   Public Hearing   Updated Staff Report 
    TABLED – 3/16/15   Supporting Documents 
         
 
3-16-15   Public Hearing   Staff Report 
    TABLED – 4/6/15   Supporting Documents 
 
4-6-15   Public Hearing   Staff Report 
    To Be Tabled    Supporting Documents 
    4/20/15    Traffic Impact Study 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 

Page 38 of 282



 
 
 

Page 39 of 282



Page 1 of 3 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Town Council 
February 16, 2015 

STAFF REPORT 

 
Application Number:  PDD 2014-127 (Rezoning to Planned Development) 
Project Name: Steeplechase Planned Development 
 
Associated Application: PSD 2014-128 (Master Plan) 
NC PINs: 166900-38-4997 
TAG #s: 05H02009 
Town Limits/ETJ: Town Limits 
Overlay: None 
Applicant:  Galaxy NC, LLC, c/o Wakefield Development  
Owners: Raymond Elmore Earp Jr. Irrevocable Trust 
 
Neighborhood Meeting:   Held October 27, 2014  
Public Noticing: Property posted November 7, 2014  

  
 

 

PROJECT LOCATION:   The approximately 631 acre project is generally located east of City Road, west of North 
O’Neil Street, and between Sam’s Branch and the Neuse River. 
 

 

REQUEST:   The applicant is requesting approval to rezone the subject property to Planned Development – 
Mixed Use. 
 

 

SITE DATA: 

Acreage: 631.04 acres  

Present Zoning:  Residential Estate (R-E), Residential 10 (R-10), Residential 8 (R-8), Neighborhood 
Business (B-2) 

Proposed Zoning:  Planned Development – Mixed Use (PD-MU)  

Existing Use: Vacant/Agriculture/Forested 

Overlay:  Partially within the Watershed Protection Overlay (a small portion of the site in the 
southeast corner) 

 

 

 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

Page 40 of 282



Page 2 of 3 
 

ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USES: 
 
North:   Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 

Existing Use: Single Family Residential  
 
South:   Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E), Residential 8 (R-8 SUD) 
 Existing Use: Vacant / Single Family Residential /Agriculture 
 
East:  Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
 Existing Use: Single Family Residential / Agriculture 
 
West:  Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
 Existing Use: Single Family Residential 
   

 

STAFF ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY: 
 

Overview 
The applicant is requesting the subject property be rezoned to Planned Development – Mixed Use (PD-MU). 
Concurrent with the request to rezone property to a Planned Development District, a Master Plan has been 
submitted. That application is under concurrent review under case #PSD 2014-128. Both the rezoning and the 
master plan must be approved for the PD-MU District to be approved. Details of the Master Plan are provided in 
a separate staff report. 
 

Planned Development Review Criteria 
The regulations below are the components of the UDC that pertain to the review of Planned Developments: 
 

Definition: 
Definition of PD-MU (§155.200(A)(3)(d)): “The PD-MU district is intended to provide coordinated mixed-
use developments which include light industrial, commercial, office, educational, civic, institutional, 
residential and service uses  within a planned development with appropriate perimeter buffering and 
open space. The variety of land uses available in this district allows flexibility to respond to market 
demands and the needs of tenants which provides for a variety of physically and functionally integrated 
land uses.” 

 

Consistency with the Strategic Growth Plan 
The request is consistent with the following objectives of the Strategic Growth Plan: 

 Proposed Land Use Map 
 Objective 2.1 Balanced Development/ Investment: Old and New 
 Objective 2.3 Expand Wastewater Capacity: Treatment and Transmission 
 Objective 2.5 More Housing Opportunities: Beyond Starter Homes (Continue to encourage diverse 

housing stock. Promote planned development, which allows more flexibility in housing types.) 
 Objective 5.1 More Developed Parks and Parkland 

 
The Proposed Land Use Map shows the site as “Residential – Light and Neighborhood Commercial.”  
 
 
 

Page 41 of 282



Page 3 of 3 
 

Compatibility with Surrounding Land Uses 
Although the overall proposed density is 4 dwelling units per acre, the master plan has been designed to provide 
lower densities adjacent to existing subdivisions.  These lower densities are compatible to the densities in the 
adjacent subdivisions and provide a transition from the higher density/intensities. The commercial parcel is 
currently limited in the master plan regulating documents to neighborhood commercial (B-2 uses) and a 
maximum of 75,000 square feet of floor area. 

 

Landscaping and Buffering 
Planned Developments require a Class C perimeter buffer is provided along the boundary of the property. 
 

Recreation and Open Space 
Planned Developments are required to meet or exceed the standards established for open space subdivisions.  
 
 

 

CONSIDERATIONS 
 

 The applicant is requesting approval of a rezoning of the subject parcel to Planned Development – 
Mixed Use.  

 This approval is subject to approval of PSD 2014-128 (Master Plan).   

 The final decision is made by the Town Council with recommendation from the Planning Board. 

 The Planning Board did not make a recommendation at their January 26, 2015 meeting, and will open 
the item again at their February 23, 2015 meeting. 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff is recommending: 

1) Approval of the rezoning. 
 

 

 
Planning Board Recommendation:  No recommendation at this time. The item was postponed for decision at a 
future meeting. 
 
 
Attachments:  

1. Existing and Proposed Zoning Map 
2. Aerial Map 
3. Application 
4. Neighborhood Meeting Materials 

Page 42 of 282



R-E

R-E

R-10

R-10

R-E

R-E

R-E

R-8

R-8

R-E

R-10

R-E

PD-R

R-10

R-8

R-E

R-E

R-10

R-10

B-2

R-8
R-8 I-2

R-6 R-6

B-1

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 

O
'N

EI
L 

ST
 

COVERED BRIDGE RD 

BO
BB

IT
 R

D
 

SMITH DR 

C
LA

IR
E

 D
R

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

NE
US

E R
IV

ER

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

SteepleChase Planned Development
Rezoning to Planned Development - Mixed Use
and Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Galaxy NC, LLC c/o Wakefield Development
Property Owner: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP IRREV TRUST
Size: 631 acres
Parcel ID Number: 166900-38-4997
Tag #: 05H02009
File Number: PDD 2014-127 and PSD 2014-128

11/12/14
GUY RD 

S
H

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

 

MAIN ST  

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

NC 42 HWY E

C
IT

Y
 R

D
  

LOOP RD 

SMITH S
T  

RYANS LN 

RIDGE DR  

0 10.5 Miles

Vicinity Map

Existing Zoning

0 0.550.275
Miles

±

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 

O
'N

EI
L 

ST
 

COVERED BRIDGE RD  BO
BB

IT
 R

D
 

SMITH DR 

C
LA

IR
E

 D
R SARAZEN DR  

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

LA
KE

 D
R 

NE
US

E R
IV

ER

Proposed Zoning (PDD 2014-127)

PD-MU

PD-MU

PD-MU

Legend
SteepleChase_Site

Water Features

ZONING
R-E

R-10

R-8

R-6

PD-R

O-R

B-1

B-2

B-3

PD-C

I-1

I-2

O-I

PD-MU

Special Use District

Page 43 of 282



COVERED BRIDGE RD  

SH
O

TW
EL

L 
R

D

C
IT

Y
 R

D
 

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

LOOP RD 

BO
BB

IT
 R

D

SMITH DR 

OLD US 70 HWY W

MAIN ST  

T R DR

PEARSON PL  

PE
RC

Y 
DR

 
MAYLON LN 

HAYWOOD LN

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

LA
KE

 D
R 

NEUSE RIVER

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

SteepleChase Planned Development
Rezoning to Planned Development - Mixed Use
and Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat approval

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Galaxy NC, LLC c/o Wakefield Development
Property Owner: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP IRREV TRUST
Size: 631 acres
Parcel ID Number: 166900-38-4997
Tag #: 05H02009
File Number: PDD 2014-127 and PSD 2014-128

11/12/14
GUY RD 

S
H

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

 

MAIN ST  

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

NC 42 HWY E

C
IT

Y
 R

D
  

LOOP RD 

SMITH S
T  

RYANS LN 

RIDGE DR  

0 10.5 Miles

Vicinity Map

Aerial Map

0 0.550.275
Miles

Legend
SteepleChase_Site

Water Features ±
Page 44 of 282



Page 45 of 282



Page 46 of 282



Page 47 of 282



Page 48 of 282



Page 49 of 282



Page 50 of 282



Page 51 of 282



Page 52 of 282



Page 53 of 282



Page 54 of 282



Page 55 of 282



Page 56 of 282



27__

Page 57 of 282



Page 58 of 282



PPAB 2574608v1 

Page 1 of 1 

 

TOWN OF CLAYTON 

ZONING AMENDMENT 

CONSISTENCY AND REASONABLENESS STATEMENT 

PDD2014-127 
Steeplechase rezoning to PD-MU 

 

The Town Council of the Town of Clayton hereby states: 
  
Section 1: The above referenced zoning amendment IS CONSISTENT with: 
 
The Town of Clayton’s Strategic Growth Plan, specifically:  

- The Proposed Land Use Map (Figure 6.4) 
- Objective 1.2 – increase residential presence in downtown. 
- Objective 2.1 – balance development/investment: old & new. 
- Objective 2.5 – more housing opportunities: beyond starter homes. 
- Objective 5.1 – expand greenway program. 

 
Section 2: Based upon information presented at the public hearings and by the applicant, and 
based upon the recommendations and detailed information developed by staff and the Planning 
Board contained in the staff report, and considering the criteria applicable sections of the Unified 
Development Code of the Town of Clayton, specifically: 

 Staff recommends that the Planning Board approve the rezoning. 

 The Planning Board recommends an approval of the rezoning at their February 23, 

2015 meeting. 

 The Planning Board recommended approval of the Steeplechase Planned 

Development Master Plan (PSD2014-128, which functions as the Preliminary 

Subdivision Plan at their February 23, 2015 meeting.  

 the above referenced zoning amendment is reasonable and in the public interest. 

 

Page 59 of 282



COUNCIL MOTION SHEET 
ZONING ORDINANCE AMENDMENT  

(Rezoning or Text Amendment)  
 
 

After considering the recommendations of the Planning Board and Planning 
Director, I move to [approve OR deny]  [PDD 2014-127]  
 
[IF APPROVING] 
 
and to approve the Statement of Consistency and Reasonableness included in the 
Agenda packet [with the following modifications: STATE MODIFICATIONS, IF 
ANY]. 

 
 

Page 60 of 282



 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING ORDINANCE 
AND ZONING MAP 

OF THE TOWN OF CLAYTON, NORTH CAROLINA 
 

PDD 2014-127 “Steeplechase Planned Development” Rezoning to PD-MU 
 
 WHEREAS a petition has been filed with the Town Council of the Town of 
Clayton requesting an amendment to the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the Town 
of Clayton to include in the Planned Development – PD-MU zone the property described 
below, said property formerly being zoned Residential (R-8), Residential-10 (R-10) and 
Neighborhood Business (B-2); and  
 
 WHEREAS said property is owned by Nancy Crews Earp and Mary Earp Worley; and 
 
 WHEREAS the Planning Board of the Town of Clayton has reviewed the 
proposed change(s) and made a recommendation thereupon; and 
 
 WHEREAS notice of a public hearing to consider the proposed change was 
published in accordance with law in the Clayton News Star, a local newspaper, as 
required by Section 155.702(D) of the Clayton Unified Development Code and by 
Section 160A-364 of the North Carolina General Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS a notice of the proposed zoning classification action was mailed to 
the owner(s) of the parcel(s) of land involved, as shown on the County Tax Listings, and 
to the owners of all parcels of land abutting that (those) parcel(s) of land and within 100 
feet of the subject parcel(s) of land, as shown on the County Tax Listings, by depositing a 
copy of the same in the United States Mail, first class postage paid, as required by 
Section 155.702(D) of the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Clayton and by Section 
160A-384 of the General Statutes; and 
 
 WHEREAS the said public hearing was actually conducted at 6:30 p.m. on April 
6, 2015, wherein a reasonable opportunity was given to all those in attendance to speak 
either in favor or against the said change or to make relevant comments; 
 
 THEREFORE, after duly considering the matter, THE TOWN COUNCIL OF 
THE TOWN OF CLAYTON DOES HEREBY ORDAIN: 
 
SECTION 1.  That the Unified Development Code of the Town of Clayton is hereby 
amended to include in the Planned Development – PD MU zone the following described 
property: 
 
 
 

Page 61 of 282



General Description: 
 

South of Smith Ridge Estates and Ole Mill Stream Subdivision, North of Sam’s 
Branch Greenway, between Covered Bridge Road and O‘Neil Street on the east, 
and City Road on the west, with Covered Bridge Road, and Brookhill Drive running 
partly through the parcel. 

 
Specific Description: 
 

Parcel No. 05H02009     Tax ID #0869846 
 
SECTION 2.  That the official Town of Clayton Zoning Map is hereby amended to 
include in the Planned Development – PD-MU zone the above-described property and 
will be so marked. 
 
SECTION 3.  That if any section, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is for any 
reason held to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent 
jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this 
Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 4.  That this ordinance shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
 
 
DULY ADOPTED this 6th  day of April, 2015. 
 
 

        ________________________ 
        Jody L. McLeod 

Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Kimberly A. Moffett, CMC 
Town Clerk 
 
 
PDD 2014-127 

Page 62 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 5b    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Public Hearing - PSD 2014-128  
 
DESCRIPTION: Steeplechase Planned Development – Preliminary Plat/Master 

Plan.   The applicant is requesting Master Plan approval, with 
the Master Plan acting as the Preliminary Subdivision Plat 
approval, for the for the Steeplechase Planned Development 
to allow a maximum of 2,200 residential units and 75,000 
square feet of commercial uses.  

 
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
2-16-15   Set Public Hearing for   Staff Report 

March 2, 2015   Supporting Documents 
       
 
3-2-15   Public Hearing   Updated Staff  Report 
    TABLED – 3/16/15   Supporting Documents 
 
3-16-15   Public Hearing   Staff Report 
    TABLED – 4/6/15   Supporting Documents 
 
 
4-6-15   Public Hearing   Staff Report 
    To be Tabled   Supporting Documents 
    4/20/15    Traffic Impact Study  
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 

Page 63 of 282



 
 
 

Page 64 of 282



Page 1 of 14 

Town Council 
February 16, 2015 

STAFF REPORT

Application Number: PSD 2014-128 (Preliminary Plat / Master Plan for Planned Development) 
Project Name: Steeplechase Planned Development 

Associated Application: PDD 2014-127 (Rezoning to PD-MU) 
NC PINs: 166900-38-4997 
TAG #s: 05H02009 
Town Limits/ETJ: Town Limits 
Overlay: None 
Applicant:  Galaxy NC, LLC, c/o Wakefield Development 
Owners: Raymond Elmore Earp Jr. Irrevocable Trust 

Neighborhood Meeting:  Held October 27, 2014 
Public Noticing: Property posted November 7, 2014 

PROJECT LOCATION:   The approximately 631 acre project is generally located east of City Road, west of North 
O’Neil Street, and between Sam’s Branch and the Neuse River. 

REQUEST:   The applicant is requesting Master Plan approval, with the Master Plan acting as the Preliminary 
Subdivision Plat approval, for the for the Steeplechase Planned Development to allow a maximum of 2,200 
residential units and 75,000 square feet of commercial uses. 

SITE DATA: 

Acreage: 631.04 acres  

Present Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E), Residential 10 (R-10), Residential 8 (R-8), Neighborhood 
Business (B-2) 

Proposed Zoning:  Planned Development – Mixed Use (PD-MU) 

Existing Use: Vacant/Agriculture/Forested 

Existing Impervious: None – site is undeveloped 

Overlay:  Partially within the Watershed Protection Overlay (a small portion of the site in the 
southeast corner) 

Town of Clayton 
Planning Department 

111 E. Second Street, Clayton, NC 27520 
P.O. Box 879, Clayton, NC 27528 

Phone:  919-553-5002 
Fax:  919-553-1720 

Page 65 of 282



Page 2 of 14 
 

DEVELOPMENT DATA: 

All information below is as proposed by the applicant. Planned developments are unique in that they do not 
carry pre-established development standards. All bulk, area, and dimensional standards are set by the 
approval process and are binding once approved by Town Council. (See §155.202(L)).  PLEASE NOTE THAT ALL 
MODIFIED DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS ARE SPECIFICALLY LISTED IN THE MASTER PLAN DOCUMENT.  
STANDARDS WHICH ARE NOT SPECIFICALLY CALLED OUT MUST MEET THE MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT CODE. 

Proposed Uses: Residential/Non-residential – mix of housing types (single family, 
townhomes, condominiums and apartments), recreational amenities, and 
commercial uses. 

Proposed Buildings: Multiple buildings and phases include mixed residential, commercial and 
recreational (club house) buildings. 

Proposed Residential 
Density: 

Maximum 4 units per acre for residential portion of property (calculation 
does not include commercial site) 

Proposed Commercial 
Intensity: 

9.91 acres / 80% per lot building coverage / 75,000 SF max. 

Proposed Maximum 
Building Height: 

Detached Homes – Single Family: 35 feet max. 

Attached Homes – Townhome & Single Family: 45 feet max. 

Multi-Family – Condos & Apartments: 55 feet max. 

Amenity and Club: 45 feet max. 

Commercial Area: 80 feet max.  

Staff note: For reference, the maximum height in all existing general 
residential zoning districts is 35 feet. Maximum height in existing general 
commercial zoning districts is 60 feet (in B-3 and O-I). Maximum height 
for apartments/condos/townhomes is set by the Planned Development 
process.  

Staff supports the request for 80 feet in height for the Commercial area 
because it would allow for mixed use development with office and 
residential uses in upper stories. 

Proposed Impervious 
Surface: 

Overall Development: 70% 

The Master Plan is divided into a series of phases. Some phases may 
exceed maximum impervious with the understanding that the overall 
project may not exceed the maximum impervious surface percentage. As 
each phase is approved for development, it will be reviewed for 
consistency with the maximums set in the Master Plan, ensuring the 
overall development does not exceed the 70% maximum. 

Required Parking: Parking will be required as established by the Unified Development 
Ordinance and will be reviewed as each phase is approved for 
development. 

Access: Primary access is identified along Covered Bridge Road (3 aligned 
entrances/intersections) and North O’Neil Street (two entrances). 

Page 66 of 282



Page 3 of 14 
 

Additional internal connections exist along Brook Hill Drive as well as 
interconnectivity to existing stub streets in Smith Ridge estates and Old 
Mill Stream subdivisions. Additional access points may occur on City Road 
if the School District utilizes the portion of the site set aside for school 
use.  Several major roadway improvements will be necessary as a part of 
this development. Details of roadway and intersection improvements will 
be determined as part of the review of the Traffic Impact Analysis. The 
Traffic Impact Analysis review by NCDOT is included as an attachment to 
this staff report.  

Water/Sewer Provider: Town of Clayton 

Electric Provider: Town of Clayton 

Proposed minimum 
Recreation and Open 
Space: 

Overall: 64.98 Acres 

Active Recreation: 16.245 acres 

See discussion on Recreation and Open Space, below. Recreation and 
Open Space and Active Recreation acreages are minimums and cannot be 
reduced except by Town Council approval via a major modification to the 
Master Plan. 

Proposed Dimensional 
Standards: 

Minimum Dimensional Standards (setbacks, building coverage, and 
height) are set based on use in the Master Plan.  

The Master Plan includes a provision that all setbacks may be modified by 
up to 20% with approval by the Planning Director. 

 

 

 

ADJACENT ZONING AND LAND USES: 
 
North:   Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 

Existing Use: Single Family Residential  
 
South:   Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E), Residential 8 (R-8 SUD) 
 Existing Use: Vacant / Single Family Residential /Agriculture 
 
East:  Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
 Existing Use: Single Family Residential / Agriculture 
 
West:  Zoning: Residential Estate (R-E) 
 Existing Use: Single Family Residential 
   

 

STAFF ANALYSIS AND COMMENTARY: 
 

Overview 
The applicant is requesting preliminary subdivision plat approval for the Master Plan for the Steeplechase 
Planned Development. This 631 acre project is under concurrent request to be rezoned to Planned Development 

Page 67 of 282



Page 4 of 14 
 

Mixed Use (PD-MU) under case # PDD 2014-127. Both the rezoning and the master plan must be approved for 
the PD-MU District to be approved.  
 
The Master Plan is also acting as the Preliminary Subdivision Plat, as is permitted by the UDC. All dimensional 
standards are set within the Master Plan, along with basic street and development patterns, and regulating 
sheets are included to guide the form of development components. This means that as each phase of the 
development moves towards construction, the specific details within each phase (exact placement of lot lines, 
for example) will be reviewed and approved by staff as a final plat. Individual site components are required to be 
consistent with the design and standards presented in the regulating and master plan. 
 

 Note: The exceptions to the above include the commercial parcel, condo/apartment/townhome 
sections and recreation areas.  The condo/apartment/townhome sections will either be kept under 
single ownership as rentals or subdivided into lots which encompass the unit only leaving the 
remainder of the land in common ownership. Consequently the condo/apartment/townhome 
sections may be processed as a Major Site Plan with approval by the Planning Board. Development 
of the recreation areas will be processed as Minor Site Plans (staff-level review). The commercial 
parcel will go back to Planning Board for major site plan review/approval. 
 
Other modifications to this approved Master Plan deemed “Major” will return to the Town Council 
for review and approval.  

 
The applicant is requesting a maximum of 2200 residential units, to be comprised of a mix of single family and 
multi-family units. The units are clustered in a range of densities.  The commercial parcel is limited to 75,000 
square feet of commercial uses.  The project includes both active and passive recreation and open space, and 
identifies resource conservation areas as permanently preserved (as is required).   
 
The Master Plan also identifies a potential school site.  The applicant is in discussions with Johnston County 
Public Schools, and the site will be reserved for 18 months from the date of approval to acquire the site in 
accordance with §155.605(A) of the UDC. 
 

Planned Development Review Criteria 
The regulations below are the components of the UDC that pertain to the review of Planned Developments: 
 
Definition: 
Definition of PD-MU (§155.200(A)(3)(d)): “The PD-MU district is intended to provide coordinated mixed-use 
developments which include light industrial, commercial, office, educational, civic, institutional, residential and 
service uses  within a planned development with appropriate perimeter buffering and open space. The variety of 
land uses available in this district allows flexibility to respond to market demands and the needs of tenants 
which provides for a variety of physically and functionally integrated land uses.” 
 
Per §155.203(L), Planned Developments are subject to the following requirements: 

 The development proposed in the master plan is compatible with the character of surrounding land 
uses and maintains and enhances the value of surrounding properties.  

 Each planned development shall provide a comprehensive set of design guidelines that 
demonstrate the project will be appropriate within the context of the surrounding properties and 
the larger community. All bulk, area and dimensional standards shall be established by the Town 
Council at the time of approval. 

Page 68 of 282



Page 5 of 14 
 

 No resource conservation area (see § 155.500) shall be counted towards lot area. This shall not 
preclude the platting of lots in such areas, provided that adequate lot area outside the resource 
conservation area is provided. 

 No resource conservation area shall be counted towards the recreation and open space 
requirements. 

 The planned development master plan shall meet or exceed the recreation and open space 
requirements of an open space residential subdivision. 

 A phasing plan is required. 
 
Master Plan Approval Criteria (§155.705(K)): 

1. Compliance with all applicable requirements of the UDC; 
2. Consistency with the Clayton General Design Guidelines; 
3. Conformance of the proposal with the stated purpose of the requested planned development district;  
4. Compatibility of the proposed development with the adjacent community;  
5. The quality of design intended for each component of the project and the ability of the overall 

development plan to ensure a unified, cohesive environment at full build-out;  
6. Compatible relationships between each component of the overall project;  
7. Self-sufficiency of each phase of the overall project;  
8. Documentation that the proposed infrastructure improvements accommodate the additional impacts 

caused by the development, or documentation to assure that the development, as proposed, will not 
overtax the existing public infrastructure systems;  

9. The fiscal impact of the proposal and the proposed financing of required improvements;  
10. The success of the proposal in providing adequate pedestrian and bicycle links within the development 

and with the adjacent community; and  
11. The effectiveness with which the proposal protects and preserves the ecologically sensitive areas within 

the development. 
 
Preliminary Plat Findings of Fact 
Since the Master Plan is also acting as a Preliminary Subdivision Plat, the applicant is required to address the 
Findings of Fact outlined in §155.706 of the UDC. These have been included as an attachment to this report. 
 

Consistency with the Strategic Growth Plan 
The request is consistent with the following objectives of the Strategic Growth Plan: 

 Proposed Land Use Map 
 Objective 2.1 Balanced Development/ Investment: Old and New 
 Objective 2.3 Expand Wastewater Capacity: Treatment and Transmission 
 Objective 2.5 More Housing Opportunities: Beyond Starter Homes (Continue to encourage diverse 

housing stock. Promote planned development, which allows more flexibility in housing types.) 
 Objective 5.1 More Developed Parks and Parkland 

 
The Proposed Land Use Map shows the site as “Residential – Light and Neighborhood Commercial.”  
 

Consistency with the Unified Development Code 
The proposed development is consistent with and meets the applicable requirements of the Unified 
Development Code (UDC).  Individual lot development specifications including landscaping, building placement, 
access, driveway placement, etc. are required to be set as a part of the planned development, meet all other 
applicable Town standards, and be consistent with the provisions of the approved Master Plan.  
 

Page 69 of 282



Page 6 of 14 
 

Compatibility with Surrounding Land Uses 
The overall proposed density is 4 dwelling units per acre. Under the current zoning, which includes R-10, R-8, 
and B-2 zoning districts, the subject property could currently be developed using Conventional Subdivision 
standards with approximately 2,520 single family lots and 426,888 square feet of commercial uses.  These 
numbers go up substantially if Open Space subdivision standards are utilized.  The conventional development 
standard allocations were determined as follows: 
 

Ex. Zoning Acreage Max. Density/Acre 
Max. 

Intensity/Building 
Coverage 

Dwelling Units Square Footage 

R-10 536.6 4 N/A 2,146 N/A 
R-8 74.86 5 N/A 374 N/A 

B-2 19.6 N/A 50% N/A 426,888 

TOTALS 631.06   2,520 426,888 

 
Because the property is being processed as a Planned Development, units may be clustered to achieve higher 
densities in some areas while keeping lower densities in other areas to achieve a balance in residential types and 
lot sizes. Portions of the site will develop with higher residential density than others (i.e. the townhome and 
apartment options). Those higher densities are located closer to major intersections, while the portions of the 
site designed for single family detached (lower densities) are designed in the areas adjacent to existing 
subdivisions, providing a transition from the higher density/intensities.  
 
The proposed density on the subject property is very similar to the zoning of adjacent property to the south 
(Residential-10, which allows minimum 10,000 square foot lots, or 4 units per acre; and R-8 which allows 8,000 
square foot lots, or approximately 5 units per acre). Properties to the east are primarily undeveloped, 
agriculture, or very large lot single family residential (residential unit located on very large properties). Ole Mill 
Stream and Smith Ridge Estates directly to the north are established neighborhoods developed at densities of 
approximately 1 unit per acre. 
 
While those adjacent neighborhoods do have lower densities, Riverwood, to the north, was developed at a 
similar density to the proposed rezoning.  
 
The commercial parcel proposed at the intersection of Covered Bridge Road and O’Neil Street has reduced in 
size from approximately 19.6 acres to 13.51 acres  The development plan is limiting the development of the 
commercial site to a maximum of 75,000 square feet of floor area.  

 
Given the property’s adjacency to Clayton’s “core,” staff is supportive of the development of the entire property 
as a Planned Development and the proposed density of 4 units per acre so long as adequate measures are taken 
to ensure traffic safety and desirable neighborhood design that makes this development a benefit to the Town 
and a desirable place to live. 

 

Landscaping and Buffering 
A 20 foot Class C perimeter buffer is provided along the boundary of the property, including along Covered 
Bridge Road where it bisects the north and south portions of the property. Where able, existing trees and 
vegetation will be preserved to meet the standards of the Class C buffer. Where a Class C buffer is planted, it will 
be a minimum of 20 feet in width. All landscaping is required to meet the standards for height and caliper as 
established in the UDC. Street tree species are required to receive approval from the Planning Director as they 
will be located in the public right-of-way.   

Page 70 of 282



Page 7 of 14 
 

 
Street trees must be canopy trees and spaced a maximum of 40 feet apart. Street trees will be placed in a 
widened planting strip located between the sidewalk and street. 
 

Recreation and Open Space 
Planned Developments are required to meet or exceed the standards established for open space subdivisions. 
Required and provided recreation and open space is listed below: 
 
Overall Recreation and Open Space 
Planned Developments are required to meet the minimum standards for Recreation and Open Space as set for 
Open Space Subdivisions in the UDC. Overall Recreation and Open Space requirements include preserved land, 
passive open space, and active recreation areas. Recreation and Open Space may NOT include resource 
conservation areas (RCAs) such as riparian buffers, wetlands, ponds, and areas of 25% slope that exceed 5,000 sf 
in area (the exception to this rule is that the area of a paved greenway may be counted to recreation and open 
space if located in a RCA). 
 
Required:  Either 12.5% of net site area OR 1,245 sf per unit, whichever is greater.  

 
2,200 units x 1,245sf = 2,739,000 sf or 63 acres 
 
Net Site Area is 631.06 acres – 111.19 acres in resource conservation areas = 519.87 acres 
 519.87 ac * .125 = 65 acres 
 
As shown above, as currently proposed, the 12.5% calculation results in the greater number, 
requiring 65 acres of recreation and open space.  

 
Proposed:  65.08 acres outside of the RCA’s. 
 
Improved Recreation Areas 
A certain amount of the required Recreation and Open Space must be developed as active recreation amenities 
for the development. 
 
Required: At least 25% of the required recreation and open space shall be improved.  
  25% of 65.08 acres is 16.27 acres.   
 
Provided:  29.22 acres 
     
The acreage of proposed recreation and open space will be established as the minimum for the development 
and will be binding on the development of the property. The established minimums for both overall Recreation 
and Open Space as well as Active Recreation and Open Space cannot be reduced except by Town Council.  
 
Dedication of Recreation and Open Space to the Town 
Per §155.203(I)(2)(a), “all residential development shall be required to either dedicate a portion of the land, or 
make a payment-in-lieu of dedication at a rate set forth in the town’s Comprehensive List of Fees and Charges 
per lot or dwelling unit.” A mix of dedication and fee-in-lieu may be utilized. 
 
At this time, the Town and the developer are discussing the possible donation of Phase 7 (11.13 acres) for use as 
a public trailhead and park. 

Page 71 of 282



Page 8 of 14 
 

 
Greenways and Sidewalks 
The Master Plan proposes a series of interconnected greenways and sidewalks to provide multi-modal access 
throughout the development.  
 

- Sam’s Branch Greenway: The existing Sam’s Branch Greenway currently ends just to the east of the 
southeastern corner of the property, which planned extensions running along the southern boundary of 
the property along Sam’s Branch creek and further west.  
 
The Town is currently in the design phase for the extension of the existing Sam’s Branch Greenway west 
to the entrance to Legend Park (known as “Sam’s Branch Phase II”), an extension which traverses the 
south boundary proposed development. Sam’s Branch Phase II greenway also provides potential 
important connections to downtown Clayton via future connections from Legend Park to the downtown 
street networks. This phase of the greenway also provides access to Legend Park, which includes a 
softball field and mountain bike trails.  
 
Future extensions of the greenway just west of Legend Park will provide multi-modal access along City 
Road to the Municipal and Civitan Parks, as well as to the amenities of Downtown Clayton.  

 
The Sam’s Branch Greenway already connects to the Mountains to Sea Trail (aka “Neuse River 
Greenway”), an almost 30 mile uninterrupted greenway which connects into Raleigh’s greenway 
network, with future extensions planned. This section of the greenway in Clayton is also part of the 
designated East Coast Greenway network along the eastern coast of the United States. 

 
- Proposed Greenway/Sidewalk exchange 

Typically, sidewalks are required on both sides of all streets of new development (including along 
existing roadways). Staff supports the applicant’s proposal to waive the requirement for sidewalks on 
both sides of the road (reducing it to sidewalks on one side of the road) for identified portions of the 
development’s roadway network so long as a minimum 10 foot wide paved multi-use path / greenway is 
provided elsewhere in the development at an equal exchange based on construction costs. Staff 
supports this because while some accessibility is lost with the reduction in sidewalks, this accessibility is 
made up by the presence of a multi-use path which provides access to other portions of the 
development, and acts as a part of the Sam’s Branch Greenway Trail. Benefits to the applicant include 
the ability to use the calculated square footage of the paved pathway toward their improved/active 
recreation requirements and a reduced roadway cross-section width. 

 

Environmental  
As required in the UDC, resource conservation areas (including riparian buffers, ponds/waterways, 100-year 
flood zones, and steep slopes) shall be preserved by a binding legal instrument recorded with the deed as each 
phase is platted (see Article 5 of the UDC). Additionally, the development will be required to meet any state 
requirements for protection not addressed by the UDC. Riparian buffers that meet the definition of the UDC in 
Article 5 shall include a 50 foot undisturbed buffer, measured from the top of bank. 
 
According to the Master Plan, there are 111.19 acres of RCAs on the site, all of which shall remain undisturbed 
unless proper permits and approvals for disturbance are received from the State or Town, as applicable. 
 
 
 

Page 72 of 282



Page 9 of 14 
 

Signs 
A Master Sign Plan is required for all signage associated with the development. A typical entrance sign design is 
shown in the Master Plan. Entrance signs shall be required to meet or exceed the approved sign style set in the 
Master Plan. 
 

Access/Streets  
The primary development access point is located off of Covered Bridge Road, will provide access to the future 
clubhouse area on the southern portion of the site, and shall align with the existing Brook Hill Drive.  All external 
access shall be approved by either NCDOT or the Town as applicable.  
 
The applicant has provided a detailed Vehicular and Pedestrian Circulation Plan which is part of the Master Plan. 
The actual alignment of the internal road network as shown on the Plan is for visual reference only and is not 
binding; road alignment may vary as individual phases are approved so long as basic design components such as 
shorter block lengths and interconnectivity are maintained. However, external connection points and identified 
improvements to existing roads and intersections are binding and cannot be modified without major 
modification approval by the Town Council. 
 
Traffic Impact Analysis 
A Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) has been completed by the applicant and reviewed by NCDOT and the Town. The 
comments provided by NCDOT have been provided as an attachment to this staff report.  The applicant will have 
the opportunity to revise the TIA and address the traffic comments.  Ultimately, the traffic improvements 
deemed necessary by NCDOT and the Town shall be installed prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy 
for the phase that generates the need for the improvement. 
 
Required Access Points 
Per the UDC, no more than 75 certificates of occupancy may be issued within the subdivision until a required 
secondary access has been constructed or bonded for construction. No more than 250 certificates of occupancy 
may be issued within the subdivision until the required third access has been constructed or bonded for 
construction.  Access points to existing “stub-out” streets in existing subdivisions (Ole Mill Stream, Smith Ridge 
Estates) will be required to be constructed as part of the associated phase of development. 
 
Alternative Cross-Section 
An alternative cross-sections are proposed as part of this development. As discussed in the Recreation and Open 
Space component of this report, the cross-sections reflect the proposal to allow sidewalk on just one side of the 
street in identified roadways within the development.  
 
Several cross-sections propose a planting strip between the sidewalk and the road edge, thus placing the street 
trees in the public right-of-way. Staff supports the planting strip because of improved aesthetics and enhanced 
pedestrian safety when the sidewalk is further from the road and buffered by trees. 

 
Cross-sections on NCDOT roadways (City Road, Covered Bridge Road, and North O’Neil Street) will be ultimately 
approved by NCDOT. Staff will require a minimum 10 foot paved greenway along these roadways as shown on 
the Master Plan. 

 

Multi-Modal Access 
The location of the proposed greenways allow for the extension of Sam’s Branch Greenway to Downtown to 
Legend Park and Municipal Park.  
 

Page 73 of 282



Page 10 of 14 
 

Please see the “Alternative Cross-Section” discussion in the “Access/Streets” section of this report, as well as the 
“Greenways and Sidewalks” discussion within the “Recreation and Open Space” section of this report for more 
information on multi-modal access. 

 

Architecture/Design 
Mix of Housing Types 
While a range of housing types are included in the Master Plan, the exact mix and location of housing types is 
not intended to be finalized by this Master Plan. To ensure some mix of housing, a minimum of 10% of low, 
medium, and high density housing development is set by the Master Plan. Beyond this minimum, so long as a 
mix of housing types is included and the maximum number of units is not exceeded (mix to be chosen from the 
pre-established housing types in the Master Plan), the number of each type of housing may vary depending on 
market conditions, etc.  
 
Design 
Types of houses to be included in the development are noted on the regulating plan. A graphic architectural 
elevation of the building type is also included. The elevations are not intended as a set standard, but the final 
housing product will be required to be consistent with or exceed the style, quality, and materials shown in the 
graphics. It is required that architectural elevations of the housing types vary from home to home to ensure 
visual interest. 
 
Setbacks and other Dimensional Standards 
Dimensional standards (setbacks, building/house coverage, impervious limits) are set by the Master Plan and 
approved by the Town Council. 
 
A Note on Townhomes 
The UDC sets certain standards for townhome design if a garage is present. If the townhomes have garages, they 
will be required to meet Town of Clayton standards as addressed in Section 155.301(J) which sets standards 
such as garage width in relation to the home width. Driveway placement on each lot will also be required to 
meet the requirements of the UDC. Any requirements that pertain to townhome design will be addressed either 
through the final plat or site plan review process, as applicable. 
 
Commercial 
The commercial component will include architectural and contextual standards as indicated in the Master Plan 
and Regulating Plan.  The development will have an Architectural Review Committee who will review the 
commercial architecture.  Town Staff and Planning Board will also review the architecture and site layout as a 
part of a Major Site Plan approval. 

 

Waivers/Deviations/Variances from Code Requirements 
 
Per §155.706 of the UDC, the Town Council is authorized to waive certain requirements of §§ 155.600 through 
155.607 if it is clear that adequate provisions for the type and intensity of the proposed use has been or will be 
provided, and there are special circumstances, such as unique characteristics of the lot and area, or strict 
interpretation of the requirements render the subdivision of the property not feasible or desirable. The UDC 
states that waivers should meet the following criteria: 
 

1. The granting of the waiver will not be detrimental to the public safety, health, or welfare or injurious to 
other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; 

Page 74 of 282



Page 11 of 14 
 

2. The conditions upon which the request for a waiver is based are unique to the property for which the 
waiver is sought and are not generally applicable to other property; 

3. Because of the particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved, a particular hardship to the owner would result, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of this chapter are enforced; and 

4. The purpose of the waiver is not based primarily upon financial consideration. 

 
The following waivers have been requested by the applicant: 
 

1. Waiver from the Town-approved cross-sections. Revised street Cross-Sections have been requested, as 
shown in the Master Plan. 

2. Waiver from §155.602(H), which requires sidewalks on both sides of all streets. Allow construction of 10 
foot paved multi-use path / greenway on a linear foot-for-foot basis, in place of a fee-in-lieu.  

3. Waiver from §155.602(G) which states that “No residential street cul-de-sac serving lots less than 20,000 
square feet in size shall exceed 700 feet in length.” The request is to allow a cul-de-sacs with a length 
greater than 700 feet to serve lots less than 20,000 square feet in size with approval from the Town of 
Clayton Fire Marshal. 

 

 

CONSIDERATIONS 
 

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Master Plan for the Steeplechase Planned Development. The 
Master Plan also acts as the preliminary subdivision plat and so the approval process is quasi-judicial.   

 This approval is subject to approval of PDD 2014-127 (Rezoning to PD-MU).   

 The final decision is made by the Town Council with recommendation from the Planning Board. 

 The Planning Board did not make a recommendation at their January 26, 2015 meeting, and will open 
the item again at their February 23, 2015 meeting. 

 The applicant is requesting a wastewater allocation of 554,555 gallons per day phased in over time. The 
Wastewater Allocation must be approved by the Town Council. 

 

 

FINDINGS 
 
The applicant has addressed the Major Subdivision Approval Criteria outlined in UDC Section 155.706.  The 
applicant’s Findings of Fact are incorporated into the record as an attachment to the Staff Report. 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff is recommending: 

1) Approval of the requested waivers. 
2) Approval of the Wastewater Allocation request. 
3) Approval of the Master Plan with the conditions listed below. 

 

CONDITIONS: 
 

Page 75 of 282



Page 12 of 14 
 

1. Following Board approvals, three copies of the Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat meeting the 
requirements of the Conditions of Approval shall be submitted to Planning Department for final 
approval. 

2. The development of the property is limited to the parameters established on the Master Plan and the 
Master Plan Document (regulating plan) as approved by the Town Council. Modifications to the 
approved Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plan or Master Plan Document shall require review and 
approval in accordance with Section 155.705 of the Unified Development Code. 

3. The Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plan is considered a preliminary plat.  Individual phases are 
subject to final plat review with the exception that Condo/Apartment/Townhome areas that will not be 
further subdivided, and Commercial phases, shall be reviewed as a Major Site Plan.   

4. The developer shall reserve the portion of the site shown as a “potential school site” for 18 months from 
the date of the approval. If developed as a school, the development of the school site will be reviewed 
as a Major Site Plan. 

5. Neighborhood parks and recreational amenities, including the clubhouse site, shall be reviewed as 
Minor Site Plans prior to construction. 

6. The clubhouse and trail system around the pond shall be permitted and under construction prior to the 
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the 251st residential unit. 

7. A combination of dedication and fee-in-lieu may be utilized to meet recreation and open space 
requirements. To meet requirements, additional recreation area must be dedicated or a recreation fee-
in-lieu shall be required at the established rate to supplement the dedicated land (land considered 
Resource Conservation Areas does not count toward meeting recreation and open space requirements).  
 

8. Annexation of any land not currently within Town Limits shall be required prior to Final Plat approval for 
the first phase of the development. 

9. Development fees shall be paid prior to Final Plat approval for each phase. For phases requiring Site Plan 
review, fees shall be paid prior to issuance of building permits. 

10. All traffic improvements required by NCDOT and the Town shall be installed prior to the issuance of a 
certificate of occupancy for the phase (as shown on the overall phasing plan with the Master Plan 
Document/ Regulating Plan) that generates the need for the improvement.  The necessary right-of-way 
for Covered Bridge Road (internal to the project), North O’Neil Street, and City Road shall be dedicated 
as a part of the first phase (as indicated in the Traffic  Study Prepared by Davenport) of the 
development. The necessary right-of-way for Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road (north of its 

intersection with North O’Neil Street) shall be dedicated as a part of the second phase (as indicated in 
the Traffic Study Prepared by Davenport) of the development.  

11. All roof mounted and ground mechanical equipment not associated with single family detached 
residential development must be completely screened from view. 

12. Five foot wide sidewalks or ten foot wide multi-use paths shall be installed along at least one side of all 
roadways within the development as identified in the Master Plan. Where sidewalks are on only one 
side of the road, the developer shall provide a minimum ten-foot wide paved greenway/multi-use trails 

Page 76 of 282



Page 13 of 14 
 

within the development on an equivalent basis based on cost. An Engineer’s estimate which documents 
the cost allocations (in linear footage) between the deleted five foot concrete sidewalk and the 
proposed 10 foot asphalt multi-use path is required.   Any cost shortage between the required five foot 
sidewalk and 10 foot multi-use path shall be paid as a fee-in-lieu. 

13. All sidewalks and greenways shall be bonded or constructed prior to plat recordation for the associated 
phase, with the exception that the sidewalk in front of residential units may be installed prior to the 
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy of the unit.  

14. Internal greenways shall be constructed or bonded prior to the first Certificate of Occupancy for the 
associated phase.   

15. All greenways shall meet Town of Clayton standards with a minimum paved width of 10 feet.  

16. The acreage of recreation and open space, and active recreation areas identified in the Master Plan shall 
be considered minimum requirements and may not be reduced without approval by the Town Council. 
The recreation areas shall be constructed concurrent with the construction of the associated phase and 
shall be installed or bonded prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy for that phase. 

17. Where a greenway is placed in the same location as a required buffer, that buffer width shall be 
expanded by a minimum of 15 feet to accommodate the trail and required plantings. 

18. A 10’ greenway shall be constructed along one side of Covered Bridge Road and North O’Neil Street for 
the entire project frontage concurrent with necessary roadway improvements.  A greenway shall also be 
constructed along the project frontage adjacent to City Road concurrent with or prior to the 
construction of a phase which abuts City Road, and shall be installed or bonded prior to issuance of a 
Certificate of Occupancy for that phase.   

19. All required vegetated buffers and plantings, including street trees, shall be installed concurrently with 
construction of the associated phase of the development and shall be completely installed or bonded 
prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy for that phase. 

20. A mix of housing types shall be required at the minimum percentages set by the Master Plan and shall 
be selected from the list of housing type options presented in the Master Plan Document (regulating 
plan). In no case shall the overall project density exceed 4 units per acre.   

21. A mix of housing elevations (variations in architectural features), styles, and colors along each block is 
required to ensure visual interest and variety. Housing elevations shall be submitted along with each 
final plat review and shall be reviewed to ensure consistency with the architectural standards presented 
in the Master Plan and requirement this condition of approval. 

22. Final location and configuration of Cluster Mailbox Units (CBUs) shall be determined in the final plat/site 
plan review (as applicable) for each phase.  CBU’s are required to have vehicular access/parking, as well 
as sidewalk /pedestrian access and must be approved by the Planning Department and the United States 
Postal Service. 

23. No more than 75 certificates of occupancy may be issued within the subdivision until the required 
secondary access has been constructed or bonded for construction. 

Page 77 of 282



Page 14 of 14 
 

24. No more than 250 certificates of occupancy may be issued within the subdivision until the required third 
access has been constructed or bonded for construction. 

25. Street tree species shall be approved by the Town Engineer and Town Planning Director as part of 
individual phase final plat / major site plan review. 

26. A Master Sign Plan shall be required prior to installation or approval of any signage. All signs shall 
require review and approval pursuant to §155.713. 

27. Final design of individual elements identified within the Regulating Plan (such as typical lighting, 
recreation, or architectural elevations) may be modified during individual phase review without need to 
modify the Regulating Plan, but shall be approved by staff and shall respect (or exceed) the intent and 
vision of the original approval/design shown in the Regulating Plan, including but not limited to quality, 
style, and materials. Modifications that are determined by the Planning Director not to meet or exceed 
the original intent or do not classify as “minor” modifications per the Unified Development Code shall 
require major review and approval. 

28. The review and approval of project water, sewer, storm drainage and street construction drawings must 
be submitted to and approved by the Public Works Department. 

29. Resource Conservation Areas as defined in Article 5 of the Unified Development Code shall remain 
undisturbed pursuant to standards of Article 5, and shall be shown on all plats as being permanently set 
aside pursuant to the UDC requirements. 

30. Prior to site grading and construction activities, tree protection fencing shall be installed around all 
resource conservation areas. Once the tree protection fence is installed, it must be inspected by the 
Planning Department prior to construction activity. 

31. A homeowners’ association (HOA) document shall be reviewed by staff and recorded prior to final plat 
of the first residential phase. The HOA document shall assure responsibility for maintenance of all 
common facilities and provide adequate means for funding to do so. 

 

 
Planning Board Recommendation:  No recommendation at this time. The item was postponed for decision at a 
future meeting. 
 
 
Attachments:  

1. Subdivision Findings of Fact 
2. Zoning, Aerial, and Future Land Use Map 
3. Application 
4. Neighborhood Meeting Materials 
5. Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plan  
6. Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) executive summary (provided by applicant) 
7. NCDOT TIA Analysis Recommendations 
8. NCDOT TIA Analysis Recommendations followup letter 
9. Wastewater Allocation request 

Page 78 of 282



Page 79 of 282



R-E

R-E

R-10

R-10

R-E

R-E

R-E

R-8

R-8

R-E

R-10

R-E

PD-R

R-10

R-8

R-E

R-E

R-10

R-10

B-2

R-8
R-8 I-2

R-6 R-6

B-1

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 

O
'N

EI
L 

ST
 

COVERED BRIDGE RD 

BO
BB

IT
 R

D
 

SMITH DR 

C
LA

IR
E

 D
R

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

NE
US

E R
IV

ER

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

SteepleChase Planned Development
Rezoning to Planned Development - Mixed Use
and Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Galaxy NC, LLC c/o Wakefield Development
Property Owner: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP IRREV TRUST
Size: 631 acres
Parcel ID Number: 166900-38-4997
Tag #: 05H02009
File Number: PDD 2014-127 and PSD 2014-128

11/12/14
GUY RD 

S
H

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

 

MAIN ST  

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

NC 42 HWY E

C
IT

Y
 R

D
  

LOOP RD 

SMITH S
T  

RYANS LN 

RIDGE DR  

0 10.5 Miles

Vicinity Map

Existing Zoning

0 0.550.275
Miles

±

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 

O
'N

EI
L 

ST
 

COVERED BRIDGE RD  BO
BB

IT
 R

D
 

SMITH DR 

C
LA

IR
E

 D
R SARAZEN DR  

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

LA
KE

 D
R 

NE
US

E R
IV

ER

Proposed Zoning (PDD 2014-127)

PD-MU

PD-MU

PD-MU

Legend
SteepleChase_Site

Water Features

ZONING
R-E

R-10

R-8

R-6

PD-R

O-R

B-1

B-2

B-3

PD-C

I-1

I-2

O-I

PD-MU

Special Use District

Page 80 of 282



COVERED BRIDGE RD  

SH
O

TW
EL

L 
R

D

C
IT

Y
 R

D
 

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

LOOP RD 

BO
BB

IT
 R

D

SMITH DR 

OLD US 70 HWY W

MAIN ST  

T R DR

PEARSON PL  

PE
RC

Y 
DR

 
MAYLON LN 

HAYWOOD LN

KATIE DR 

DEBBAR DR  

LA
KE

 D
R 

NEUSE RIVER

Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

SteepleChase Planned Development
Rezoning to Planned Development - Mixed Use
and Master Plan / Preliminary Subdivision Plat approval

Produced by: TOC Planning

Applicant: Galaxy NC, LLC c/o Wakefield Development
Property Owner: RAYMOND ELMORE EARP IRREV TRUST
Size: 631 acres
Parcel ID Number: 166900-38-4997
Tag #: 05H02009
File Number: PDD 2014-127 and PSD 2014-128

11/12/14
GUY RD 

S
H

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

 

MAIN ST  

O
'N

E
IL

 S
T 

NC 42 HWY E

C
IT

Y
 R

D
  

LOOP RD 

SMITH S
T  

RYANS LN 

RIDGE DR  

0 10.5 Miles

Vicinity Map

Aerial Map

0 0.550.275
Miles

Legend
SteepleChase_Site

Water Features ±
Page 81 of 282



Disclaimer: Town of Clayton assumes no legal
responsibility for the information represented here.

Proposed Land Use Map (Source: 2008 Strategic Growth Plan)
Steeplechase Planned Development Rezoning to PD-MU

Produced by: TOC Planning
01/26/2015 O'NEIL ST SH

O
TW

E
LL

 R
D

C
IT

Y
 R

D
 

MAIN ST  0 0.50.25 Miles

O'NEIL ST 

C
IT

Y 
R

D
 COVERED BRIDGE RD  

SH
O

TW
E

LL
 R

D

LOOP RD 

MAIN ST  

BROOKHILL D
R  

SMITH DR 

OLD US 70 HWY W
BO

BB
IT

 R
D

 

STALLINGS ST  

T R DR

FOREST DR

OAKDALE AVE 

R
ID

G
E 

C
T

MAYLON LN
KATIE DR  

PINELAND AVE 

LA
KE

 D
R 

PA
R

K
D

A
LE LN

SUMMIT S
T  

±

Vicinity Map

Proposed Land Use Map (Source: 2008 Strategic Growth Plan)

0 ½¼
Miles

Legend
Steeplechase Site

PROPOSED LAND USE
CBD
COMMERCIAL
INDUSTRIAL
MULTI-FAMILY
NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL
OFFICE INSTITUTIONAL
OPEN SPACE CONSERVATION
PUBLIC
RESIDENTIAL-INFILL
RESIDENTIAL-LIGHT
RESIDENTIAL-MEDIUM
SMALL AREA PLAN

Applicant: Wake Development
Property Owners: Earps
Parcel ID Numbers: 
File Number: PDD 2014-127

Document Path: O:\PLANNING\SUBDIVISIONS\MAJOR SUBDIVISIONS\2014\PSD 2014-128 SteepleChase Planned Development - master plan, preliminary plat\Maps\Staff Presentation Map - PSD2014-128 - FLUM.mxd

Page 82 of 282



Page 83 of 282



Page 84 of 282



Page 85 of 282



Page 86 of 282



Page 87 of 282



Page 88 of 282



Page 89 of 282



Page 90 of 282



Page 91 of 282



Page 92 of 282



Page 93 of 282



Page 94 of 282



Page 95 of 282



Page 96 of 282



Page 97 of 282



Page 98 of 282



27__

Page 99 of 282



Page 100 of 282



S
T

E
E

P
L

E
C

H
A

S
E

P
la

nn
ed

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t  
/ M

as
te

r 
P

la
n 

D
oc

um
en

t

Pr
ep

ar
ed

 fo
r T

ow
n 

of
  C

la
yt

on
Fe

br
ua

ry
 2

3,
 2

01
5

Page 101 of 282



ii

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

C
on

te
nt

s N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Fo

rm
 - 

La
nd

 U
se

 S
um

m
ar

y .
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.1

Pu
bl

ic
 R

ea
lm

 - 
Ve

hi
cu

la
r a

nd
 P

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
Pl

an
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
2

St
re

et
 S

ec
tio

ns
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.3

Ph
as

in
g 

Pl
an

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
4

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

5

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

6

D
et

ac
he

d 
H

om
es

 - 
Si

ng
le

 F
am

ily
 ...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
7

A
tt

ac
he

d 
H

om
es

 - 
To

w
nh

om
es

 &
 S

in
gl

e 
Fa

m
ily

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

..8

M
ul

ti-
Fa

m
ily

 - 
Co

nd
o 

/ A
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.9

A
m

en
ity

 a
nd

 C
lu

b 
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
..1

0

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

 A
re

a 
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

.1
1

U
til

iti
es

 a
nd

 S
to

rm
w

at
er

 M
an

ag
em

en
t .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
12

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 ...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.1

3

Ph
as

in
g .

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
...

...
.1

3

Page 102 of 282



1

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
Fo

rm
 - 

La
nd

 U
se

 S
um

m
ar

y

Th
e 

pl
an

 f
or

 S
te

ep
le

ch
as

e 
pr

om
ot

es
 a

 n
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
fo

rm
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
by

 a
 r

el
ax

ed
 

gr
id

 d
efi

 n
ed

 la
rg

el
y 

by
 th

e 
ex

is
tin

g 
R.

 E
. E

ar
p 

Po
nd

 a
nd

 th
e 

ex
is

tin
g 

ro
ad

 n
et

w
or

k.
 T

hi
s 

pa
tt

er
n 

es
ta

bl
is

he
s 

a 
hi

er
ar

ch
y 

of
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

st
re

et
s 

an
d 

si
de

w
al

ks
 w

hi
ch

 s
up

po
rt

 
a 

pe
de

st
ria

n 
fr

ie
nd

ly
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t 
ad

ap
te

d 
to

 t
he

 la
nd

 f
or

m
. T

he
 h

ea
rt

 o
f 

th
is

 s
tr

ee
t 

ne
tw

or
k 

is
 t

he
 p

ro
po

se
d 

am
en

ity
 a

re
a 

on
 t

he
 n

or
th

 s
ho

re
 o

f 
th

e 
R.

 E
. E

ar
p 

po
nd

 a
nd

 
th

e 
po

nd
 it

se
lf 

w
hi

ch
 s

er
ve

s 
as

 t
he

 fo
ca

l p
oi

nt
 o

f a
ct

iv
ity

. M
or

e 
th

an
 t

w
o 

th
ird

s 
of

 t
he

 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
w

ith
in

 a
 1

0 
m

in
ut

e 
w

al
k 

of
 t

hi
s 

am
en

ity
. O

th
er

 in
te

rc
on

ne
ct

ed
 

co
lle

ct
or

 s
tr

ee
ts

, l
oc

al
 s

tr
ee

ts
 a

nd
 a

lle
ys

 c
om

pl
et

e 
th

e 
re

la
xe

d 
gr

id
 o

f w
al

ka
bl

e 
bl

oc
ks

 
w

hi
ch

 c
on

ne
ct

 th
e 

re
si

de
nc

es
, p

ar
ks

 a
nd

 o
pe

n 
sp

ac
es

.

Th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 m

ix
tu

re
 o

f 
re

si
de

nt
ia

l t
yp

es
 s

uc
h 

as
 d

et
ac

he
d 

si
ng

le
 

fa
m

ily
, 

at
ta

ch
ed

 h
ou

si
ng

 a
nd

 m
ul

ti-
fa

m
ily

 a
s 

w
el

l 
as

 a
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

re
ta

il 
ar

ea
. 

Pr
om

in
en

t 
si

te
s 

ar
e 

pl
an

ne
d 

fo
r 

re
si

de
nt

 u
se

s,
 p

ar
ks

, 
an

d 
op

en
 s

pa
ce

s.
 T

he
 d

es
ig

n 
gu

id
el

in
es

 a
re

 w
rit

te
n 

in
 a

 m
an

ne
r 

th
at

 w
ill

 p
ro

m
ot

e 
st

ro
ng

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

co
rr

id
or

s 
th

at
 

ar
e 

re
in

fo
rc

in
g 

a 
“s

en
se

 o
f p

la
ce

”. 
Fr

on
t 

po
rc

he
s,

 s
tr

ee
t 

tr
ee

s 
si

de
w

al
ks

, s
tr

ee
t 

fu
rn

itu
re

 
in

 p
ub

lic
 s

pa
ce

s,
 a

nd
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
cr

os
si

ng
s 

co
m

bi
ne

 t
o 

fo
rm

 a
 “

pe
de

st
ria

n 
zo

ne
” 

th
at

 
pr

om
ot

es
 in

te
rn

al
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
ac

tiv
ity

. 

LA
N

D
 U

SE
 A

LL
O

C
AT

IO
N

S 
St

ee
pl

ec
ha

se
 is

 p
la

nn
ed

 to
 in

cl
ud

e 
a 

m
ix

 o
f r

es
id

en
tia

l, 
ne

ig
hb

or
ho

od
 re

ta
il,

 c
om

m
un

ity
 

us
es

, p
ar

ks
 a

nd
 o

pe
n 

sp
ac

e 
on

 6
31

.0
6 

ac
re

s.
 T

he
 la

nd
 u

se
 d

en
si

ty
 fo

r t
hi

s 
pr

oj
ec

t i
s 

no
t 

to
 e

xc
ee

d 
2,

20
0 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l u

ni
ts

 o
r 3

.4
8 

D
U

/A
C 

ba
se

d 
on

 g
ro

ss
 a

cr
ea

ge
. T

he
 ta

bl
e 

be
lo

w
 

ill
us

tr
at

es
 th

e 
al

lo
ca

tio
n 

of
 e

ac
h 

la
nd

 u
se

. 

U
SE

A
CR

ES
%

 L
A

N
D

 A
RE

A

RC
A’

s 
(R

ip
ar

ia
n 

Bu
ffe

rs
, F

lo
od

 P
la

in
, P

on
d)

+/
- 1

11
.1

9
+/

- 1
7.

62
%

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e
+/

-  
65

.0
8

+/
- 1

0.
31

%

Re
si

de
nt

ia
l u

se
s

+/
- 4

44
.8

8
+/

- 7
0.

50
%

N
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d 
re

ta
il

+/
- 9

.9
1

+/
- 1

.5
7%

To
ta

l
63

1.
06

10
0%

SI
N

G
LE

 F
A

M
IL

Y
RE

SI
D

EN
TI

A
L 

M
IN

IM
U

M
 %

LO
T 

W
ID

TH
M

IN
IM

U
M

 S
F

%
 M

IN
IM

U
M

 
O

F 
U

N
IT

S

Sm
al

l L
ot

 S
in

gl
e 

Fa
m

ily
40

’ a
nd

 5
0’

45
00

10
%

M
ed

iu
m

 L
ot

 S
in

gl
e 

Fa
m

ily
50

’ a
nd

 6
0’

50
00

10
%

La
rg

e 
Lo

t S
in

gl
e 

Fa
m

ily
60

’ a
nd

 g
re

at
er

60
00

10
%

To
w

nh
om

e
16

’
10

00
10

%

Co
nd

o
N

/A
N

/A
0%

A
pa

rt
m

en
ts

N
/A

N
/A

0%

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

50
60

00
N

/A

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

1
PO

TE
NT

IA
L S

CH
OO

L S
IT

E
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 40
0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

Page 103 of 282



2

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

Pu
bl

ic
 R

ea
lm

 - 
Ve

hi
cu

la
r a

nd
 P

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
Pl

an

Th
e 

pu
bl

ic
 re

al
m

 is
 th

e 
zo

ne
 d

efi
 n

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
st

re
et

sc
ap

e 
an

d 
th

e 
bu

ild
in

gs
 o

r o
pe

n 
sp

ac
es

 
th

at
 d

efi
 n

e 
th

e 
ed

ge
s.

 T
hi

s 
zo

ne
 w

ill
 b

e 
an

 im
po

rt
an

t e
le

m
en

t o
f t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t a

nd
 

is
 th

e 
pr

im
ar

y 
sp

ac
e 

fo
r p

ed
es

tr
ia

ns
 in

te
ra

ct
in

g 
w

ith
 n

ei
gh

bo
rs

. A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

e,
 la

nd
sc

ap
e 

m
at

er
ia

l, 
w

al
ks

 a
nd

 s
id

ew
al

ks
 a

ll 
co

m
bi

ne
 to

 c
re

at
e 

a 
un

iq
ue

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e 

di
ff e

re
nt

ia
tin

g 
on

e 
st

re
et

 f
ro

m
 a

no
th

er
. 

D
iff 

er
en

tia
tio

n 
in

 t
hi

s 
m

an
ne

r 
is

 s
yn

on
ym

ou
s 

w
ith

 p
la

ce
 

m
ak

in
g.

 

ST
RE

ET
S

Th
e 

st
re

et
s 

pr
op

os
ed

 
fo

r 
St

ee
pl

ec
ha

se
 

ar
e 

de
si

gn
ed

 
to

 
pr

ov
id

e 
th

e 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y 

em
er

ge
nc

y 
an

d 
se

rv
ic

e 
ve

hi
cl

e 
ac

ce
ss

 w
hi

le
 c

re
at

in
g 

a 
sa

fe
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
fr

ie
nd

ly
 

ne
ig

hb
or

ho
od

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t. 

Th
e 

pa
tt

er
n 

of
 in

te
rc

on
ne

ct
ed

 s
tr

ee
ts

 p
ro

vi
de

s 
a 

hi
er

ar
ch

y 
of

 in
te

rc
on

ne
ct

ed
 s

tr
ee

ts
 p

ro
vi

de
s 

op
tio

ns
 e

na
bl

in
g 

tr
affi

  c
 t

o 
di

sp
er

se
 t

hr
ou

gh
ou

t 
th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

. T
ra

ffi  
c 

ca
lm

in
g 

is
 a

ch
ie

ve
d 

th
ro

ug
h 

bl
oc

k 
de

si
gn

, s
tr

ee
t s

ec
tio

n 
w

id
th

s 
an

d 
st

re
et

sc
ap

e 
de

si
gn

. A
ll 

To
w

n 
of

 C
la

yt
on

 s
ta

nd
ar

ds
 a

nd
 t

he
 p

ro
po

se
d 

al
te

rn
at

e 
st

re
et

 
se

ct
io

ns
 a

re
 d

es
ig

ne
d 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 fo

r s
tr

ee
t t

re
e 

pl
an

tin
gs

 a
nd

 p
ub

lic
 u

til
iti

es
 in

 a
 m

an
ne

r 
th

at
 a

vo
id

s 
co

nfl
 ic

t. 
A

lte
rn

at
e 

st
re

et
 s

ec
tio

n 
w

ai
ve

r r
eq

ue
st

s 
ar

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
pl

an
s 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g 
th

is
 s

ub
m

itt
al

 (
se

e 
pa

ge
 3

). 
In

 a
ll 

st
re

et
 s

ec
tio

ns
, 

st
an

da
rd

 c
ur

b 
an

d 
gu

tt
er

 c
an

 b
e 

in
te

rc
ha

ng
ed

 w
ith

 T
ow

n 
of

 C
la

yt
on

 s
ta

nd
ar

d 
va

lle
y 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 g
ut

te
r 

or
 

ro
lle

d 
cu

rb
 a

nd
 g

ut
te

r. 

SI
D

EW
A

LK
S 

A
N

D
 S

TR
EE

T 
YA

RD
S

St
ee

pl
ec

ha
se

 w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 p
ub

lic
 s

id
ew

al
k 

on
 a

t l
ea

st
 o

ne
 s

id
e 

of
 th

e 
st

re
et

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t t

o 
pr

om
ot

e 
a 

pe
de

st
ria

n 
fr

ie
nd

ly
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t. 
Th

e 
“P

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
Zo

ne
” 

is
 c

om
pr

is
ed

 o
f t

re
e 

pl
an

te
r s

tr
ip

s,
 s

id
ew

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

co
ur

ts
. I

t e
xt

en
ds

 fr
om

 th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f c

ur
b 

to
 th

e 
ou

te
r e

dg
e 

of
 th

e 
si

de
w

al
k 

or
 o

pe
n 

sp
ac

e.
 S

te
ep

le
ch

as
e 

is
 p

ro
po

si
ng

 
pl

an
te

r s
tr

ip
s t

hr
ou

gh
ou

t t
he

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
n 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l s

tr
ee

ts
. B

ui
ld

in
g 

se
tb

ac
ks

 a
nd

 
th

e 
st

re
et

 y
ar

d 
be

tw
ee

n 
bu

ild
in

g 
fa

ca
de

s 
an

d 
th

e 
ba

ck
 o

f 
cu

rb
 v

ar
y 

am
on

g 
bu

ild
in

g 
ty

pe
s 

as
 n

ot
ed

 in
 th

is
 d

oc
um

en
t.

Th
e 

in
te

rn
al

 s
tr

ee
t 

sy
st

em
 a

s 
de

pi
ct

ed
 i

s 
co

nc
ep

tu
al

 o
nl

y 
to

 s
ho

w
 g

en
er

al
 d

es
ig

n 
an

d 
co

nn
ec

tiv
ity

, a
nd

 t
ha

t 
ac

tu
al

 a
lig

nm
en

t 
m

ay
 c

ha
ng

e 
du

rin
g 

fi n
al

 p
la

t 
de

si
gn

. T
he

 
ex

ce
pt

io
n 

is
 m

od
ifi 

ca
tio

n 
of

 c
on

ne
ct

io
n 

po
in

ts
 to

 e
xt

er
na

l r
oa

dw
ay

 n
et

w
or

ks
 a

nd
 m

aj
or

 
en

tr
an

ce
s 

to
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t, 

w
hi

ch
 c

on
st

itu
te

 a
 m

aj
or

 m
od

ifi 
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

m
us

t 
be

 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
To

w
n 

Co
un

ci
l.

*

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

*3

CL
UB

HO
US

E

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
 T

O
PR

IV
AT

E
PA

RK
IN

G 
AR

EA

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
TO

 P
RI

VA
TE

ST
RE

ET

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
 T

O
PR

IV
AT

E
PA

RK
IN

G 
AR

EA

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D TR
AI

L H
EA

D
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH

GR
EE

NW
AY

TR
AI

L (
TO

 M
TS

T)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
 -

PH
AS

E 
II -

 C
ON

NE
CT

TO
 M

TS
T

OL
D 

RO
AD

 A
LIG

NM
EN

T.
PO

SS
IB

LE
 R

EU
SE

 A
S

PR
IV

AT
E 

RO
AD

PR
OP

OS
ED

RE
AL

IG
NM

EN
T

BY
 N

CD
OT

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
OA

D 
RE

AL
IG

NM
EN

T
BY

 D
EV

EL
OP

ER

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
OL

LE
CT

OR
 S

TR
EE

T
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T 

(N
CD

OT
)

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D 

(N
CD

OT
)

BR
OO

KH
ILL

 D
RI

VE
 (E

XI
ST

IN
G 

NC
DO

T)

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
OV

ER
ED

 B
RI

DG
E 

RO
AD

 (N
CD

OT
)

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L S

TR
EE

T 
(P

UB
LIC

)

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L C

OL
LE

CT
OR

 S
TR

EE
T 

(P
UB

LIC
)

LE
GE

ND
:

EX
IS

TI
NG

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
•

CL
AY

TO
N 

RI
VE

R 
W

AL
K

•
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
 B

RA
NC

H 
- P

HA
SE

 II
BY

 O
TH

ER
S

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L S

TR
EE

T 
(P

RI
VA

TE
)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
UB

LIC
 10

' M
UL

TI
-P

UP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L

•
CO

VE
RE

D 
BR

ID
GE

 R
OA

D
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D

•
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RI

VA
TE

LY
 M

AI
NT

AI
NE

D
GR

EE
NW

AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
OA

D 
RE

AL
IG

NM
EN

T
BY

 N
CD

OT

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L M

AI
N 

EN
TR

AN
CE

EA
RP

 P
ON

D 
RO

AD
 C

OL
LE

CT
OR

Page 104 of 282



3

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

CENTER LINE60
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-B

15
.5'

ROW

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

10
' M

UL
TI

 P
AT

H
RE

FE
R 

TO
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
DT

L #
 2 4

01
.03

5'

BUILDING FACE

GREENWAY EASEMENT

5.5
'

GR
EE

NW
AY

EA
SE

ME
NT

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

5'

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

CENTER LINE54
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-E

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

15
.5'

6.5
'

POND SIDE ROW

ROW

2.5
'

DI
TC

H

CENTER LINE

10
' M

UL
TI

 P
AT

H
RE

FE
R 

TO
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
DT

L #
 2 4

01
.03

6' 
MI

NI
MU

M
3:1

 M
AX

 C
UT

OR
 F

ILL

UTILITY EASEMENT2'

UTILITY EASEMENT2'

CO
MM

ON
 A

RE
A

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

GREENWAY EASEMENT

5'

VA
RI

AB
LE

 W
ID

TH
GR

EE
NW

AY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

CENTER LINE51
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-B

15
.5'

ROW

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

5'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

5'

CENTER LINE70
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

12
'

TR
AV

EL
 W

AY
45

' E
-E

ROW

10
.5'

PA
RA

LL
EL

 P
AR

KI
NG

ROW

12
'

TR
AV

EL
 W

AY
6.5

'
6.5

'
10

.5'
PA

RA
LL

EL
 P

AR
KI

NG
6'

SI
DE

W
AL

K

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

UTILITY EASEMENT

6'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

CENTER LINE60
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

10
'

20
' E

-E

10
'

ROW

ROW

DI
TC

H
DI

TC
H 20
'

20
'

5'
SH

OU
LD

ER
5'

SH
OU

LD
ER

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

6.5
' M

IN
IM

UM

UTILITY EASEMENT

UTILITY EASEMENT

2'
2'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

SETBACK

82
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

ROW

17
'

18
' B

-B
6.5

'

1'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

3:1
 M

AX
 C

UT
OR

 F
ILL

2.5
'

CENTER LINE

UTILITY EASEMENT

2'
2'

ROW

18
' B

-B
6.5

'

1'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

2.5
'

UTILITY EASEMENT

3:1
 M

AX
 C

UT
OR

 F
ILL

CENTER LINE50
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

13
.5'

27
' B

-B

2'
5'

SI
DE

W
AL

K
13

.5'
6.5

'

ROW

2.5
'

UTILITY EASEMENT2'
2'

2.5
'

2'
5'

SI
DE

W
AL

K
6.5

'

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

CENTER LINE20
'

EA
SE

ME
NT

 O
R 

CO
MM

ON
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y

8'
8'

16
' E

-E

1
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

 (N
CD

OT
)

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS
2

EA
RP

 P
ON

D 
RO

AD
 C

OL
LE

CT
OR

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS

3
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L C
OL

LE
CT

OR
 S

TR
EE

T
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

6
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

I"
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

NO
TE

S:

1.
IN

 A
LL

 S
TR

EE
T 

SE
CT

IO
NS

, S
TA

ND
AR

D 
CU

RB
 A

ND
 G

UT
TE

R 
CA

N 
BE

 IN
TE

RC
HA

NG
ED

 W
IT

H 
TO

W
N 

OF
CL

AY
TO

N 
ST

AN
DA

RD
 V

AL
LE

Y 
CU

RB
 A

ND
 G

UT
TE

R 
OR

 R
OL

LE
D 

CU
RB

 A
ND

 G
UT

TE
R.

2.
TH

E 
UL

TI
MA

TE
 S

EC
TI

ON
 F

OR
 A

LL
 N

CD
OT

 R
OA

DS
 O

N 
TH

E 
PE

RI
ME

TE
R 

OF
 T

HE
 P

RO
JE

CT
 W

ILL
 B

E
DE

TE
RM

IN
ED

 B
AS

ED
 O

N 
TI

A,
 N

CD
OT

, A
ND

 T
OW

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

 R
EC

OM
ME

ND
AT

IO
NS

.

3.
DE

VE
LO

PE
R 

TO
 P

RO
VI

DE
 10

' M
UL

TI
PU

RP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L I

N 
LIE

U 
OF

 S
ID

EW
AL

KS
 O

N 
CI

TY
 R

OA
D 

AN
D 

N.
ON

EI
L S

TR
EE

T

5
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

" -
 LO

W
 D

EN
SI

TY
 O

PT
IO

N
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

4
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L M
AI

N 
EN

TR
AN

CE
 A

LT
ER

NA
TE

 "C
"

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS

7
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

II"
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

8
AL

LE
Y

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS
9

NO
TE

S
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

ST
RE

ET
 T

RE
ES

 N
OT

ES
:

1.
ST

RE
ET

 T
RE

ES
 M

US
T 

BE
 P

LA
CE

D 
A 

MA
XI

MU
M 

OF
 40

 F
EE

T 
ON

 C
EN

TE
R 

OR
 50

 F
EE

T 
AP

AR
T.

2.
AL

L S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
W

ILL
 B

E 
CA

NO
PY

 T
RE

ES
 (A

S 
IS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D 
BY

 T
HE

 C
OD

E)
.

Page 105 of 282



4

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

FLOODWAY

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

19

22
2528

33

2

7

1

3

9

13

4

5

11

10

12

6

14

8

17
21

16

23

20

24
26

27

31
29

30

34

32 FU
TU

RE

35

15

18

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 be

lo
w.

PH
AS

IN
G 

PL
AN

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

NO
TE

S:

TH
E 

CL
UB

HO
US

E 
PE

RM
IT

 S
HA

LL
 B

E
RE

QU
IR

ED
 P

RI
OR

 T
O 

TH
E 

25
1S

T
BU

ILD
IN

G 
PE

RM
IT

.

Page 106 of 282



5

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e

Th
e 

pl
an

 f
or

 S
te

ep
le

ch
as

e 
cr

ea
te

s 
a 

ne
tw

or
k 

of
 c

om
m

un
ity

 p
ar

ks
, 

po
ck

et
 p

ar
ks

, 
gr

ee
nw

ay
s,

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

m
ew

s,
 t

ra
ils

 a
nd

 s
id

ew
al

ks
. 

Th
e 

ex
is

tin
g 

R.
 E

. 
Ea

rp
 p

on
d 

is
 

pl
an

ne
d 

to
 r

em
ai

n 
an

d 
se

rv
e 

as
 a

 f
oc

al
 p

oi
nt

 f
or

 t
he

 m
ai

n 
am

en
ity

 c
am

pu
s.

 A
 m

ul
ti-

pu
rp

os
e 

tr
ai

l i
s 

pl
an

ne
d 

ar
ou

nd
 t

he
 p

on
d 

th
at

 w
ill

 c
on

ne
ct

 t
o 

th
e 

fu
tu

re
 S

am
’s 

Br
an

ch
 

G
re

en
w

ay
 e

xt
en

si
on

. T
he

 S
am

’s 
Br

an
ch

 G
re

en
w

ay
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 t
er

m
in

at
es

 a
t 

O
’N

ei
l S

tr
ee

t 
an

d 
co

nn
ec

ts
 to

 th
e 

M
ou

nt
ai

ns
 T

o 
Se

a 
Tr

ai
l a

lo
ng

 th
e 

N
eu

se
 R

iv
er

.

Th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

a 
co

m
bi

na
tio

n 
of

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

m
ew

s,
 s

m
al

l 
pa

rk
s 

an
d 

op
en

 s
pa

ce
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 s
o 

th
at

 a
ll 

re
si

de
nc

es
 a

re
 w

ith
in

 1
/8

 o
f a

 m
ile

 o
f a

 u
se

ab
le

 
op

en
 s

pa
ce

. A
cc

es
s 

to
 w

al
ks

 a
nd

 tr
ai

ls
 w

ill
 p

ro
vi

de
 re

si
de

nt
s 

al
te

rn
at

iv
e 

m
od

es
  o

f t
ra

ve
l 

w
ith

in
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

A
pp

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

tw
o-

th
ird

s 
of

 t
he

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
w

ith
in

 
a 

10
 m

in
ut

e 
w

al
k 

of
 t

he
 a

m
en

ity
 f

ea
tu

re
s 

at
 R

. E
. E

ar
p 

Po
nd

. O
th

er
 o

pe
n 

sp
ac

e 
ar

ea
s 

in
cl

ud
e 

Re
so

ur
ce

 C
on

se
rv

at
io

n 
A

re
as

 s
uc

h 
as

 ri
pa

ria
n 

bu
ff e

rs
 a

dj
ac

en
t t

o 
dr

ai
na

ge
 w

ay
s 

an
d 

st
re

am
s 

an
d 

co
ns

id
er

ab
le

 lo
w

la
nd

 o
n 

th
e 

ea
st

 b
an

k 
of

 t
he

 N
eu

se
 R

iv
er

 a
nd

 t
o 

th
e 

so
ut

h 
al

on
g 

Sa
m

’s 
Br

an
ch

.

O
PE

N
 S

PA
CE

 R
EQ

U
IR

EM
EN

TS
 

St
ee

pl
ec

ha
se

 i
s 

pl
an

ne
d 

to
 i

nc
lu

de
 a

 m
ix

 o
f 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l, 

co
m

m
un

ity
 u

se
s,

 p
ar

ks
 a

nd
 

op
en

 s
pa

ce
 o

n 
63

1 
ac

re
s.

 T
he

 r
ec

re
at

io
n 

op
en

 s
pa

ce
 is

 c
al

cu
la

te
d 

us
in

g 
th

e 
ne

t 
la

nd
 

ar
ea

 a
ft

er
 s

ub
tr

ac
tin

g 
th

e 
Re

so
ur

ce
 C

on
se

rv
at

io
n 

A
re

as
 (R

CA
’s)

. R
CA

’s 
ar

e 
ar

ea
s 

in
 fl 

oo
d 

pl
ai

ns
, p

on
ds

, r
ip

ar
ia

n 
bu

ff e
rs

, w
et

la
nd

s,
 e

tc
. T

he
 n

et
 la

nd
 a

re
a 

af
te

r s
ub

tr
ac

tin
g 

th
e 

+
/-

 
11

1.
19

 a
cr

es
 o

f R
CA

’s 
is

 5
19

.8
7 

ac
re

s.
 B

as
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

ne
t a

cr
ea

ge
 o

f 5
19

.8
7 

ac
re

s 
a 

to
ta

l o
f 

64
.9

8a
cr

es
 o

f r
ec

re
at

io
n 

op
en

 s
pa

ce
 is

 re
qu

ire
d.

PE
RI

M
ET

ER
 L

AN
D

SC
AP

E 
BU

FF
ER

: C
LA

SS
 C

 (t
yp

ic
al

)  

RE
Q

U
IR

ED
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

N
 &

 O
PE

N
 S

PA
CE

51
9.

87
 A

C 
x 

12
.5

%
 =

 6
4.

98
 A

C

RE
Q

U
IR

ED
 A

C
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

N
 S

PA
CE

64
.9

8 
ac

 x
 2

5%
 =

 1
6.

24
5 

AC

RE
Q

U
IR

ED
 C

O
N

SE
RV

AT
IO

N
 A

RE
A

S
A

CR
ES

%
 L

A
N

D
 A

RE
A

 (G
RO

SS
)

Fl
oo

d 
Pl

ai
n

+/
- 5

3.
78

+/
- 1

0.
34

%

Ri
pa

ria
n 

Bu
ffe

rs
+/

- 4
1.

03
+/

- 7
.8

9%

Po
nd

+/
- 1

6.
38

+/
- 3

.1
5%

To
ta

l R
eq

ui
re

d 
Co

ns
er

va
tio

n 
A

re
as

+/
- 1

11
.1

9
+/

- 2
1.

39
%

O
PE

N
 S

PA
CE

 P
RO

VI
D

ED

Ac
tiv

e 
Re

cr
ea

tio
n 

Sp
ac

e
+/

- 2
9.

22
+/

- 4
.6

3%

Pa
ss

iv
e 

O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e

+/
- 2

9.
83

+/
- 4

.7
3%

Ph
as

e 
7

+/
- 6

.0
3

+/
- 0

.9
6%

To
ta

l O
pe

n 
Sp

ac
e 

Pr
ov

id
ed

+/
- 6

5.
08

+/
- 1

0.
31

%

LI
N

EA
R 

FO
O

TA
G

E 
- G

RE
EN

W
AY

S 
/ M

U
LT

I-P
U

RP
O

SE
 T

RA
IL

S

Pu
bl

ic
+/

- 1
2,

70
0 

LF
 (1

27
,0

00
 S

F 
/ 2

.9
1 

AC
)

Pr
iv

at
e

+/
- 1

3,
40

0 
LF

 (1
34

,0
00

 S
F 

/ 3
.0

7 
AC

)

A
C

TI
VE

 R
EC

RE
AT

IO
N

 S
PA

CE
 B

RE
A

KD
O

W
N

Cl
ub

ho
us

e
7.

02
 A

C
G

re
en

w
ay

3.
07

 A
C

Pa
rk

s
19

.1
3 

AC

TR
AI

L H
EA

D
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH

GR
EE

NW
AY

TR
AI

L (
TO

 M
TS

T)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
BY

 O
TH

ER
S 

- P
HA

SE
 II

- C
ON

NE
CT

 T
O 

MT
ST

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

TO
T

TO
T

TO
T

PO
CK

ET

PO
CK

ET

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

AS
SE

DA
LE

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

OP
EN

PL
AY

FI
EL

DS

*

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y+/
- 4

00
'

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
 B

RA
NC

H 
GR

EE
NW

AY
 - 

PH
AS

E 
II

BY
 O

TH
ER

S

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
UB

LIC
 10

' M
UL

TI
-P

UP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L

•
CO

VE
RE

D 
BR

ID
GE

 R
OA

D
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D

•
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

EX
IS

TI
NG

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
•

CL
AY

TO
N 

RI
VE

R 
W

AL
K

•
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RI

VA
TE

 G
RE

EN
W

AY

DO
UB

LE
 S

ID
EW

AL
K

SI
DE

W
AL

K 
AN

D 
GR

EE
NW

AY

Page 107 of 282



6

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

EN
TR

Y 
FE

AT
U

RE
 / 

RO
U

N
D

A
B

O
U

T 
(T

YP
IC

A
L)

D
ES

IG
N

 E
LE

M
EN

TS
1.

 E
nt

ry
 F

ea
tu

re
s 

/ S
ig

na
ge

2.
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

d 
M

ed
ia

ns
3.

 E
nt

ry
 L

an
ds

ca
pe

s
• 

(+
/-

 1
6)

 T
re

es
• 

(+
/-

 7
5)

 S
hr

ub
s

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 T

R
A

IL
 A

N
D

 S
CE

N
IC

 O
V

ER
LO

O
K

 (T
YP

IC
A

L)

D
ES

IG
N

 E
LE

M
EN

TS
1.

 T
ra

il
2.

 S
ea

tin
g

Re
cr

ea
tio

n 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e

Th
e 

ov
er

al
l 

Pa
rk

s 
an

d 
O

pe
n 

Sp
ac

e 
pl

an
 c

on
si

st
s 

of
 e

le
m

en
ts

 t
ha

t 
co

nt
rib

ut
e 

to
 

ne
ig

hb
or

ho
od

 c
ha

ra
ct

er
 a

nd
 a

 s
en

se
 o

f 
co

m
m

un
ity

. 
 T

he
se

 e
le

m
en

ts
 m

ay
 i

nc
lu

de
 

po
ck

et
 p

ar
ks

, s
id

ew
al

ks
, g

re
en

w
ay

s,
 s

ea
tin

g,
 s

tr
ee

ts
ca

pe
 p

la
nt

in
gs

 a
nd

 e
nt

ry
 fe

at
ur

es
, 

an
d 

sc
en

ic
 o

ve
rlo

ok
s.

  

RO
U

N
D

-A
B

O
U

TS
Ro

un
d-

ab
ou

ts
 a

re
 u

se
d 

as
 a

 tr
affi

  c
 c

al
m

in
g 

m
ea

su
re

 b
ut

 a
ls

o 
pr

ov
id

e 
an

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
ty

 to
 

cr
ea

te
 a

 fo
ca

l p
oi

nt
 w

ith
 e

nh
an

ce
d 

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
pl

an
tin

gs
.  

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 T

R
A

IL
 A

N
D

 S
CE

N
IC

 O
V

ER
LO

O
K

Th
er

e 
ar

e 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
 to

 d
ev

el
op

 g
re

en
w

ay
 c

on
ne

ct
io

ns
 to

 th
e 

M
ou

nt
ai

ns
 to

 S
ea

 T
ra

il 
al

on
g 

th
e 

N
eu

se
 R

iv
er

.  T
he

se
 tr

ai
l c

on
ne

ct
io

ns
 c

an
 b

e 
co

-lo
ca

te
d 

w
ith

 o
th

er
 a

m
en

iti
es

 s
uc

h 
as

 s
ce

ni
c 

ov
er

lo
ok

s 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 n

et
w

or
k 

of
 n

at
ur

e 
tr

ai
ls

 a
nd

 
ob

se
rv

at
io

n 
ar

ea
s 

w
hi

ch
 fe

at
ur

e 
th

e 
na

tu
ra

l s
ur

ro
un

di
ng

s.

A
ll 

A
ct

iv
e 

Re
cr

ea
io

n 
si

te
 / 

pa
rk

s 
m

us
t r

ec
ei

ve
 s

ep
ar

at
e 

si
te

 p
la

n 
ap

pr
ov

al
.

Th
e 

D
ev

el
op

er
 is

 in
 t

al
ks

 w
ith

 t
he

 T
ow

n 
ab

ou
t 

th
e 

de
di

ca
tio

n 
of

 P
ha

se
 7

 in
 it

s 
en

tir
et

y 
(a

pp
ro

x.
 1

1 
ac

re
s)

. N
o 

ag
re

em
en

t h
as

 b
ee

n 
m

ad
e 

at
 th

is
 ti

m
e.

 T
he

 D
ev

el
op

er
 a

gr
ee

s 
to

 
de

di
ca

te
 a

 3
0’

 w
id

e 
ea

se
m

en
t 

al
on

g 
th

e 
so

ut
he

rn
 b

ou
nd

ar
y 

fo
r 

th
e 

ex
te

ns
io

n 
of

 t
he

 
Sa

m
’s 

Br
an

ch
 / 

M
ou

nt
ai

n 
to

 S
ea

 T
ra

il 
(a

pp
ro

x.
 2

.8
5 

ac
re

s)
.  

If 
P

Page 108 of 282



7

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

“T
O

T 
LO

T”
  (

TY
PI

C
A

L)

D
ES

IG
N

 E
LE

M
EN

TS
1.

Se
at

in
g

2.
Pl

ay
 S

tr
uc

tu
re

3.
La

nd
sc

ap
in

g

PO
CK

ET
 P

A
RK

 (T
YP

IC
A

L)

D
ES

IG
N

 E
LE

M
EN

TS
1.

Se
at

in
g

2.
Si

de
w

al
k

3.
La

nd
sc

ap
in

g

PO
CK

ET
 P

A
RK

S

Th
es

e 
‘m

in
i-p

ar
ks

’ s
ho

ul
d 

be
 lo

ca
te

d 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 t
he

 c
om

m
un

ity
 a

nd
 r

an
ge

 in
 s

iz
e 

to
 

se
rv

e 
as

 f
oc

al
 p

oi
nt

s 
an

d 
ac

tiv
ity

 n
od

es
. 

 T
he

se
 p

ar
ks

 c
an

 c
on

ta
in

 a
ct

iv
e 

or
 p

as
si

ve
 

re
ce

re
at

io
na

l o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s a
nd

 se
rv

e 
an

 im
po

rt
an

t e
le

m
en

t i
n 

cr
ea

tin
g 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
 

a 
se

ns
e 

of
 c

om
m

un
ity

 a
m

on
g 

re
si

de
nt

s.

Page 109 of 282



8

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

D
et

ac
he

d 
H

om
es

 - 
Si

ng
le

 F
am

ily

D
et

ac
he

d 
Si

ng
le

 F
am

ily
 h

om
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 t
he

 p
rim

ar
y 

lo
t 

ty
pe

 w
ith

in
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t.  

Th
e 

lo
t s

iz
e 

ca
n 

va
ry

 b
et

w
ee

n 
la

rg
e 

an
d 

sm
al

l l
ot

s b
ut

 sh
al

l b
e 

a 
m

in
im

um
 fo

 4
,5

00
 sq

ua
re

 
fe

et
.  

Si
ng

le
 fa

m
ily

 h
om

es
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 c
lu

st
er

ed
 to

ge
th

er
 th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

Lo
t s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 s
ha

ll 
be

 a
s 

fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
4,

50
0 

sq
ua

re
 fe

et
 a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

b.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t w
id

th
 s

ha
ll 

be
 4

0’
 a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

c.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t d
ep

th
 s

ha
ll 

be
 1

00
’ a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

d.
Th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 lo

t c
ov

er
ag

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
70

%
e.

Th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 lo
t i

m
pe

rv
io

us
 a

re
a 

sh
al

l b
e 

75
%

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
10

’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r S

et
ba

ck
4’

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

10
’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
10

’

Ze
ro

 L
ot

 L
in

e 
Si

de
 S

et
ba

ck
0’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

35
’

Ac
ce

ss
or

y
5’

3.
Va

ria
tio

ns
 f

ro
m

 l
ot

 s
et

ba
ck

s 
up

 t
o 

20
%

 m
ay

 b
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 w
ith

 t
he

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 t
he

pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ire

ct
or

.

4.
W

he
re

 th
e 

lo
t h

as
 a

n 
al

le
y 

or
 is

 a
 c

or
ne

r l
ot

, g
ar

ag
es

 a
nd

 p
ar

ki
ng

 m
ay

 b
e 

ac
ce

ss
ed

 fr
om

th
e 

al
le

y 
or

 s
id

e 
st

re
et

 w
he

re
 p

os
si

bl
e.

5.
Th

e 
bu

ild
ab

le
 z

on
e 

is
 t

he
 a

re
a 

de
fi n

ed
 a

nd
 b

ou
nd

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

tb
ac

ks
 o

n 
al

l p
ro

pe
rt

y
lin

es
.

6.
A

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 is
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
fr

om
 t

he
 b

ac
k 

of
 c

ur
b 

to
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 o
f 

w
ay

 li
ne

. T
he

pe
de

st
ria

n 
zo

ne
 m

ay
 in

cl
ud

e 
si

de
w

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
la

nt
in

g 
st

rip
s.

7.
St

re
et

 t
re

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 l

oc
at

ed
 i

n 
th

e 
pl

an
te

r 
st

rip
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 t
he

si
de

w
al

k.
 T

re
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

no
 fa

rt
he

r t
ha

n 
60

’ o
n 

ce
nt

er
.

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
Re

si
de

nc
es

 s
ha

ll 
co

ns
is

t 
of

 d
et

ac
he

d 
si

ng
le

 f
am

ily
 h

om
es

 a
nd

 z
er

o 
lo

t 
lin

e 
ho

m
es

.
G

ar
ag

es
 m

ay
 b

e 
de

ta
ch

ed
 o

r 
at

ta
ch

ed
 a

nd
 m

ay
be

 a
lle

y 
lo

ad
ed

. T
he

y 
m

ay
 a

ls
o 

ha
ve

 
ac

ce
ss

or
y 

ap
ar

tm
en

ts
 a

nd
/o

r l
iv

in
g 

sp
ac

es
 a

bo
ve

.

2.
A

cc
es

so
ry

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

re
 p

er
m

itt
ed

 a
nd

 m
us

t f
ol

lo
w

 th
e 

se
tb

ac
ks

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

in
 th

e 
lo

t
st

an
da

rd
s 

lis
te

d 
ab

ov
e.

3.
Ro

of
 p

itc
he

s 
sh

al
l r

an
ge

 b
et

w
ee

n 
3:

12
 a

nd
 1

0:
12

 a
nd

 s
ho

ul
d 

be
 c

on
si

st
en

t 
w

ith
 e

ac
h

st
yl

e 
of

 b
ui

ld
in

g.

4.
Fe

nc
es

 m
ay

 b
e 

lo
ca

te
d 

on
 th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 li

ne
 (0

’ s
et

ba
ck

).

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 S
in

gl
e 

Fa
m

ily
 - 

St
re

et
 A

cc
es

s
Lo

t T
yp

e:
 S

in
gl

e 
Fa

m
ily

 - 
A

lle
y 

A
cc

es
s

5.
Bu

ild
in

g 
m

as
si

ng
 s

ho
ul

d 
re

sp
on

d 
di

re
ct

ly
 t

o 
th

e 
co

nt
ex

t 
of

 t
he

 s
ite

 l
oc

at
io

n.
 F

or
ex

am
pl

e 
st

ru
ct

ur
es

 o
n 

na
rr

ow
 lo

ts
 w

ith
in

 a
n 

ur
ba

n 
co

nt
ex

t 
sh

ou
ld

 h
av

e 
si

m
pl

e 
an

d
of

te
n 

si
ng

ul
ar

 m
as

si
ng

, w
he

re
as

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 o

n 
w

id
e 

lo
ts

 in
 a

 s
ub

ur
ba

n 
co

nt
ex

t 
sh

ou
ld

di
vi

de
 th

ei
r o

ve
ra

ll 
fl o

or
 a

re
a 

th
ro

ug
h 

va
rio

us
 m

as
se

s 
an

d 
ro

of
 li

ne
s 

as
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 to

th
ei

r a
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 s

ty
le

.

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 st

yl
es

 sh
al

l b
e 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 th

e 
st

an
da

rd
s s

et
 fo

rt
h 

by
 th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

Re
vi

ew
 C

om
m

itt
ee

.

2.
Fr

on
t p

or
ch

es
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 n
o 

le
ss

 th
an

 5
’ in

 d
ep

th
 a

nd
 m

ay
 b

e 
at

 g
ra

de
.

3.
A

ll 
si

ng
le

 f
am

ily
 d

et
ac

he
d 

ho
m

es
 w

ill
 r

eq
ui

re
 r

ev
ie

w
 b

y 
th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

 R
ev

ie
w

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 (s

ee
 p

ag
e 

12
).

Page 110 of 282



9

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

At
ta

ch
ed

 H
om

es
 - 

To
w

nh
om

es
 &

 S
in

gl
e F

am
ily

A
tt

ac
he

d 
ho

m
es

 i
n 

th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
 w

ill
 c

on
si

st
 o

f 
si

ng
le

 f
am

ily
 a

nd
 t

ow
nh

om
e 

re
si

de
nc

es
.  

Th
es

e 
lo

ts
 w

ill
 h

av
e 

a 
m

in
im

um
 s

iz
e 

of
 1

,0
00

 s
qu

ar
e 

fe
et

 a
nd

 b
e 

cl
us

te
re

d 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
.  T

he
se

 re
si

de
nc

es
 m

ay
 h

av
e 

st
re

et
- o

r a
lle

y-
lo

ad
ed

 g
ar

ag
es

.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

M
in

im
um

 a
nd

 m
ax

im
um

 lo
t d

im
en

si
on

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
as

 fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
1,

00
0 

sq
ua

re
 fe

et
 a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

b.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t w
id

th
 s

ha
ll 

be
 1

6’
 a

nd
 n

o 
m

ax
im

um
 is

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

c.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t d
ep

th
 s

ha
ll 

no
t b

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d.
d.

 Th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 lo
t c

ov
er

ag
e 

sh
al

l b
e 

70
%

e.
Th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 lo

t i
m

pe
rv

io
us

 a
re

a 
sh

al
l b

e 
75

%

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
5’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r L

ot
 S

et
ba

ck
0’

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

5’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
10

’

Ze
ro

 L
ot

 L
in

e 
Si

de
 S

et
ba

ck
0’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

45
’

Ac
ce

ss
or

y
5’

3.
Va

ria
tio

ns
 f

ro
m

 l
ot

 s
et

ba
ck

s 
up

 t
o 

20
%

 m
ay

 b
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 w
ith

 t
he

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 t
he

pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ire

ct
or

.

4.
Th

e 
bu

ild
ab

le
 z

on
e 

is
 t

he
 a

re
a 

de
fi n

ed
 a

nd
 b

ou
nd

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

tb
ac

ks
 o

n 
al

l p
ro

pe
rt

y
lin

es
.

5.
A

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 is
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
fr

om
 t

he
 b

ac
k 

of
 c

ur
b 

to
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 o
f 

w
ay

 li
ne

. T
he

pe
de

st
ria

n 
zo

ne
 m

ay
 in

cl
ud

e 
si

de
w

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
la

nt
in

g 
st

rip
s.

6.
St

re
et

 t
re

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 l

oc
at

ed
 i

n 
th

e 
pl

an
te

r 
st

rip
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 t
he

si
de

w
al

k.
 T

re
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

no
 fa

rt
he

r t
ha

n 
60

’ o
n 

ce
nt

er

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
A

tt
ac

he
d 

re
si

de
nc

es
 a

re
 d

efi
 n

ed
 a

s 
bu

ild
in

gs
 o

n 
ze

ro
 l

ot
 l

in
e 

lo
ts

 w
ith

 fi
 re

 r
at

ed
pa

rt
y 

w
al

ls
 lo

ca
te

d 
on

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
lin

es
 t

ha
t 

ha
ve

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 b

ui
lt 

to
 t

he
 s

am
e 

pr
op

er
ty

 
lin

e.
 B

ui
ld

in
gs

 in
 t

hi
s 

ca
te

go
ry

 c
on

si
st

 o
f 

du
pl

ex
es

 a
nd

 t
ow

nh
om

es
. G

ar
ag

es
 m

ay
 b

e 
at

ta
ch

ed
 o

r d
et

ac
he

d 
an

d 
m

ay
be

 b
e 

ac
ce

ss
ed

 b
y 

pr
iv

at
e 

or
 p

ub
lic

 d
riv

es
. T

he
y 

m
ay

 a
ls

o 
ha

ve
 a

cc
es

so
ry

 a
pa

rt
m

en
ts

 a
nd

/o
r l

iv
in

g 
sp

ac
es

 a
bo

ve
.

2.
Pa

rt
y 

w
al

ls
 s

ha
ll 

be
 fi 

re
 ra

te
d 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 in

te
rn

at
io

na
l b

ui
ld

in
g 

co
de

.

3.
A

cc
es

so
ry

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

re
 p

er
m

itt
ed

 a
nd

 m
us

t f
ol

lo
w

 th
e 

se
tb

ac
ks

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

in
 th

e 
lo

t
st

an
da

rd
s 

lis
te

d 
ab

ov
e.

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 st

yl
es

 sh
al

l b
e 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 th

e 
st

an
da

rd
s s

et
 fo

rt
h 

by
 th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

Re
vi

ew
 C

om
m

itt
ee

..

2.
A

ll 
si

ng
le

 f
am

ily
 a

tt
ac

he
d 

ho
m

es
 w

ill
 r

eq
ui

re
 r

ev
ie

w
 b

y 
th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

 R
ev

ie
w

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 (s

ee
 p

ag
e 

12
).

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 T
ow

nh
om

e 
/ S

F 
- A

lle
y 

A
cc

es
s

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 T
ow

nh
om

e 
/ S

F 
- S

tr
ee

t A
cc

es
s

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 To
w

nh
om

e 
/ S

F 
- S

ur
fa

ce
 P

ar
ki

ng

Page 111 of 282



10

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

M
ul

ti-
Fa

m
ily

 - 
C

on
do

 / 
Ap

ar
tm

en
ts

M
ul

ti-
fa

m
ily

 r
es

id
en

ce
s 

in
 t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

 c
an

 b
e 

co
nd

om
in

iu
m

 a
nd

/o
r 

ap
ar

tm
en

t 
bu

ild
in

gs
.  

Th
is

 t
yp

e 
of

 r
es

id
en

tia
l p

ro
du

ct
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

cl
os

er
 t

o 
th

e 
pr

op
os

ed
 

co
m

m
er

ci
al

 re
ta

il 
us

es
.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

M
in

im
um

 a
nd

 m
ax

im
um

 lo
t d

im
en

si
on

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
as

 fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

er
e 

is
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d.
b.

Th
er

e 
is

 n
o 

m
in

im
um

 lo
t w

id
th

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

c.
Th

er
e 

is
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t d
ep

th
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d.
d.

 Th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 lo
t c

ov
er

ag
e 

sh
al

l b
e 

80
%

e.
Th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 lo

t i
m

pe
rv

io
us

 a
re

a 
sh

al
l b

e 
80

%

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
0’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r L

ot
 S

et
ba

ck
5’

 (2
0’

 m
in

. b
et

w
ee

n 
bu

ild
in

gs
)

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

0’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
5’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

55
’

3.
Va

ria
tio

ns
 f

ro
m

 l
ot

 s
et

ba
ck

s 
up

 t
o 

20
%

 m
ay

 b
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 w
ith

 t
he

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 t
he

pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ire

ct
or

.

4.
M

in
im

um
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

to
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

se
pa

ra
tio

n 
is

 2
0’

5.
M

ul
ti-

Fa
m

ily
 r

es
id

en
tia

l 
sh

al
l 

fr
on

t 
on

 p
ub

lic
 o

r 
pr

iv
at

e 
st

re
et

s 
an

d 
co

m
m

on
 a

re
as

.
Pa

rk
in

g 
sh

al
l b

e 
ac

ce
ss

ed
 fr

om
 in

te
rn

al
 p

riv
at

e 
dr

iv
es

.

6.
Th

e 
bu

ild
ab

le
 z

on
e 

is
 t

he
 a

re
a 

de
fi n

ed
 a

nd
 b

ou
nd

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

tb
ac

ks
 o

n 
al

l p
ro

pe
rt

y
lin

es
.

7.
A

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 is
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
fr

om
 t

he
 b

ac
k 

of
 c

ur
b 

to
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 o
f 

w
ay

 li
ne

. T
he

pe
de

st
ria

n 
zo

ne
 m

ay
 in

cl
ud

e 
si

de
w

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
la

nt
in

g 
st

rip
s

8.
St

re
et

 t
re

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 l

oc
at

ed
 i

n 
th

e 
pl

an
te

r 
st

rip
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 t
he

si
de

w
al

k.
 T

re
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

no
 fa

rt
he

r t
ha

n 
60

’ o
n 

ce
nt

er
.

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
Bu

ild
in

gs
 c

an
 c

on
si

st
 o

f 
m

ul
ti-

un
it 

co
nd

om
in

iu
m

s,
 a

pa
rt

m
en

ts
, 

fl a
ts

, 
st

ac
ke

d 
fl a

ts
,

st
ac

ke
d 

to
w

nh
om

es
, o

r m
ul

ti-
fa

m
ily

.

2.
Pa

rt
y 

w
al

ls
 s

ha
ll 

be
 fi 

re
 ra

te
d 

in
 a

cc
or

da
nc

e 
w

ith
 in

te
rn

at
io

na
l b

ui
ld

in
g 

co
de

.

3.
 P

rim
ar

y 
en

tr
an

ce
s f

or
 a

cc
es

si
bl

e 
un

its
 sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

“a
t g

ra
de

” o
r o

th
er

w
is

e 
co

m
pl

ia
nt

 w
ith

 
ac

ce
ss

ib
ili

ty
 g

ui
de

lin
es

 a
s 

ou
tli

ne
d 

in
 th

e 
in

te
rn

at
io

na
l b

ui
ld

in
g 

co
de

.

4.
Ro

of
 m

ay
 b

e 
fl a

t 
or

 p
itc

he
d.

 F
la

t 
ro

of
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
de

si
gn

ed
 w

ith
 a

 p
ar

ap
et

 p
er

 c
od

e
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
. P

itc
he

d 
ro

of
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
de

si
gn

ed
 t

o 
sh

ed
 w

at
er

 t
o 

th
e 

fr
on

t 
or

 b
ac

k 
of

th
e 

bu
ild

in
g 

w
ith

 p
itc

he
s 

in
 .

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 s

ty
le

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
de

em
ed

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
re

vi
ew

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
Re

vi
ew

 C
om

m
itt

ee
.

2.
Ba

lc
on

ie
s 

or
 p

or
ch

es
 a

re
 s

ha
ll 

be
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

d.

3.
A

ll 
m

ul
ti-

 fa
m

ily
 u

ni
ts

 w
ill

 re
qu

ire
 re

vi
ew

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 (s
ee

pa
ge

 1
2)

.

Lo
t T

yp
e:

 M
ul

ti
-F

am
ily

 - 
Su

rf
ac

e 
Pa

rk
in

g
Lo

t T
yp

e:
 M

ul
ti

-F
am

ily
 - 

A
lle

y 
A

cc
es

s

Page 112 of 282



11

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

A
m

en
ity

 an
d 

Cl
ub

Th
e 

co
m

m
un

ity
 sh

al
l h

av
e 

a 
co

m
m

un
ity

 c
en

te
r /

 c
lu

b 
to

 se
rv

e 
al

l r
es

id
en

ts
.  T

he
 c

lu
b 

ca
n 

fe
at

ur
e 

am
en

iti
es

 s
uc

h 
as

 a
 c

om
m

un
ity

 p
oo

l, 
pl

ay
gr

ou
nd

, t
en

ni
s 

co
ur

ts
, e

xe
rc

is
e 

gy
m

.  
A

dd
iti

on
al

ly
, 

ot
he

r 
fe

at
ur

ed
 a

m
en

iti
es

 s
uc

h 
as

 p
oc

ke
t 

pa
rk

s,
 g

re
en

w
ay

 c
on

ne
ct

io
ns

, 
to

t 
lo

ts
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

. T
he

 C
lu

bh
ou

se
 p

er
m

it 
sh

al
l b

e 
re

qu
ire

d 
pr

io
r t

o 
th

e 
25

1s
t b

ui
ld

in
g 

pe
rm

it.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

M
in

im
um

 a
nd

 m
ax

im
um

 lo
t d

im
en

si
on

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
as

 fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

er
e 

is
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d.
b.

Th
er

e 
is

 n
o 

m
in

im
um

 lo
t w

id
th

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d.

c.
Th

er
e 

is
 n

o 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t d
ep

th
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d.

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
15

’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r L

ot
 S

et
ba

ck
5’

 (1
0’

 m
in

. b
et

w
ee

n 
bu

ild
in

gs
)

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

10
’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
5’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

45
’

3.
Va

ria
tio

ns
 f

ro
m

 l
ot

 s
et

ba
ck

s 
up

 t
o 

20
%

 m
ay

 b
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 w
ith

 t
he

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 t
he

pl
an

ni
ng

 d
ire

ct
or

.

4.
Bu

ild
in

g 
en

tr
an

ce
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

as
 p

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
pl

az
as

 fo
r g

at
he

rin
gs

.

5.
Th

e 
bu

ild
ab

le
 z

on
e 

is
 t

he
 a

re
a 

de
fi n

ed
 a

nd
 b

ou
nd

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
se

tb
ac

ks
 o

n 
al

l p
ro

pe
rt

y
lin

es
.

6.
A

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 is
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
fr

om
 th

e 
ba

ck
 o

f c
ur

b 
to

 th
e 

rig
ht

 o
f w

ay
 li

ne
 b

ut
 m

ay
al

so
 in

cl
ud

e 
an

 a
re

a 
al

on
g 

th
e 

ed
ge

 o
f a

 p
ub

lic
 s

pa
ce

. T
he

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 w
ill

 in
cl

ud
e

m
in

im
um

 5
’ s

id
ew

al
ks

 a
nd

 p
la

nt
in

g 
st

rip
s 

al
on

g 
bu

ild
in

g 
fr

on
ts

.

7.
St

re
et

 t
re

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 l

oc
at

ed
 i

n 
th

e 
pl

an
te

r 
st

rip
 b

et
w

ee
n 

th
e 

ba
ck

 o
f 

cu
rb

 a
nd

 t
he

si
de

w
al

k.
 T

re
es

 s
ha

ll 
be

 lo
ca

te
d 

no
 fa

rt
he

r t
ha

n 
60

’ o
n 

ce
nt

er
.

8.
Pa

rk
in

g 
an

d 
se

rv
ic

e 
ar

ea
s 

sh
ou

ld
 b

e 
lo

ca
te

d 
to

w
ar

ds
 t

he
 s

id
es

 o
r 

re
ar

 o
f 

bu
ild

in
gs

.
W

he
re

 s
ite

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 o

r 
ot

he
r 

lim
iti

ng
 c

irc
um

st
an

ce
s 

re
su

lt 
in

 a
 b

ui
ld

in
g 

fr
on

tin
g 

a
up

on
 a

 p
ar

ki
ng

 a
re

a,
 a

 p
ed

es
tr

ia
n 

zo
ne

 s
ha

ll 
be

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
fr

om
 th

e 
ba

ck
 o

f c
ur

b 
to

 th
e

ou
te

r e
dg

e 
of

 th
e 

si
de

w
al

k 
in

 a
 s

im
ila

r m
an

ne
r t

o 
th

at
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

al
on

g 
a 

st
re

et
.

9.
M

ul
ti-

pu
rp

os
e 

tr
ai

ls
, o

ut
do

or
 s

ea
tin

g 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

sp
ac

es
, i

.e
. d

oc
ks

, v
ie

w
in

g 
ar

ea
s,

 e
tc

.
m

ay
be

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
al

on
g 

th
e 

w
at

er
fr

on
t.

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
Co

m
m

un
ity

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 s

ho
ul

d 
ha

ve
 a

 p
ro

m
in

en
t 

lo
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

be
 a

dj
ac

en
t 

to
 p

ub
lic

sp
ac

es
 w

he
ne

ve
r p

os
si

bl
e,

 s
ur

fa
ce

 p
ar

ki
ng

 s
ho

ul
d 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

off
  t

o 
th

e 
si

de
s 

or
 re

ar
 

of
 th

e 
bu

ild
in

g.
 

2.
M

ax
im

um
 h

ei
gh

t 
lim

it 
sh

al
l 

be
 T

hr
ee

 (
3)

 s
to

rie
s.

 C
up

ol
as

, 
be

ll 
to

w
er

s 
an

d 
an

ci
lla

ry
ro

of
to

p 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

ar
e 

pe
rm

itt
ed

 to
 b

e 
ta

lle
r.

3.
A

cc
es

so
ry

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 a

re
 p

er
m

itt
ed

 a
nd

 m
us

t f
ol

lo
w

 th
e 

se
tb

ac
ks

 e
st

ab
lis

he
d 

in
 th

e 
lo

t
st

an
da

rd
s 

lis
te

d 
ab

ov
e.

4.
Ro

of
 p

itc
he

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
de

si
gn

ed
 in

 c
on

gr
ue

nc
e 

w
ith

 t
he

 d
es

ire
d 

ch
ar

ac
te

r 
an

d 
st

yl
e 

of
th

e 
bu

ild
in

g.
 R

oo
f p

itc
he

s 
w

ill
 t

yp
ic

al
ly

 r
an

ge
 b

et
w

ee
n 

3:
12

 a
nd

 1
0:

12
 o

r 
m

ay
 b

e 
fl a

t
w

ith
 a

 p
ar

ap
et

.

5.
Pr

im
ar

y 
en

tr
an

ce
s 

fo
r a

cc
es

si
bl

e 
bu

ild
in

gs
 s

ho
ul

d 
be

 “a
t g

ra
de

” o
r o

th
er

w
is

e 
co

m
pl

ia
nt

w
ith

 a
cc

es
si

bi
lit

y 
gu

id
el

in
es

 a
s 

re
qu

ire
d 

by
 th

e 
A

m
er

ic
an

s 
w

ith
 D

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
A

ct
.

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 s

ty
le

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
de

em
ed

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
re

vi
ew

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
Re

vi
ew

 C
om

m
itt

ee
.

2.
A

ll 
si

ng
le

 c
om

m
un

ity
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

 w
ill

 r
eq

ui
re

 r
ev

ie
w

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
Co

m
m

itt
ee

 (s
ee

 p
ag

e 
12

).

Page 113 of 282



12

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

C
om

m
er

ci
al

 A
re

a

Th
e 

Co
m

m
er

ci
al

 a
re

a 
sh

al
l h

av
e 

a 
ba

se
 zo

ni
ng

 d
is

tr
ic

t o
f B

-2
. T

hi
s a

re
a 

sh
al

l b
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
as

 a
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

re
ta

il 
sh

op
pi

ng
 c

en
te

r 
to

 s
er

ve
 t

he
 n

ee
ds

 o
f S

te
ep

le
ch

as
e 

an
d 

th
e 

su
rr

ou
nd

in
g 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

.  O
ffi  

ce
 a

nd
 re

si
de

nt
ia

l u
se

s o
n 

up
pe

r s
to

rie
s w

ill
 b

e 
al

lo
w

ab
le

 
in

 th
is

 d
is

tr
ic

t. 
 T

hi
s 

ar
ea

 w
ill

 ra
ng

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
+

/-
5 

ac
re

s 
up

 to
 +

/-
8 

ac
re

s.

LO
T 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S
1.

M
in

im
um

 a
nd

 m
ax

im
um

 lo
t d

im
en

si
on

s 
sh

al
l b

e 
as

 fo
llo

w
s:

a.
Th

e 
m

in
im

um
 lo

t s
iz

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
6,

00
0 

sq
ua

re
 fe

et
b.

Th
e 

m
in

im
um

 lo
t w

id
th

 s
ha

ll 
be

 5
0’

 
c.

Th
e 

m
in

im
um

 lo
t d

ep
th

 s
ha

ll 
no

t b
e 

es
ta

bl
is

he
d.

d.
Th

e 
m

ax
im

um
 lo

t c
ov

er
ag

e 
sh

al
l b

e 
75

%
e.

Th
e 

m
ax

im
um

 lo
t i

m
pe

rv
io

us
 a

re
a 

sh
al

l b
e 

75
%

2.
Se

tb
ac

ks
 s

ha
ll 

be
 a

s 
fo

llo
w

s:

Fr
on

t S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
20

’

Si
de

 In
te

rio
r L

ot
 S

et
ba

ck
10

’

Si
de

 S
tr

ee
t S

et
ba

ck
 - 

M
in

im
um

10
’

Re
ar

 S
et

ba
ck

 - 
M

in
im

um
20

’

Ze
ro

 L
ot

 L
in

e 
Si

de
 S

et
ba

ck
0’

H
ei

gh
t -

 M
ax

im
um

80
’

PE
RM

IT
TE

D
 U

SE
S 

A
N

D
 D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
A

L 
ST

A
N

D
A

RD
S

1.
Th

e 
B-

2 
di

st
ric

t p
ro

vi
de

s 
op

po
rt

un
iti

es
 fo

r s
m

al
l-s

ca
le

 c
om

m
er

ci
al

 u
se

s 
off

 e
rin

g
pr

im
ar

ily
 c

on
ve

ni
en

ce
 s

ho
pp

in
g 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
es

 fo
r a

dj
ac

en
t r

es
id

en
tia

l a
re

as
. P

ro
xi

m
ity

 
to

 re
si

de
nc

es
 re

qu
ire

s 
th

at
 c

om
m

er
ci

al
 o

pe
ra

tio
ns

 a
re

 lo
w

 in
te

ns
ity

, u
no

bt
ru

si
ve

 a
nd

 
co

nd
uc

te
d 

at
 a

 s
ca

le
 a

nd
 d

en
si

ty
 c

om
pa

tib
le

 w
ith

 th
e 

su
rr

ou
nd

in
g 

ne
ig

hb
or

ho
od

. 
Th

er
e 

is
 a

 re
la

tiv
el

y 
lo

w
 d

em
an

d 
on

 p
ub

lic
 s

er
vi

ce
s,

 tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
ut

ili
tie

s.

2.
A

 m
ax

im
um

 h
ei

gh
t 

of
 8

0’
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

de
si

gn
at

ed
 f

or
 t

hi
s 

di
st

ric
t 

to
 a

llo
w

 o
ffi  

ce
s 

an
d

re
si

de
nt

ia
l u

ni
ts

 in
 u

pp
er

 s
to

rie
s.

A
RC

H
IT

EC
TU

R
A

L 
A

N
D

 C
O

N
TE

X
TU

A
L 

ST
A

N
D

A
RD

S 
1.

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 st

yl
es

 sh
al

l b
e 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 w

ith
 th

e 
st

an
da

rd
s s

et
 fo

rt
h 

by
 th

e 
A

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

Re
vi

ew
 C

om
m

itt
ee

. 

2.
Th

e 
co

m
m

er
ci

al
 a

re
a 

w
ill

 r
eq

ui
re

 r
ev

ie
w

 b
y 

th
e 

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 (s
ee

pa
ge

 1
2)

.

Page 114 of 282



13

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

U
til

iti
es

 an
d 

St
or

m
w

at
er

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

PU
B

LI
C 

U
TI

LI
TI

ES
 A

N
D

 IN
FR

A
ST

RU
C

TU
RE

Re
qu

ire
d 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 s
ha

ll 
be

 m
ad

e 
as

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
oc

cu
rs

 w
ith

in
 e

ac
h 

tr
ac

t.  
In

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

 w
ill

 b
e 

de
si

gn
ed

 s
o 

th
at

 it
 w

ill
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
e 

th
e 

en
tir

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

 a
t 

to
ta

l b
ui

ld
-o

ut
.  A

t t
he

 ti
m

e 
of

 P
la

n 
Su

bm
itt

al
, t

he
 d

ev
el

op
er

 w
ill

 m
ee

t w
ith

 To
w

n 
St

aff
  t

o 
de

te
rm

in
e 

cr
iti

ca
l a

re
as

 (i
f a

ny
) f

or
 p

ha
se

d 
ut

ili
ty

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 a
s 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

cc
ur

s.

SA
N

IT
A

RY
 S

EW
ER

Pe
r 

th
e 

To
w

n 
of

 C
la

yt
on

 e
ng

in
ee

rin
g 

st
aff

 , 
th

e 
To

w
n 

ha
s 

ad
eq

ua
te

 c
ap

ac
ity

 t
o 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

e 
th

e 
ne

ce
ss

ar
y 

sa
ni

ta
ry

 s
ew

er
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r 

th
is

 p
ro

je
ct

.  
Th

e 
es

tim
at

ed
 

w
as

te
 w

at
er

 p
ea

k 
fl o

w
 fo

r t
he

 S
ou

th
 t

ra
ct

 is
 5

88
,3

88
 g

al
lo

ns
 p

er
 d

ay
 a

nd
 N

or
th

 t
ra

ct
 is

 
90

6,
12

5 
ga

llo
ns

 p
er

 d
ay

 (s
ee

 su
m

m
ar

y 
at

 ri
gh

t a
nd

 d
et

ai
l i

n 
A

pp
en

di
x)

.  I
t i

s a
nt

ic
ip

at
ed

 to
 

de
ve

lo
p 

th
e 

So
ut

h 
tr

ac
t fi

 r
st

 in
 a

pp
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
15

 p
ha

se
s o

f c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n.
  T

he
 S

ou
th

 tr
ac

t 
w

ill
 c

on
ne

ct
 to

 a
n 

ex
is

tin
g 

pu
bl

ic
 s

an
ita

ry
 s

ew
er

 m
an

ho
le

 th
at

 is
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 in
iti

al
 p

ha
se

 
of

 th
e 

Sa
m

’s 
Br

an
ch

 In
te

rc
ep

to
r. 

 T
he

 T
ow

n 
w

ill
 c

on
tin

ue
 w

ith
 th

e 
de

si
gn

 a
nd

 e
xt

en
si

on
 

of
 th

e 
Sa

m
’s 

Br
an

ch
 In

te
rc

ep
to

r -
Ph

as
e 

2 
in

 c
oo

rd
in

at
io

n 
w

ith
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t p
ha

si
ng

 
of

 S
te

ep
le

ch
as

e.
  S

ew
er

 m
ai

n 
ex

te
ns

io
ns

 a
nd

 s
er

vi
ce

 c
on

ne
ct

io
ns

 t
o 

th
e 

To
w

n’
s 

se
w

er
 

sy
st

em
s 

m
us

t 
be

 a
pp

ro
ve

d,
 p

rio
r t

o 
co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n,
 b

y 
th

e 
En

gi
ne

er
in

g 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t 
an

d 
in

 a
cc

or
da

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

ge
ne

ra
l g

ui
de

lin
es

 a
nd

 re
gu

la
tio

ns
 o

f t
he

 T
ow

n.
  I

t i
s 

th
e 

To
w

n’
s 

po
lic

y 
to

 u
til

iz
e 

gr
av

ity
 s

ew
er

 e
xt

en
si

on
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 s
ew

er
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

to
 s

er
ve

 th
e 

N
or

th
 &

 
So

ut
h 

tr
ac

ts
.  

A
llo

ca
tio

ns
 fo

r s
ew

er
 m

us
t b

e 
ap

pr
ov

ed
 b

y 
to

w
n 

co
un

ci
l. 

 E
st

im
at

ed
 fl 

ow
 

sh
ow

n 
he

re
 is

 fo
r i

nf
or

m
at

io
na

l p
ur

po
se

s 
on

ly
.

W
AT

ER
Pu

bl
ic

 w
at

er
 is

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 th
e 

si
te

 v
ia

 a
 s

er
ie

s 
of

 8
-in

ch
 a

nd
 1

2-
in

ch
 w

at
er

 m
ai

ns
.  

A
 1

2-
in

ch
 w

at
er

 m
ai

n 
is

 p
re

se
nt

 o
n 

Co
ve

re
d 

Br
id

ge
 R

oa
d 

ju
st

 w
es

t o
f t

he
 su

bj
ec

t d
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
an

d 
w

ill
 b

e 
ex

te
nd

ed
 a

cr
os

s 
th

e 
fr

on
ta

ge
 a

t t
he

 ti
m

e 
of

 th
e 

pr
op

os
ed

 ro
ad

 w
id

en
in

g.
  I

n 
ad

di
tio

n,
 a

n 
8-

in
ch

 m
ai

n 
ex

is
ts

 in
 O

’N
ei

l S
tr

ee
t a

lo
ng

 th
e 

ea
st

er
n 

bo
un

da
ry

.  C
on

ne
ct

io
ns

 
to

 th
e 

Co
ve

re
d 

Br
id

ge
 R

oa
d 

12
-in

ch
 m

ai
n 

an
d 

8-
in

ch
 m

ai
n 

on
 O

’N
ei

l S
tr

ee
t w

ill
 b

e 
m

ad
e 

an
d 

ex
te

nd
ed

 th
ro

ug
ho

ut
 th

e 
pr

op
er

ty
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 s

ys
te

m
 o

f i
nn

er
-c

on
ne

ct
ed

 m
ai

ns
.  

Th
is

 le
ve

l o
f i

nn
er

-c
on

ne
ct

iv
ity

 s
ha

ll 
pr

ov
id

e 
fo

r 
ad

eq
ua

te
 d

om
es

tic
 w

at
er

 u
se

 a
nd

 fi 
re

 
pr

ot
ec

tio
n.

ST
O

RM
W

AT
ER

 R
U

N
O

FF
 A

N
D

 N
IT

RO
G

EN
 C

O
N

TR
O

LS
St

or
m

 s
ew

er
 a

cc
es

si
bi

lit
y 

fo
r 

th
e 

tr
ac

t 
sh

al
l 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

vi
a 

dr
ai

na
ge

 s
w

al
es

 a
nd

 
st

or
m

w
at

er
 p

ip
es

 t
ha

t 
ru

n 
th

ro
ug

ho
ut

 t
he

 t
ra

ct
.  

Th
e 

dr
ai

na
ge

 s
w

al
es

 a
nd

 s
to

rm
w

at
er

 
pi

pe
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

ac
ce

ss
ed

 f
or

 t
he

 p
ur

po
se

s 
of

 c
ar

ry
in

g 
st

or
m

 fl
 o

w
s 

fr
om

 v
ar

io
us

 p
ha

se
s 

to
 e

ve
nt

ua
lly

 d
is

ch
ar

ge
 i

nt
o 

th
e 

re
sp

ec
tiv

e 
tr

ib
ut

ar
ie

s 
of

 S
am

’s 
Br

an
ch

 a
nd

/o
r 

th
e 

N
eu

se
 R

iv
er

.  
N

itr
og

en
 c

on
tr

ol
 w

et
 p

on
ds

 a
nd

 o
th

er
 B

M
P 

de
vi

ce
s 

m
ay

 b
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

w
ith

 
th

is
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

 T
he

 d
ev

el
op

er
 w

ill
 p

ro
vi

de
 e

vi
de

nc
e 

th
at

 it
 c

om
pl

ie
s 

w
ith

 a
ll 

th
e 

To
w

n’
s 

ni
tr

og
en

 a
nd

 s
to

rm
w

at
er

 r
un

off
  c

on
tr

ol
 r

eq
ui

re
m

en
ts

 a
s 

id
en

tifi
 e

d 
in

 t
he

 T
ow

n 
or

di
na

nc
e 

an
d 

St
at

e 
St

or
m

w
at

er
 M

an
ua

l. 
 D

ev
ic

es
 a

nd
 c

on
tr

ol
 m

ea
su

re
s 

in
cl

ud
e 

a 
va

rie
ty

 o
f d

ev
ic

es
 a

nd
 im

po
un

dm
en

ts
.  

Th
es

e 
m

ay
 b

e 
ph

ys
ic

al
ly

 lo
ca

te
d 

ou
ts

id
e 

of
 th

e 
ph

as
e 

so
 lo

ng
 a

s 
th

e 
ab

ov
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 a
re

 m
et

 a
s 

ea
ch

 tr
ac

t i
s 

de
ve

lo
pe

d.

St
ee
pl
ec
ha

se
Sa
ni
ta
ry

Se
w
er

Pr
el
im

in
ar
y
Ev
al
ua

tio
n

M
cA
da
m
s

13
Fe
b
15

Es
tim

at
e
of

to
ta
lp
ea
k
w
as
te
w
at
er

flo
w
fo
rS

te
ep

le
ch
as
e
So
ut
h
(P
ha

se
s1

14
):

Pe
ak
in
g

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lU

ni
tT

yp
e

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lU

ni
ts

Be
dr
oo

m
s

gp
d

gp
m

cf
s

Fa
ct
or

gp
d

gp
m

cf
s

Si
ng
le
Fa
m
ily

(6
5
70

)
41

1
4

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
10

2,
75

0
71

0.
15

9
2.
5

25
6,
87

5
17

8
0.
39

7
Si
ng
le
Fa
m
ily

(5
0
55

/6
0
65

)
10

0
3.
5

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
25

,0
00

17
0.
03

9
2.
5

62
,5
00

43
0.
09

7
To
w
nh

om
e

30
9

2.
5

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
77

,2
50

54
0.
11

9
2.
5

19
3,
12

5
13

4
0.
29

9
Ap

ar
tm

en
t

0
2.
0

24
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
0

0.
00

0
2.
5

0
0.
00

0
Co

m
m
er
ci
al
/R

et
ai
l

75
,0
00

s f
0.
13

ga
l/d

ay
sf

9,
75

0
7

0.
01

5
2.
5

24
,3
75

17
0.
03

8
82

0
To

ta
lW

W
Fl
ow

21
4,
75

0
14

9
0.
33

2
53

6,
87

5
37

3
0.
83

0

Es
tim

at
e
of

to
ta
lp
ea
k
w
as
te
w
at
er

flo
w
fo
rS

te
ep

le
ch
as
e
N
or
th

(P
ha

se
s1

5
34

):

Pe
ak
in
g

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lU

ni
tT

yp
e

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lU

ni
ts

Be
dr
oo

m
s

gp
d

gp
m

cf
s

Fa
ct
or

gp
d

gp
m

cf
s

Si
ng
le
Fa
m
ily

(6
5
70

/7
0
75

)
33

0
4

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
82

,5
00

57
0.
12

8
2.
5

20
6,
25

0
14

3
0.
31

9
Si
ng
le
Fa
m
ily

(5
0
55

/6
0
65

)
22

5
3.
5

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
56

,2
50

39
0.
08

7
2.
5

14
0,
62

5
98

0.
21

7
Am

en
ity

/C
lu
bh

ou
se

8,
50

0
s f

0.
13

ga
l/d

ay
sf

1,
10

5
1

0.
00

2
2.
5

2,
76

3
2

0.
00

4
To
w
nh

om
e

43
5

2.
5

25
0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
10

8,
75

0
76

0.
16

8
2.
5

27
1,
87

5
18

9
0.
42

0
Ap

ar
tm

en
t

38
0

2
24

0
ga
l/d

ay
un

it
91

,2
00

63
0.
14

1
2.
5

22
8,
00

0
15

8
0.
35

3
1
37

0
To

ta
lW

W
Fl
ow

33
9
80

5
23

6
0
52

6
84

9
51

3
59

0
1
31

4

W
W

Fl
ow

Ra
te

pe
rU

ni
t

Av
er
ag
e
W
W

Fl
ow

W
W

Fl
ow

Ra
te

pe
rU

ni
t

Av
er
ag
e
W
W

Fl
ow

Pe
ak

W
W

Fl
ow

Pe
ak

W
W

Fl
ow

1,
37

0
To

ta
lW

W
Fl
ow

33
9,
80

5
23

6
0.
52

6
84

9,
51

3
59

0
1.
31

4

To
ta
ls

2,
19

0
un

its
55

4,
55

5
gp
d

Page 115 of 282



14

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 R

ev
ie

w
 C

om
m

itt
ee

Th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r (
an

d 
an

y s
ub

se
qu

en
t H

om
eo

w
ne

r’s
 a

nd
/o

r P
ro

pe
rt

y O
w

ne
r’s

 A
ss

oc
ia

tio
ns

) 
sh

al
l 

en
su

re
 a

 w
id

e 
va

rie
ty

 o
f 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l 

pr
od

uc
ts

 a
re

 d
ev

el
op

ed
 t

hr
ou

gh
ou

t 
th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

.  P
rio

r t
o 

th
e 

fi r
st

 si
te

 p
la

n 
su

bm
itt

al
, d

ev
el

op
er

 sh
al

l e
st

ab
lis

h 
an

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 

Re
vi

ew
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 (A
RC

) t
ha

t r
ev

ie
w

s 
an

d 
ap

pr
ov

es
 a

ll 
pr

op
os

ed
 a

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
e 

an
d 

si
te

 
ar

ch
ite

ct
ur

e 
an

d 
si

te
 fu

rn
is

hi
ng

s 
fo

r 
qu

al
ity

, c
om

pa
tib

ili
ty

 a
nd

 c
on

si
st

en
cy

.  
Th

is
 e

nt
ity

 
sh

al
l s

ub
se

qu
en

tly
 re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 a
pp

ro
ve

 a
ll 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t r

eq
ue

st
s 

pr
io

r t
o 

th
e 

su
bm

itt
al

 
to

 t
he

 T
ow

n 
of

 C
la

yt
on

 fo
r 

an
y 

bu
ild

in
g 

pe
rm

it.
  T

he
 A

RC
 s

ha
ll 

al
so

 e
st

ab
lis

h,
 e

nf
or

ce
, 

m
od

ify
 a

nd
 g

ra
nt

 c
on

fo
rm

an
ce

 w
ith

 th
e 

do
cu

m
en

ts
 a

nd
 p

ro
vi

si
on

s 
in

di
ca

te
d 

be
lo

w
.  

It 
sh

al
l a

ls
o 

en
fo

rc
e 

an
y 

ap
pl

ic
ab

le
 s

ta
nd

ar
ds

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

’s 
ad

op
te

d 
re

st
ric

tiv
e 

co
ve

na
nt

s.
 

B
A

SI
C 

PA
LE

TT
E 

FO
R 

RE
SI

D
EN

TI
A

L 
U

SE
S

•
Pr

im
ar

y 
Bu

ild
in

gs
:  

Br
ic

k,
 m

od
ul

ar
 b

ric
k;

 V
in

yl
 s

id
in

g;
 H

ar
di

-p
la

nk
; b

at
te

n 
bo

ar
d

si
di

ng
, p

re
-c

as
t m

at
er

ia
ls

, W
oo

d;
 S

im
ul

at
ed

 w
oo

d;
 S

to
ne

, a
nd

 S
im

ul
at

ed
 s

to
ne

.

•
Ro

of
 E

le
m

en
ts

:  
A

sp
ha

lt 
Sh

in
gl

es
; M

et
al

 R
oo

fs
, S

im
ul

at
ed

 ti
le

 (d
es

ig
n 

an
d 

co
lo

r m
ay

va
ry

). 
 F

la
t o

r m
em

br
an

e 
ro

of
s 

sh
al

l b
e 

pr
oh

ib
ite

d 
(e

xc
ep

t f
or

 m
ix

ed
-u

se
 b

ui
ld

in
gs

).

•
Co

lu
m

ns
:  

W
oo

d,
 B

ric
k,

 P
re

-c
as

t; 
Fi

be
rg

la
ss

; S
im

ul
at

ed
 s

to
ne

; S
te

el
; a

nd
 a

lu
m

in
um

.

•
Co

lo
rs

:  
A

 v
ar

ie
ty

 o
f c

ol
or

s 
m

ay
 b

e 
us

ed
 s

o 
lo

ng
 a

s 
th

ey
 a

re
co

m
pl

im
en

ta
ry

.  
W

hi
le

 a
cc

en
ts

 a
nd

 tr
im

 c
ol

or
s 

m
ay

 v
ar

y.
  A

 m
ax

im
um

of
 tw

o 
pr

im
ar

y 
co

lo
rs

 m
ay

 b
e 

us
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

fa
ça

de
.  

G
ar

ag
es

 a
nd

ac
ce

ss
or

y 
st

ru
ct

ur
es

 s
ha

ll 
m

at
ch

 th
e 

pr
im

ar
y 

re
si

de
nc

e.

•
Bu

ild
in

g 
Ac

ce
nt

s:
  S

im
ul

at
ed

 S
to

ne
, T

ile
, P

re
-c

as
e;

 W
oo

d,
 E

IF
S;

 B
ric

k
pa

tt
er

ns
 a

nd
 a

ne
nt

 b
ric

k;
 q

uo
in

s;
 a

nd
 a

rc
hi

te
ct

ur
al

 m
as

on
ry

.

• 
G

ar
ag

es
 a

nd
 P

ar
ki

ng
:  

A
 m

ax
im

um
 fo

ur
 c

ar
s 

ca
n 

be
 g

ar
ag

ed
 o

n 
an

y 
si

ng
le

fa
m

ily
 lo

t. 
 A

 m
in

im
um

 o
f t

w
o 

pa
rk

in
g 

sp
ac

es
 s

ha
ll 

be
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

fo
r e

ac
h 

un
it

(v
ia

 a
 g

ar
ag

e,
 in

 a
 d

riv
ew

ay
, o

n 
a 

pr
iv

at
e 

st
re

et
 o

r i
n 

an
 o

ff -
st

re
et

 s
pa

ce
)

• 
Po

rc
he

s a
nd

 S
to

op
s:

  P
or

ch
es

 m
ay

 b
e 

lo
ca

te
d 

at
 th

e 
fr

on
t, 

si
de

, o
r r

ea
r o

f
th

e 
ho

us
e.

  F
ro

nt
 p

or
ch

es
 o

r s
to

op
s 

sh
al

l b
e 

a 
m

in
im

um
 o

f fi
 v

e 
(5

’) 
fe

et
 in

de
pt

h 
an

d 
pr

ov
id

e 
ad

eq
ua

te
 s

et
ba

ck
 fr

om
 th

e 
lo

t l
in

es
 a

nd
 p

ub
lic

 s
tr

ee
ts

.

•
M

ec
ha

ni
ca

l E
qu

ip
m

en
t: 

 G
ro

un
d 

le
ve

l m
ec

ha
ni

ca
l e

qu
ip

m
en

t s
ha

ll 
be

lo
ca

te
d 

at
 th

e 
si

de
 o

r r
ea

r o
f t

he
 lo

t a
nd

 s
cr

ee
ne

d 
fr

om
 v

ie
w

 w
ith

 p
la

nt
in

gs
or

 a
 w

al
l o

f t
he

 s
am

e 
or

 c
om

pa
tib

le
 m

at
er

ia
ls

 to
 th

e 
bu

ild
in

gs
’ e

xt
er

io
r.

• 
Fe

nc
in

g 
in

 P
er

im
et

er
 Y

ar
d:

 T
he

 A
RC

 s
ha

ll 
re

vi
ew

 a
nd

 a
pp

ro
ve

 a
ll 

fe
nc

in
g 

st
yl

es
,

m
at

er
ia

ls
, a

nd
 h

ei
gh

t w
ith

in
 th

e 
Pe

rim
et

er
 B

uff
 e

r (
Ty

pe
 C

) a
lo

ng
 e

xi
st

in
g 

pu
bl

ic
st

re
et

s.
   

Th
e 

in
te

nt
 is

 to
 c

re
at

e 
co

nt
in

ui
ty

 in
 p

ro
du

ct
, s

ty
le

 a
nd

 a
pp

ea
ra

nc
e.

•
El

ev
at

io
ns

: A
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 e

le
va

tio
ns

 w
ill

 h
av

e 
va

rie
ty

 to
 e

ns
ur

e
ad

ja
ce

nt
 u

ni
ts

 h
av

e 
di

ff e
re

nt
 fa

ca
de

s.
 T

he
 in

te
nt

 is
 to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
e

ho
m

es
 a

re
 n

ot
 “c

oo
ki

e-
cu

tt
er

” a
nd

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
rc

hi
te

ct
ur

al
 d

iv
er

si
ty

.

Ph
as

in
g

O
V

ER
A

LL
 P

H
A

SI
N

G
Sc

he
du

le
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

ul
tim

at
e 

ph
as

in
g 

of
 p

la
ns

, p
er

m
its

 a
nd

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
pr

oj
ec

t 
w

ill
 b

e 
de

pe
nd

en
t o

n 
m

ar
ke

t f
or

ce
s 

an
d 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 fo
r i

nf
ra

st
ru

ct
ur

e 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
.  

In
iti

al
 p

ha
se

s 
fo

r 
th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t 
w

ill
 r

eq
ui

re
 e

xt
en

si
on

s 
of

 p
ub

lic
 s

tr
ee

ts
, w

at
er

 a
nd

 
sa

ni
ta

ry
 s

ew
er

 s
ys

te
m

s.
  

A
re

as
 a

lo
ng

 e
xi

st
in

g 
Co

ve
re

d 
Br

id
ge

 R
oa

d 
an

d 
O

’N
ea

l S
tr

ee
t 

w
ill

 li
ke

ly
 b

e 
th

e 
fi r

st
 t

o 
be

 d
ev

el
op

ed
.  

H
ow

ev
er

, s
m

al
le

r 
ph

as
es

 m
ay

 b
e 

cr
ea

te
d 

an
d 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

st
aff

 . 
 T

he
 r

ef
er

en
ce

d 
ph

as
e 

nu
m

be
r 

on
 t

he
 P

ha
si

ng
 P

la
n 

do
es

 n
ot

 
ne

ce
ss

ar
ily

 re
pr

es
en

t 
th

e 
ex

ac
t 

se
qu

en
ce

 o
f d

ev
el

op
m

en
t. 

 A
lth

ou
gh

 t
he

 C
lu

bh
ou

se
 is

 
sh

ow
n 

in
 p

ha
se

 1
5,

 th
e 

pe
rm

it 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
fo

r c
lu

bh
ou

se
 c

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

w
ill

 b
e 

su
bm

itt
ed

 
pr

io
r 

to
 t

he
 a

pp
lic

at
io

n 
fo

r 
th

e 
25

1st
 r

es
id

en
tia

l  
  

bu
ild

in
g 

pe
rm

it.
 U

nl
es

s 
sp

ec
ifi 

ca
lly

 
st

at
ed

 h
er

ei
n 

an
d 

w
ith

 a
pp

ro
va

l 
of

 T
ow

n 
St

aff
 , 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r 
re

ta
in

s 
th

e 
rig

ht
 t

o 
re

co
nfi

 g
ur

e 
th

e 
ph

as
es

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
m

ar
ke

t f
or

ce
s 

an
d 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 n

ee
ds

.

A
M

EN
D

M
EN

TS
 T

O
 T

H
E 

A
PP

RO
V

ED
 M

A
ST

ER
 P

LA
N

A
s 

lo
ng

 a
s 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r o
w

ns
 re

al
 p

ro
pe

rt
y 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
M

as
te

r P
la

n 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t, 
on

ly
 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r o
r p

er
so

nn
el

 a
ut

ho
riz

ed
 in

 w
rit

in
g 

by
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
r s

ha
ll 

ha
ve

 th
e 

rig
ht

 
to

 a
m

en
d 

th
e 

pl
an

.

PO
TE

N
TI

A
L 

SC
H

O
O

L 
SI

TE
Th

e 
m

as
te

r 
pl

an
 id

en
tifi

 e
s 

a 
po

te
nt

ia
l s

ch
oo

l s
ite

 lo
ca

te
d 

on
 C

ity
 R

oa
d 

fr
on

ta
ge

 o
f t

he
 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t. 

Th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r 
w

ill
 e

nt
er

ta
in

 r
eq

ue
st

s 
fr

om
 t

he
 s

ch
oo

l d
is

tr
ic

t 
fo

r 
up

 t
o 

tw
o 

(2
) y

ea
rs

 fr
om

 t
he

 d
at

e 
of

 p
la

n 
ad

op
tio

n 
by

 T
ow

n 
Co

un
ci

l. 
If 

th
e 

si
te

 is
 d

on
at

ed
 t

o 
th

e 
sc

ho
ol

 d
is

tr
ic

t t
he

 d
ev

el
op

er
 w

ou
ld

 e
xp

ec
t a

 c
re

di
t a

pp
lie

d 
to

 a
ny

 im
pa

ct
 fe

es
 e

qu
al

 
to

 th
e 

va
lu

e 
of

 th
e 

la
nd

 p
lu

s 
an

y 
lo

st
 re

ve
nu

e.

D
EV

EL
O

PM
EN

T 
N

A
M

E 
CH

A
N

G
E

Th
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r 
re

se
rv

es
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 t

he
 n

am
e 

of
 t

he
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t 

pr
io

r 
to

  
re

co
rd

in
g 

th
e 

fi r
st

 p
la

t a
ss

oc
ia

te
d 

w
ith

 th
is

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t.

Page 116 of 282



15

ST
EE

PL
EC

H
A

SE
 - 

PL
A

N
N

ED
 D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T 

/ M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 D

O
CU

M
EN

T

La
st

 R
ev

is
ed

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5
A

PP
EN

D
IX

 

Ap
pe

nd
ix

CO
V

ER
  

SH
EE

T 
0

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

S 
SH

EE
TS

 1
-3

M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
 

SH
EE

TS
 4

, 4
A

, 4
B,

 4
C

PH
A

SI
N

G
 P

LA
N

 
SH

EE
T 

5

O
PE

N
 S

PA
CE

 P
LA

N
 

SH
EE

T 
6

V
EH

IC
U

LA
R 

A
N

D
 P

ED
ES

TR
IA

N
 P

LA
N

 
SH

EE
T 

7

ST
RE

ET
 W

A
IV

ER
 R

EQ
U

ES
TS

 
SH

EE
T 

8

Page 117 of 282



Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, North Carolina 27520

c/o Wakefield Development Company

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at 
Re

vie
w

10
.01

.20
14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

Galaxy NC, LLC 2n
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

11
.10

.20
14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

0

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

IS
SU

E:

RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

SB KT CO
VE

R

. .

C2015JDAVIS  ARCHITECTS  EXPRESSLY  RESERVES  ITS  COMMON  LAW  COPYRIGHT  AND  OTHER  PROPERTY  RIGHTS  IN  THESE  PLANS.  THESE  PLANS  ARE  NOT  TO  BE  REPRODUCED,  CHANGED  OR  COPIED  IN  ANY  FORM  OR  MANNER  WHATSOEVER,  NOR  ARE  THEY  TO  BE  ASSIGNED  TO  ANY  THIRD  PARTY  WITHOUT  FIRST  OBTAINING  THE  EXPRESSED  WRITTEN  PERMISSION  AND  CONSENT  OF  JDAVIS  ARCHITECTS,  PLLC

Pr
el

im
in

ar
y 

Pl
at

 R
ev

ie
w

 (M
aj

or
 S

ub
di

vi
si

on
)

Vi
cin

ity
 M

ap
Sh

ee
t In

de
x

Pr
oje

ct 
Te

am
No

tes
C

O
V

ER
  

0
EX

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

PL
A

N
  

1-
3

EX
IS

TI
N

G
 C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

S 
PL

A
N

  
2-

3
EX

IS
TI

N
G

 C
O

N
D

IT
IO

N
S 

PL
A

N
  

3-
3

M
A

ST
ER

 P
LA

N
  

4
PH

A
SI

N
G

 P
LA

N
  

5
R

EC
R

EA
TI

O
N

 &
 O

PE
N

 S
PA

C
E 

PL
A

N
  

6
V

EH
IC

U
LA

R
 &

 P
ED

ES
TR

IA
N

 C
IR

C
U

LA
TI

O
N

 P
LA

N
  

7
ST

R
EE

T 
W

A
IV

ER
 R

EQ
U

ES
TS

  
8

1s
t S

ub
m

itt
al

: O
ct

ob
er

 0
1,

 2
01

4
2n

d 
Su

bm
itt

al
: O

ct
ob

er
 2

4,
 2

01
4

3r
d 

Su
bm

itt
al

: N
ov

em
be

r 1
0,

 2
01

4
4t

h 
Su

bm
itt

al
: J

an
ua

ry
 7

, 2
01

5
5t

h 
Su

bm
itt

al
: J

an
ua

ry
 1

4,
 2

01
5

6t
h 

Su
bm

itt
al

: J
an

ua
ry

 2
0,

 2
01

5
7t

h 
Su

bm
itt

al
: F

eb
ru

ar
y 

13
, 2

01
5

8t
h 

Su
bm

itt
al

: F
eb

ru
ar

y 
23

, 2
01

5

St
ee

pl
ec

ha
se

 S
ub

di
vi

si
on

11
62

 C
ov

er
ed

 B
ri

dg
e 

Ro
ad

C
la

yt
on

, J
oh

ns
to

n 
C

ou
nt

y,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

52
0

PS
D 

20
14

-1
28

 &
 P

DD
 20

14
-1

27

O
W

N
ER

:
N

an
cy

 C
re

w
s E

ar
p 

&
M

ar
y 

Ea
rp

 W
or

le
y

72
30

 N
C

 4
2 

Ea
st

Se
lm

a,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

57
6

91
9-

96
5-

57
93

 &
 9

19
-9

15
-1

51
5

na
nc

ye
ar

p@
be

lls
ou

th
.n

et
w

in
kw

or
le

y@
gm

ai
l.c

om

D
EV

EL
O

PE
R:

G
al

ax
y 

N
C

, L
LC

c/
o 

W
ak

ef
ie

ld
 D

ev
el

op
m

en
t C

om
pa

ny
31

00
 S

m
ok

et
re

e 
C

ou
rt

, S
ui

te
 2

10
Ra

le
ig

h,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

60
4

91
9-

55
6-

43
10

91
9-

55
6-

06
90

 (f
ax

)
ke

m
@

w
ak

ed
ev

.c
om

C
O

N
SU

LT
AN

TS
:

PI
N 

NU
MB

ER
(S

):
16

69
00

-3
8-

49
97

DE
ED

: BO
OK

 03
89

7, 
PA

GE
 07

35
SI

TE
 A

RE
:

27
,48

8,9
74

 S
F/

63
1.0

6 A
C(

AS
SE

SS
ED

 A
CR

EA
GE

); 
27

,48
8,1

02
 S

F/
63

1.0
4 A

C 
(C

AL
C.

 A
CR

EA
GE

)
ZO

NI
NG

(S
):

R-
8, 

R-
10

, N
EI

GH
BO

RH
OO

D 
BU

SI
NE

SS
  (

B-
2)

HO
RI

ZO
NT

AL
 A

ND
 V

ER
TI

CA
L D

AT
UM

:
NA

D 
83

 F
 &

 N
AV

D 
88

 F

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 be

lo
w.

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
ar

ch
ite

ct
JD

av
is

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
s, 

PL
LC

51
0 

G
le

nw
oo

d 
Av

en
ue

, S
ui

te
 2

01
Ra

le
ig

h,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

60
3

91
9-

83
5-

15
00

91
9-

83
5-

15
10

 (f
ax

)
ke

nt
@

jd
av

is
ar

ch
ite

ct
s.c

om

en
gi

ne
er

Th
e 

Jo
hn

 R
. M

cA
da

m
s C

o,
 IN

C
29

05
 M

er
id

ia
n 

Pa
rk

w
ay

D
ur

ha
m

, N
or

th
 C

ar
ol

in
a 

27
71

3
91

9-
36

1-
50

00
M

oo
re

@
M

cA
da

m
sC

o.
co

m
0

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 20

00
'

20
00

'
10

00
'

20
00

'

su
rv

ey
or

Th
e 

Jo
hn

 R
. M

cA
da

m
s C

o,
 IN

C
29

05
 M

er
id

ia
n 

Pa
rk

w
ay

D
ur

ha
m

, N
or

th
 C

ar
ol

in
a 

27
71

3
91

9-
36

1-
50

00
Fr

ed
er

ic
k@

M
cA

da
m

sC
o.

co
m

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

BROOKHILL
 DRIVE

CO
VE

RE
D 

BR
ID

GE

la
nd

sc
ap

e 
ar

ch
ite

ct
Je

rr
y 

Tu
rn

er
 &

 A
ss

oc
ia

te
s, 

IN
C

90
5 

Jo
ne

s F
ra

nk
lin

 R
oa

d
Ra

le
ig

h,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

60
6

91
9-

85
1-

71
50

91
9-

85
1-

75
47

 (f
ax

)
w

ho
od

@
je

rr
yt

ur
ne

ra
ss

oc
.c

om

tr
af

fic
 e

ng
in

ee
r

D
av

en
po

rt
30

5 
W

es
t F

or
th

 S
tr

ee
t, 

Su
ite

 2
A

W
in

st
on

-S
al

em
, N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

10
1

33
6-

74
4-

16
36

33
6-

45
8-

93
77

 (f
ax

)

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l
Sp

an
gl

er
 E

nv
ir

on
m

en
ta

l, 
IN

C
43

38
 B

la
nd

 R
oa

d
Ra

le
ig

h,
 N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a 
27

60
9

91
9-

87
5-

42
88

91
9-

54
6-

07
57

 (f
ax

)

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127
Page 118 of 282



Page 119 of 282



Page 120 of 282



Page 121 of 282



OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

4

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N

KT
, S

B

KT MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

SI
TE

 D
AT

A:

SI
TE

 A
DD

RE
SS

: 
11

62
 C

OV
ER

ED
 B

RI
DG

E 
RO

AD
, C

LA
YT

ON
, J

OH
NS

TO
N 

CO
UN

TY
, N

C 
27

52
0

TO
W

N 
LIM

IT
 O

R 
ET

J:
W

IT
HI

N 
TO

W
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
, T

OW
N 

LIM
IT

AC
RE

AG
E:

27
,48

8,9
74

 S
F/

63
1.0

6 A
C 

(A
SS

ES
SE

D)
; 2

7,4
88

,10
2 S

F/
63

1.0
4 A

C 
(C

AL
C.

 A
RE

A)
NC

 P
IN

 N
UM

BE
R:

06
69

00
-3

8-
49

97
PA

RC
EL

 ID
/T

AG
:

05
H0

20
09

TA
X 

UN
IQ

UE
 ID

:
38

69
84

6
OW

NE
RS

:
NA

NC
Y 

CR
EW

S 
EA

RP
 &

 M
AR

Y 
EA

RP
 W

OR
LE

Y
OW

NE
RS

' A
DD

RE
SS

:
72

30
 N

C 
42

 E
AS

T,
 S

EL
MA

, N
C 

27
57

6
DE

ED
 B

OO
K:

BO
OK

 03
89

7, 
PA

GE
 07

35
ZO

NI
NG

(S
):

R-
8, 

R-
10

, N
B 

(B
-2

)
OV

ER
LA

Y 
DI

ST
RI

CT
:

W
AT

ER
SH

ED
 P

RO
TE

CT
IO

N 
OV

ER
LA

Y 
DI

ST
RI

CT
W

AT
ER

SH
ED

 P
RO

TE
CT

IO
N 

OV
ER

LA
Y:

YE
S 

(S
OU

TH
EA

ST
 P

OR
TI

ON
 O

F 
TH

E 
SI

TE
 O

NL
Y)

RE
SO

UR
CE

 C
ON

SE
RV

AT
IO

N 
AR

EA
:

0 A
C

AN
NE

XA
TI

ON
 N

UM
BE

R:
N/

A
FE

MA
:

FI
RM

 P
AN

EL
 - 

37
20

17
60

00
J; 

EF
FE

CT
IV

E 
DA

TE
 - 

12
/02

/20
05

FL
OO

D 
PL

AI
N 

EX
IS

TS
 W

IT
HI

N 
TH

IS
 S

IT
E

EX
IS

TI
NG

 U
SE

:
VA

CA
NT

EX
IS

TI
NG

 D
EN

SI
TY

:
0 D

U 
/ A

C
PR

OP
OS

ED
 M

AX
IM

UM
 D

.U
:

2,2
00

PR
OP

OS
ED

 C
OM

ME
RC

IA
L M

AX
IM

UM
 S

F:
75

,00
0 S

F
PR

OP
OS

ED
 D

EN
SI

TY
:

3.4
9 D

U 
/ A

C
PR

OP
OS

ED
 U

SE
:

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L A

ND
 C

OM
ME

RC
IA

L
EL

EC
TR

IC
 P

RO
VI

DE
R:

TO
W

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

W
AT

ER
 P

RO
VI

DE
R:

TO
W

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

SE
W

ER
 P

RO
VI

DE
R:

TO
W

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

EX
IS

TI
NG

 IM
PE

RV
IO

US
 A

RE
A:

0 S
F 

/ 0
 A

C 
/ 0

 %
PR

OP
OS

ED
 IM

PE
RV

IO
US

 A
RE

A:
19

,24
2,2

81
 S

F 
/ 4

41
.74

 A
C 

/ 7
0%

OV
ER

AL
L M

AX
IM

UM
 IM

PE
RV

IO
US

 A
RE

A:
70

%

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

1
PO

TE
NT

IA
L S

CH
OO

L S
IT

E
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 40
0'

ST
RE

ET
 T

RE
ES

 N
OT

ES
:

1.
ST

RE
ET

 T
RE

ES
 M

US
T 

BE
 P

LA
CE

D 
A

MA
XI

MU
M 

OF
 60

 F
EE

T 
& 

MI
NI

MU
M 

OF
 40

FE
ET

 A
PA

RT
.

2.
AL

L S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
W

ILL
 B

E 
CA

NO
PY

TR
EE

S 
(A

S 
IS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D 
BY

 T
HE

 C
OD

E)
.

NO
TE

S:

1.
TH

E 
IN

TE
RN

AL
 S

TR
EE

T 
SY

ST
EM

 A
S

DE
PI

CT
ED

 IS
 C

ON
CE

PT
UA

L O
NL

Y 
TO

SH
OW

 G
EN

ER
AL

 D
ES

IG
N 

AN
D

CO
NN

EC
TI

VI
TY

, A
ND

 T
HA

T 
AC

TU
AL

AL
IG

NM
EN

T 
MA

Y 
CH

AN
GE

 D
UR

IN
G 

FI
NA

L
PL

AT
 D

ES
IG

N.
 T

HE
 E

XC
EP

TI
ON

 IS
MO

DI
FI

CA
TI

ON
 O

F 
CO

NN
EC

TI
ON

 P
OI

NT
S

TO
 E

XT
ER

NA
L R

OA
DW

AY
 N

ET
W

OR
KS

 A
ND

MA
JO

R 
EN

TR
AN

CE
S 

TO
 T

HE
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T,
 W

HI
CH

 C
ON

ST
IT

UT
E 

A
MA

JO
R 

MO
DI

FI
CA

TI
ON

 A
ND

 M
US

T 
BE

AP
PR

OV
ED

 B
Y 

TH
E 

TO
W

N 
CO

UN
CI

L.

Page 122 of 282



10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C
MATCHLIN

E SHEET 4-B

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-A

4A

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

KT
, S

B

KT MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- S
OU

TH

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- S
OU

TH

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127
Page 123 of 282



EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C
MATCHLIN

E SHEET 4-B

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-A

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-C

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-B

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

4B

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

20
0'

10
0'

0
20

0'
40

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 20

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

KT
, S

B

KT MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- N
OR

TH
W

ES
T

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- N
OR

TH
W

ES
T

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

1
PO

TE
NT

IA
L S

CH
OO

L S
IT

E
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 40
0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

Page 124 of 282



OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-C

MATCHLIN
E SHEET 4-B

4C

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

20
0'

10
0'

0
20

0'
40

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 20

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

KT
, S

B

KT MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- N
OR

TH
EA

ST

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

MA
ST

ER
 P

LA
N 

- N
OR

TH
EA

ST

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

SM
AL

L L
OT

 S
IN

GL
E 

FA
MI

LY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
ME

DI
UM

 LO
T 

SI
NG

LE
 F

AM
ILY

 (D
ET

AC
HE

D)
•

LA
RG

E 
LO

T 
SI

NG
LE

 F
AM

ILY
 (D

ET
AC

HE
D)

•
AT

TA
CH

ED
 S

IN
GL

E 
FA

MI
LY

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

TO
W

NH
OM

ES

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L U

SE
•

CO
ND

OM
IN

IU
MS

•
AP

AR
TM

EN
TS

 / T
OW

NH
OM

E 
OP

TI
ON

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127
Page 125 of 282



FLOODWAY

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

19

22
2528

33

2

7

1

3

9

13

4

5

11

10

12

6

14

8

17
21

16

23

20

24
26

27

31
29

30

34

32 FU
TU

RE

35

15

18

5

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

KT
, S

B

KT PH
AS

IN
G 

PL
AN

. .

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

PH
AS

IN
G 

PL
AN

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

NO
TE

S:

TH
E 

CL
UB

HO
US

E 
PE

RM
IT

 S
HA

LL
 B

E
RE

QU
IR

ED
 P

RI
OR

 T
O 

TH
E 

25
1S

T
BU

ILD
IN

G 
PE

RM
IT

.

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127
Page 126 of 282



TR
AI

L H
EA

D
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH

GR
EE

NW
AY

TR
AI

L (
TO

 M
TS

T)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
BY

 O
TH

ER
S 

- P
HA

SE
 II

- C
ON

NE
CT

 T
O 

MT
ST

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

FU
TU

RE
CL

UB
HO

US
E

TO
T

TO
T

TO
T

PO
CK

ET

PO
CK

ET

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

OP
EN

PL
AY

FI
EL

DS

*

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y+/
- 4

00
'

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

C2015

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

RE
CR

EA
TI

ON
 &

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE
 P

LA
N

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
 B

RA
NC

H 
GR

EE
NW

AY
 - 

PH
AS

E 
II

BY
 O

TH
ER

S

AC
TI

VE
 R

EC
RE

AT
IO

NA
L O

PE
N 

SP
AC

E

RI
PA

RI
AN

 B
UF

FE
RS

 A
ND

 F
LO

OD
PL

AI
N

20
' T

YP
E 

"C
" P

ER
IM

ET
ER

 B
UF

FE
R

PA
SS

IV
E 

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
UB

LIC
 10

' M
UL

TI
-P

UP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L

•
CO

VE
RE

D 
BR

ID
GE

 R
OA

D
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D

•
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

EX
IS

TI
NG

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
•

CL
AY

TO
N 

RI
VE

R 
W

AL
K

•
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RI

VA
TE

 G
RE

EN
W

AY

DO
UB

LE
 S

ID
EW

AL
K

SI
DE

W
AL

K 
AN

D 
GR

EE
NW

AY

NO
TE

S:

AL
L A

CT
IV

E 
RE

CR
EA

TI
ON

 S
IT

ES
/P

AR
KS

 M
US

T
RE

CE
IV

E 
SE

PA
RA

TE
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

 A
PP

RO
VA

L.

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

6

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

IS
SU

E:

RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

KT
, S

B

KT RE
CR

EA
TI

ON
 &

OP
EN

 S
PA

CE
 P

LA
N

.

Page 127 of 282



*

EXISTING UTILIT
Y EASEMENT

POTE
NTIA

L

SCHOOL S
ITE

100 YEAR FLOOD

FLOODWAY

*3

CL
UB

HO
US

E

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
 T

O
PR

IV
AT

E
PA

RK
IN

G 
AR

EA

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
TO

 P
RI

VA
TE

ST
RE

ET

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

CA
SS

ED
AL

E

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

OL
D 

MI
LL

ST
RE

AM

TR
AN

SI
TI

ON
 T

O
PR

IV
AT

E
PA

RK
IN

G 
AR

EA

10
0 Y

EA
R

FL
OO

D TR
AI

L H
EA

D
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH

GR
EE

NW
AY

TR
AI

L (
TO

 M
TS

T)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
 -

PH
AS

E 
II -

 C
ON

NE
CT

TO
 M

TS
T

OL
D 

RO
AD

 A
LIG

NM
EN

T.
PO

SS
IB

LE
 R

EU
SE

 A
S

PR
IV

AT
E 

RO
AD

PR
OP

OS
ED

RE
AL

IG
NM

EN
T

BY
 N

CD
OT

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

EM
ER

GE
NC

Y
AC

CE
SS

 O
NL

Y

SM
IT

H 
RI

DG
E

ES
TA

TE
S

EN
D 

OF
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

SM
IT

H 
DR

IV
E

+/
- 4

00
'

PO
TE

NT
IA

L
SC

HO
OL

 S
IT

E
+/

- 2
8 A

C

C2015

NA
D 

83
 F

 &
 N

AV
D 

88
 F

40
0'

20
0'

0
40

0'
80

0'

SC
AL

E:
  1

" =
 40

0' 
 

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

W
AI

VE
R 

RE
QU

ES
TS

:

1.
AL

L I
NT

ER
NA

L S
TR

EE
TS

 W
ILL

 H
AV

E 
SI

DE
W

AL
K

ON
 A

T 
LE

AS
T 

ON
E 

SI
DE

 T
O 

PR
OV

ID
E 

A
NE

TW
OR

K 
OF

 P
ED

ES
TR

IA
N 

AC
CE

SS
TH

RO
UG

HO
UT

 T
HE

 S
IT

E 
AN

D 
CO

NN
EC

TI
ON

TO
 T

HE
 P

RI
VA

TE
 IN

TE
RN

AL
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

 T
HA

T
W

ILL
 C

ON
NE

CT
 T

O 
TH

E 
FU

TU
RE

 S
AM

'S
BR

AN
CH

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
 E

XT
EN

SI
ON

.

2.
TH

IS
 P

RO
PO

SA
L R

EQ
UE

ST
S 

TH
AT

 IN
 A

LL
ST

RE
ET

 S
EC

TI
ON

S,
 S

TA
ND

AR
D 

CU
RB

 A
ND

GU
TT

ER
 C

AN
 B

E 
IN

TE
RC

HA
NG

ED
 W

IT
H 

TO
W

N
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

 V
AL

LE
Y 

CU
RB

 A
ND

 G
UT

TE
R 

OR
RO

LL
ED

 C
UR

B 
AN

D 
GU

TT
ER

.

*3
PR

OP
OS

ED
 R

ES
ID

EN
TI

AL
 S

TR
EE

T 
W

IT
H

CA
L-

DE
-S

AC
 E

XC
EE

DS
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
MA

XI
MU

M 
LE

NG
TH

.  R
EQ

UE
ST

 A
PP

RO
VA

L O
F

1,0
00

 LF
 C

AL
-D

E-
SA

C.

4. 
TH

IS
 P

RO
PO

SA
L R

EQ
UE

ST
S 

TH
AT

 A
LL

PL
AN

TE
R 

ST
RI

PS
 B

E 
IN

CR
EA

SE
D 

TO
 6'

 W
ID

E
AN

D 
TH

AT
 T

RE
E 

SP
EC

IE
S 

AR
E 

TO
 B

E
AP

PR
OV

ED
 B

Y 
TH

E 
PL

AN
NI

NG
 D

IR
EC

TO
R.

R

Kn
ow

 w
ha

t's
 b

elo
w.

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

RE
FE

R 
SH

EE
T 

8 O
F 

8 F
OR

 S
TR

EE
T

W
AI

VE
R 

RE
QU

ES
TS

VE
HI

CU
LA

R 
& 

PE
DE

ST
RI

AN
CI

RC
UL

AT
IO

N 
PL

AN

LE
GE

ND
:

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
OA

D 
RE

AL
IG

NM
EN

T
BY

 D
EV

EL
OP

ER

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
OL

LE
CT

OR
 S

TR
EE

T
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T 

(N
CD

OT
)

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D 

(N
CD

OT
)

BR
OO

KH
ILL

 D
RI

VE
 (E

XI
ST

IN
G 

NC
DO

T)

EX
IS

TI
NG

 C
OV

ER
ED

 B
RI

DG
E 

RO
AD

 (N
CD

OT
)

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L S

TR
EE

T 
(P

UB
LIC

)

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L C

OL
LE

CT
OR

 S
TR

EE
T 

(P
UB

LIC
)

SI
TE

SI
TE

SI
TE

1
VI

CI
NI

TY
 M

AP
SC

AL
E:

  1
" =

 3,
00

0'

LE
GE

ND
:

EX
IS

TI
NG

 G
RE

EN
W

AY
•

CL
AY

TO
N 

RI
VE

R 
W

AL
K

•
SA

M'
S 

BR
AN

CH
 G

RE
EN

W
AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 S
AM

'S
 B

RA
NC

H 
- P

HA
SE

 II
BY

 O
TH

ER
S

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L S

TR
EE

T 
(P

RI
VA

TE
)

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
UB

LIC
 10

' M
UL

TI
-P

UP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L

•
CO

VE
RE

D 
BR

ID
GE

 R
OA

D
•

N.
 O

'N
EI

L S
TR

EE
T

•
CI

TY
 R

OA
D

•
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

PR
OP

OS
ED

 P
RI

VA
TE

LY
 M

AI
NT

AI
NE

D
GR

EE
NW

AY

PR
OP

OS
ED

 R
OA

D 
RE

AL
IG

NM
EN

T
BY

 N
CD

OT

RE
SI

DE
NT

IA
L M

AI
N 

EN
TR

AN
CE

ST
RE

ET
 T

RE
ES

 N
OT

ES
:

1.
ST

RE
ET

 S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
MU

ST
 B

E 
PL

AC
ED

 A
MA

XI
MU

M 
OF

 60
 F

EE
T 

AP
AR

T

2.
AL

L S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
W

ILL
 B

E 
CA

NO
PY

 T
RE

ES
(A

S 
IS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D 
BY

 T
HE

 C
OD

E)
.

NO
TE

:

TH
E 

IN
TE

RN
AL

 S
TR

EE
T 

SY
ST

EM
 A

S 
DE

PI
CT

ED
 IS

CO
NC

EP
TU

AL
 O

NL
Y 

TO
 S

HO
W

 G
EN

ER
AL

 D
ES

IG
N 

AN
D

CO
NN

EC
TI

VI
TY

, A
ND

 T
HA

T 
AC

TU
AL

 A
LIG

NM
EN

T 
MA

Y
CH

AN
GE

 D
UR

IN
G 

FI
NA

L P
LA

T 
DE

SI
GN

. T
HE

 E
XC

EP
TI

ON
 IS

MO
DI

FI
CA

TI
ON

 O
F 

CO
NN

EC
TI

ON
 P

OI
NT

S 
TO

 E
XT

ER
NA

L
RO

AD
W

AY
 N

ET
W

OR
KS

 A
ND

 M
AJ

OR
 E

NT
RA

NC
ES

 T
O 

TH
E

DE
VE

LO
PM

EN
T,

 W
HI

CH
 C

ON
ST

IT
UT

E 
A 

MA
JO

R
MO

DI
FI

CA
TI

ON
 A

ND
 M

US
T 

BE
 A

PP
RO

VE
D 

BY
 T

HE
 T

OW
N

CO
UN

CI
L.

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

7

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

IS
SU

E:

RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

KT
, S

B

KT VE
HI

CU
LA

R 
& 

PE
DE

ST
RI

AN

CI
RC

UL
AT

IO
N 

PL
AN

.

EA
RP

 P
ON

D 
RO

AD
 C

OL
LE

CT
OR

Page 128 of 282



CENTER LINE60
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-B

15
.5'

ROW

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

10
' M

UL
TI

 P
AT

H
RE

FE
R 

TO
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
DT

L #
 2 4

01
.03

5'

BUILDING FACE

GREENWAY EASEMENT

5.5
'

GR
EE

NW
AY

EA
SE

ME
NT

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

5'

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

CENTER LINE54
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-E

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

15
.5'

6.5
'

POND SIDE ROW

ROW

2.5
'

DI
TC

H

CENTER LINE

10
' M

UL
TI

 P
AT

H
RE

FE
R 

TO
 T

OW
N 

OF
 C

LA
YT

ON
DT

L #
 2 4

01
.03

6' 
MI

NI
MU

M
3:1

 M
AX

 C
UT

OR
 F

ILL

UTILITY EASEMENT2'

UTILITY EASEMENT2'

CO
MM

ON
 A

RE
A

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

GREENWAY EASEMENT

5'

VA
RI

AB
LE

 W
ID

TH
GR

EE
NW

AY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

CENTER LINE51
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

15
.5'

31
' B

-B

15
.5'

ROW

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

5'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

2.5
'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

5'

CENTER LINE70
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

12
'

TR
AV

EL
 W

AY
45

' E
-E

ROW

10
.5'

PA
RA

LL
EL

 P
AR

KI
NG

ROW

12
'

TR
AV

EL
 W

AY
6.5

'
6.5

'
10

.5'
PA

RA
LL

EL
 P

AR
KI

NG
6'

SI
DE

W
AL

K

2'
2'

UTILITY EASEMENT

UTILITY EASEMENT

6'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

CENTER LINE60
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

10
'

20
' E

-E

10
'

ROW

ROW

DI
TC

H
DI

TC
H 20
'

20
'

5'
SH

OU
LD

ER
5'

SH
OU

LD
ER

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

6.5
' M

IN
IM

UM

UTILITY EASEMENT

UTILITY EASEMENT

2'
2'

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

SETBACK

82
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

ROW

17
'

18
' B

-B
6.5

'

1'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

3:1
 M

AX
 C

UT
OR

 F
ILL

2.5
'

CENTER LINE

UTILITY EASEMENT

2'
2'

ROW

18
' B

-B
6.5

'

1'

5'
SI

DE
W

AL
K

2.5
'

UTILITY EASEMENT

3:1
 M

AX
 C

UT
OR

 F
ILL

CENTER LINE50
'

PU
BL

IC
 R

OW

13
.5'

27
' B

-B

2'
5'

SI
DE

W
AL

K
13

.5'
6.5

'

ROW

2.5
'

UTILITY EASEMENT2'
2'

2.5
'

2'
5'

SI
DE

W
AL

K
6.5

'

ROW

UTILITY EASEMENT

BUILDING FACE

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

SETBACK

10
' M

IN
IM

UM
SE

TB
AC

K

BUILDING FACE

CENTER LINE20
'

EA
SE

ME
NT

 O
R 

CO
MM

ON
 P

RO
PE

RT
Y

8'
8'

16
' E

-E

1
BR

OO
KH

ILL
 D

RI
VE

 (N
CD

OT
)

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

C

IS
SU

E:

2015

Steeplechase Subdivision
1162 Covered Bridge Road
Clayton, Johnston County, North Carolina 27520

W
DC

-1
40

80
10

.01
.20

14

Pr
eli

m.
 P

lat
 (M

jr S
ub

)
10

.01
.20

14

.
.

.
.

.
.

.
.

1s
t R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

10
.24

.20
14

3r
d R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.07

.20
15

4th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.14

.20
15

5th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

01
.20

.20
15

6th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.13

.20
15

c/o Wakefield Development Company
Galaxy NC, LLC 2n

d R
ev

iew
 C

om
me

nts
11

.10
.20

14

7th
 R

ev
iew

 C
om

me
nts

02
.23

.20
15

Pr
eli

mi
na

ry 
Pl

at
Re

vie
w

(M
ajo

r S
ub

div
isi

on
)

No
t fo

r C
on

str
uc

tio
n

2
EA

RP
 P

ON
D 

RO
AD

 C
OL

LE
CT

OR
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

3
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L C
OL

LE
CT

OR
 S

TR
EE

T
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

6
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

I"
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

NO
TE

S:

1.
IN

 A
LL

 S
TR

EE
T 

SE
CT

IO
NS

, S
TA

ND
AR

D 
CU

RB
 A

ND
 G

UT
TE

R 
CA

N 
BE

 IN
TE

RC
HA

NG
ED

 W
IT

H 
TO

W
N 

OF
CL

AY
TO

N 
ST

AN
DA

RD
 V

AL
LE

Y 
CU

RB
 A

ND
 G

UT
TE

R 
OR

 R
OL

LE
D 

CU
RB

 A
ND

 G
UT

TE
R.

2.
TH

E 
UL

TI
MA

TE
 S

EC
TI

ON
 F

OR
 A

LL
 N

CD
OT

 R
OA

DS
 O

N 
TH

E 
PE

RI
ME

TE
R 

OF
 T

HE
 P

RO
JE

CT
 W

ILL
 B

E
DE

TE
RM

IN
ED

 B
AS

ED
 O

N 
TI

A,
 N

CD
OT

, A
ND

 T
OW

N 
OF

 C
LA

YT
ON

 R
EC

OM
ME

ND
AT

IO
NS

.

3.
DE

VE
LO

PE
R 

TO
 P

RO
VI

DE
 10

' M
UL

TI
PU

RP
OS

E 
TR

AI
L I

N 
LIE

U 
OF

 S
ID

EW
AL

KS
 O

N 
CI

TY
 R

OA
D 

AN
D 

N.
ON

EI
L S

TR
EE

T

5
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

" -
 LO

W
 D

EN
SI

TY
 O

PT
IO

N
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

4
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L M
AI

N 
EN

TR
AN

CE
 A

LT
ER

NA
TE

 "C
"

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS

7
RE

SI
DE

NT
IA

L S
TR

EE
T 

OP
TI

ON
 "I

II"
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

8
AL

LE
Y

SC
AL

E:
 N

TS
9

NO
TE

S
SC

AL
E:

 N
TS

ST
RE

ET
 T

RE
ES

 N
OT

ES
:

1.
ST

RE
ET

 T
RE

ES
 M

US
T 

BE
 P

LA
CE

D 
A 

MA
XI

MU
M 

OF
 40

 F
EE

T 
ON

 C
EN

TE
R 

OR
 50

 F
EE

T 
AP

AR
T.

2.
AL

L S
TR

EE
T 

TR
EE

S 
W

ILL
 B

E 
CA

NO
PY

 T
RE

ES
 (A

S 
IS

 R
EQ

UI
RE

D 
BY

 T
HE

 C
OD

E)
.

PSD 2014-128 & PDD 2014-127

8

CO
NT

EN
T:

CH
EC

KE
D 

BY
:

DR
AW

N 
BY

:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

DA
TE

IS
SU

E:

RE
VI

SI
ON

S:

KT
, S

B

KT ST
RE

ET
 W

AI
VE

R 
RE

QU
ES

TS

. .

Page 129 of 282



 

Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development 
Clayton, NC 

TRANSPORTATION IMPACT ANALYSIS
 Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co.

Project Number: 14-425 
11/6/2014 

This report is printed on recycled paper with 30% 
post-consumer content. 

All paper is FSC Certified. The entire document, 
including binding, is 100% recyclable. 

Page 130 of 282



Page 131 of 282



Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Clayton, NC 
Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co. 
November 6, 2014 

Executive Summary 

The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The site is 
proposed to have access points on Covered Bridge Road, O’Neil Street and Brookhill 
Drive. The site plan is shown in Figure 1. This study analyzes two phases for the 
property’s development. Phase 1 is located south of Covered Bridge Road and Phase 2 
is located north of Covered Bridge Road and includes the proposed retail uses at the 
southwest corner of Covered Bridge Road and O'Neil Street. 

Phase 1 development assumed 498 single family dwelling units and 320 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road and one (1) access 
point on O’Neil Street.  

Full Build development (including Phase 1) was assumed to have a total of 1,118 
single family dwelling units, 643 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units 
and 25,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2019. 

It should be noted that the land uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were 
established for analytical purposes and do not necessarily represent a prediction 
of the development schedule.  

DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic. The 
following intersections were included in the study: 

1. Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive
2. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1
3. Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2
4. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3
5. Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street
6. O’Neil Street at Site Access 4
7. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5
8. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 6
9. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 7
10. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 8
11. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9
12. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10
13. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11
14. Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road

Page 132 of 282



According to the site plan there are an additional five (5) access points along state 
maintained roads, one (1) on Covered Bridge Road and four (4) on Brookhill Drive. 
These roads are designed into a network of residential streets that have other outlets to 
the main corridor. Since the majority of this development is residential and is the 
primary generator of traffic, it was assumed that the percentage of traffic would be low 
at these access points. Therefore, the study intersections were narrowed down to the 
major access points on the state maintained roads.  

The study intersections were analyzed during AM (7-9) and PM (4-6) peaks for the 
following conditions:  

• 2014 Existing Conditions
• 2017 Future No Build Conditions
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out Conditions
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary)
• 2019 Future No Build Conditions
• 2019 Full Build-Out Conditions
• 2019 Full Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary)

NCDOT was contacted to obtain background information and to ascertain the elements 
to be covered in this Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA). Information regarding the 
property was provided by Wakefield Development Co. 

Page 133 of 282



Phase 1 - Discussion of Results 

The following section discusses 2017 Phase 1 level of service for each intersection. 

Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 

In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM and PM peak. No improvements are recommended.  

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 

In Phase 1 Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peak. No improvements are 
recommended.  

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 

This intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks during 
Phase 1 future build conditions. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound right turn 
lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  In order 
to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 

• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper

With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM 
peak and LOS C in the PM peak. 

Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 

In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. This LOS F condition is due to a 
lack of sufficient gaps for left-turning vehicles from the stop-controlled approach, which 
is the result of conflicting traffic volumes on O’Neil Street. With the addition of Phase 1 
site traffic, LOS D is expected in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak.  

Page 134 of 282



This intersection is anticipated to operate at a deficient level of service regardless of the 
proposed development. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, the 
following improvements are recommended: 

• Provide northbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide southbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Realignment as depicted in the site plan

With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peak, reducing the AM delay by 9.7 seconds and the PM 
delay by 125.6 seconds. The LOS F condition is anticipated to be limited to the peak 
hour and the SimTraffic model results indicate that there are no queuing issues. 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 

In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
B in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 

In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Phase 1 site 
traffic, LOS F is expected in the AM and PM peaks.  

As further discussed in the report, the existing traffic volumes at this intersection 
indicate that a signal is currently warranted. Therefore, in order to improve the operation 
and safety of this intersection, the following improvements are recommended: 

• Signalize the intersection
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 200 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Provide southbound left turn lane with 200 feet of storage and appropriate taper
• Restripe westbound lane to provide right turn lane with 100 feet of storage

With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS B in the PM peak. 

Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 for Phase 1.  

Page 135 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,3

50
'

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

~1
,2

60
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

200'10
0'

200'

100'

100'
10

0'

10
0'

~1
,1

80
' 10

0'

100'

~2
,1

80
'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
9

P
H

A
S

E
1 

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil Street

City Road

Shotwell Road

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~1,240'

Page 136 of 282



Phase 1 Level of Service Summary 

Table A presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 

Table A - Level of Service Summary – Phase 1 Build Conditions 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 
Build + 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (12.8) 
SB Approach 

C (18.8) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1 

C (17.4) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (11.3) 
SB Approach 

C (21.8) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3 

C (15.7) 
NB Approach 

B (13.9) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
O'Neil Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (18.0) 
EB Approach 

D (27.1) 
EB Approach 

C (17.4) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 B (12.6) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Shotwell Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

E (40.5) 
WB Approach 

F (266.0) 
WB Approach 

C (23.5) 
Signalized 

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 
Build + 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (13.1) 
NB Approach 

C (18.4) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1 

C (21.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (12.3) 
SB Approach 

D (31.6) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3 

C (20.2) 
NB Approach 

C (16.9) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
O'Neil Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (104.1) 
EB Approach 

F (254.7) 
EB Approach 

F (129.1) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 B (14.5) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Shotwell Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (50.9) 
WB Approach 

F (426.5) 
WB Approach 

B (16.4) 
Signalized 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 137 of 282



Full Build Discussion of Results 

The following section discusses 2019 Full Build level of service for each intersection. 

Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 

In 2019 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peak. This LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the 
peak periods. Therefore, no improvements are recommended.  

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 

In Full Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS E in the AM peak 
and LOS F in the PM. The LOS E/F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized 
intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In 
addition, site traffic will have the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including 
signals, which will serve as a relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

In 2019 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peaks. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, 
it is recommended to: 

• Signalize the intersection
• Provide an eastbound left turn lane of 400 feet of storage with appropriate taper
• Provide a westbound left turn lane of 150 feet of storage with appropriate taper
• Provide a northbound left turn lane of full storage and a through-right turn lane of

100 feet of storage with appropriate taper
• Provide a southbound full storage for left turn and through-right turn lanes

With these improvements, it is expected to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 

With the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peak. No additional 
improvements are recommended. 

Page 138 of 282



Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 

In 2019 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Full Build site 
traffic, LOS E is expected in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak with the 
improvements in place from Phase 1. It is recommended to signalize this intersection in 
order to accommodate future traffic volumes. 

With this improvement, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and 
PM peaks. 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 6 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS D in 
the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peak. A LOS E is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections, but delays are expected to be minimal. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 7 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 8 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS A in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Page 139 of 282



Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 

In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 

In 2019 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. With the recommended improvements in place from 
Phase 1, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS D in the AM peak and LOS C in 
the PM peak. 

Improvements are illustrated in Figure 14 for Full Build. 

Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street – South Leg 
Looking North 

Page 140 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,3

50
'

~2
,1

80
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

~5
00

'

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~1
,2

60
'

~6
75

'

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
14

FU
LL

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Shotwell Road

200'10
0'

200'

100'

100'

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

10
0'

10
0'

Site Access 1

Site Access 5 Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~1,240'

40
0'

15
0'

100'

FULL

100'

10
0'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

FULL

FULL

Page 141 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill
Drive

Smith Drive

2%

Shotwell Road

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

A
cc

es
s

8

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

~380'~1,820'~1,060'
**

* 
N

O
T 

TO
 S

C
A

LE
 *

**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
14

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

E
D

 
IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~200'~760'

~1,050'

Page 142 of 282



Full Build Level of Service Summary 

Table B presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 

Table B - Level of Service Summary – Full Build Conditions 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2019 Future 
No Build  2019 Full Build 2019 Full Build + 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at 
City Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (13.1) 
SB Approach 

F (50.8) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 1 

E (42.5) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site 

Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (11.5) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (44.5) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 3 

C (17.5) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
O'Neil Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (19.0) 
EB Approach 

E (37.9) 
EB Approach 

 B (12.9) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site 
Access 4 

B (13.1) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 5 

B (14.7) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 6 

D (31.1) 
EB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 7 

C (15.7) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 8 

B (10.5) 
EB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 9 

B (11.2) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 10 

B (11.6) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 11 

B (10.3) 
WB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Shotwell Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

F (50.5) 
WB Approach 

D (44.5) 
Signalized 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 143 of 282



Table B - Level of Service Summary – Full Build Conditions cont. 

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2019 Future 
No Build  2019 Full Build 2019 Full Build + 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at 
City Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (13.4) 
NB Approach 

F (61.5) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 1 

F (66.7) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site 

Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (12.6) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (41.1) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 3 

D (33.8) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
O'Neil Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (139.1) 
EB Approach 

F (406.3) 
EB Approach 

 B (18.5) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site 
Access 4 

C (15.1) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 5 

C (17.8) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Site Access 6 

E (48.5) 
EB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 7 

C (17.4) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 8 

A (9.3) 
EB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 9 

B (11.7) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 10 

B (12.5) 
WB Approach 

Brookhill Drive at Site 
Access 11 

B (10.9) 
WB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Shotwell Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (64.7) 
WB Approach 

C (21.7) 
Signalized 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 144 of 282



Summary and Conclusion 

DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic.  

The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The land 
uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were established for analytical purposes 
and do not necessarily represent a prediction of the development schedule.  

This study analyzes two phases for the property’s development: 

Phase 1 development assumed 498 single family dwelling units and 320 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road and one (1) access 
point on O’Neil Street.  

Full Build development (including Phase 1) was assumed to have a total of 1,118 
single family dwelling units, 643 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units 
and 25,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2019. 

Table C on the following page summarizes the recommended improvements for each 
Phase. Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 and Figure 14 for Phase 1 and Full 
Build, respectively.  

In conclusion, this study has reviewed the impacts of both background traffic and this 
development traffic, and has determined that with the recommended improvements in 
place, there will be adequate capacity to accommodate future traffic. The final design of 
these improvements will need to be coordinated during the site plan approval process.  

Please note that all accesses to the site are required to be constructed to NCDOT 
standards where applicable. 

Page 145 of 282



Table C - Recommended Improvement Summary 
Intersection Phase 1 Full Build 

Covered Bridge 
Road at Brookhill 

Drive/ Site Access 2 
No improvements 

• Signalize intersection
• Provide eastbound left turn lane

of 400 feet of storage with
appropriate taper

• Provide westbound left turn lane
of 150 feet of storage with
appropriate taper

• Provide a northbound left turn
lane of full storage and a
through-right turn lane of 100
feet of storage with appropriate
taper

• Provide a southbound full
storage for left turn and through-
right turn lanes

Covered Bridge 
Road at Site 

Access 3 

• Provide eastbound right turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide westbound left turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide separate northbound
right turn lane of 100 feet of
storage with appropriate taper

No additional improvements 

Covered Bridge 
Road at O’Neil 

Street 

• Provide northbound left turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide southbound right turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide eastbound right turn
lane of 100 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Realignment as depicted in
site plan

• Signalize intersection

Covered Bridge 
Road at Shotwell 

Road 

• Signalize intersection
• Provide northbound left turn

lane of 200 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Provide southbound right turn
lane of 200 feet of storage
with appropriate taper

• Restripe westbound lane to
provide right lane with 100 feet
of storage and appropriate
taper

No additional improvements 

*All other intersections require no improvements

Page 146 of 282



Page 147 of 282



Page 148 of 282



Page 149 of 282



Page 150 of 282



Page 151 of 282



Page 152 of 282



Page 153 of 282



Page 154 of 282



Page 155 of 282



Page 156 of 282



Page 157 of 282



Page 158 of 282



Page 159 of 282



Page 160 of 282



 

Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development 
Clayton, NC 

TRANSPORTATION IMPACT ANALYSIS 
 Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co. 

Project Number: 14-425 
Original: 11/6/2014 
Revised: 2/27/2015 

This report is printed on recycled paper with 30% 
post-consumer content. 

All paper is FSC Certified. The entire document, 
including binding, is 100% recyclable. 

Page 161 of 282



Page 162 of 282



Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Clayton, NC 
Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co. 
Original: November 6, 2014 
Revised: February 27, 2015 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The site is 
proposed to have access points on Covered Bridge Road, O’Neil Street and Brookhill 
Drive. This study analyzes two phases for the property’s development. Phase 1 is 
located south of Covered Bridge Road and Phase 2 is located north of Covered Bridge 
Road and includes the proposed retail uses at the southwest corner of Covered Bridge 
Road and O'Neil Street. 
 
In November 2014, a transportation impact analysis (TIA) was submitted to the Town of 
Clayton and North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT). Since the 
submittal, the site plan has been updated with revised access points and land uses. 
This TIA has been updated to reflect the latest site plan.  
 
Phase 1 development assumed 511 single family dwelling units and 312 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road, one (1) access point 
on City Road and one (1) access point on O’Neil Street.  
 
Full Build development was assumed to have 716 additional single family dwelling 
units, 317 additional townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 
square feet of retail. The combination of both Phase 1 and Full build yield a total of 
1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling 
units and 75,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2025. This phase will add two (2) access points on Covered Bridge Road, 
one (1) access point on O’Neil Street and six (6) access points on Brookhill Drive.  
 
It should be noted that the land uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were 
established for analytical purposes and do not necessarily represent a prediction 
of the development schedule.  
 
DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic. The 
following intersections were included in the study: 
 

1. Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
2. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
3. Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
4. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 

Page 163 of 282



5. Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
6. O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
7. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
8. O’Neil Street at Site Access 6  
9. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 
10. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 
11. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 
12. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12 
13. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13 
14. Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
15. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14 
16. City Road at Site Access 7 
17. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 8 

 
The study intersections were analyzed during AM (7-9) and PM (4-6) peaks for the 
following conditions:  
 

• 2014 Existing Conditions 
• 2017 Future No Build Conditions 
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out Conditions  
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary) 
• 2025 Future No Build Conditions 
• 2025 Full Build-Out Conditions  
• 2025 Full Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary) 

 
Town of Clayton and NCDOT was contacted to obtain background information and to 
ascertain the elements to be covered in this Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA). 
Information regarding the property was provided by Wakefield Development Co. 
 

 

Page 164 of 282



Phase 1 Build Discussion of Results 
 
As discussed in the introduction, Phase 1 considers build out of property located south 
of Covered Bridge Road. As currently planned, Phase 1 development assumes 511 
single family dwelling units and 312 townhome dwelling units. The following section 
discusses 2017 Phase 1 Build level of service for each intersection. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended.  
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended.  
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peaks. The LOS E condition is typical for 
minor streets at unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and 
limited to the peak periods and SimTraffic model does not indicate any queuing issues. 
Therefore, no improvements are recommended. 
  
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
This intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM 
peak during Phase 1 future build conditions. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound 
right turn lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  
In order to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 
 

• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 125 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 

 
Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. This LOS F condition is due to a 
lack of sufficient gaps for left-turning vehicles from the stop-controlled approach, which 
is the result of conflicting traffic volumes on O’Neil Street. With the addition of Phase 1 
site traffic, LOS D is expected in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peaks.  
 

Page 165 of 282



This intersection is anticipated to operate at a deficient level of service regardless of the 
proposed development. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, the 
following improvements are recommended: 
 

• Provide northbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide southbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Realignment as depicted in the site plan 

 
With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peak, reducing the AM delay by 11.5 seconds and the PM 
delay by 138.3 seconds. The LOS F condition is anticipated to be limited to the peak 
hour and the SimTraffic model results indicate that there are no queuing issues.  
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
B in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Phase 1 site 
traffic, LOS F is expected in the AM and PM peaks.  
 
As further discussed in the report, the existing traffic volumes at this intersection 
indicate that a signal is currently warranted. Therefore, in order to improve the operation 
and safety of this intersection, the following improvements are recommended: 
 

• Signalize the intersection 
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 250 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide southbound left turn lane with 225 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Restripe westbound lane to provide right turn lane with 100 feet of storage 

 
With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS B in the PM peak. 
 
City Road at Site Access 7 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
A in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 for Phase 1 in the report. 
  

Page 166 of 282



Phase 1 Build Level of Service Summary 
 
Table A presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 
 

Table A - Level of Service Summary – Phase 1 Build Conditions 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 Build 
with Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (12.8) 
SB Approach 

C (19.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1   

C (17.0) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (11.4) 
SB Approach 

C (24.7) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

B (14.8) 
NB Approach 

B (13.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (18.6) 
EB Approach 

D (30.2) 
EB Approach 

C (18.7) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (12.5)  

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

E (41.8) 
WB Approach 

F (275.3) 
WB Approach 

C (23.3) 
Signalized 

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (8.8) 

WB Approach  

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 Build 
with Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (13.1) 
NB Approach 

C (20.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1   

C (20.5) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

E (36.8) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

C (18.6) 
NB Approach 

C (16.1) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (120.4) 
EB Approach 

F (292.7) 
EB Approach 

F (154.4) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (14.5) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (54.3) 
WB Approach 

F (452.2) 
WB Approach 

B (14.9) 
Signalized 

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (8.8) 

WB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

 

Page 167 of 282



Full Build Discussion of Results 
 
Full Build considers the development located north of Covered Bridge Road and the 
southwest corner of Covered Bridge Road and O’Neil Street. Full Build, including 
Phase 1, development assumes to have a total of 1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 
townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 square feet of retail. 
This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2025. 
 
The following section discusses 2025 Full Build level of service for each intersection. 
During the review of the TIA, the Town of Clayton and NCDOT requested that the 
following intersections: Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive, Covered Bridge 
Road at Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street, be analyzed as a 
roundabout for the future full build-out conditions. The roundabout analyses were 
analyzed with SIDRA, reports are in the appendix. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peak. This LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the 
peak periods. The traffic simulation does not indicate any queuing issues at this 
intersection. Therefore, no improvements are recommended.  
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, a roundabout was tested at the intersection for future conditions. During 
the 2025 future build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate at LOS 
F in the AM and PM peaks. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is expected to 
operate at LOS E in the AM and PM peaks. The roundabout is not expected to fail after 
zero (0) years in the AM and PM peak. The NCDOT Guidelines dictate that “the design 
of a roundabout should be based on projected traffic 20 years after completion of 
construction.” Based on analysis results, a roundabout is not anticipated to have 
sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Full Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS F in the AM and 
PM peaks. The LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized intersections. 
The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In addition, site 
traffic will have the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including signals, 
which will serve as a relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 

Page 168 of 282



expected in the AM and PM peaks. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, 
it is recommended to: 
 

• Signalize the intersection  
• Provide an eastbound left turn lane of 425 feet of storage with appropriate taper 
• Provide a westbound left turn lane of 150 feet of storage with appropriate taper 
• Provide a northbound left turn lane of full storage and a through-right turn lane of 

100 feet of storage with appropriate taper 
• Provide a southbound left turn lane of 150 feet storage for left turn lane 

 
With this improvement, it is expected to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, a roundabout was analyzed for this intersection. During the 2025 future 
build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate at LOS F in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peaks. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is 
expected to operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks but it is expected to fail in four 
(4) years in the AM peak and two (2) years in the PM peak. Based on analysis results, a 
roundabout is not anticipated to have sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
With the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. The LOS E 
and F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized intersections. The delays are 
expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In addition, site traffic will have 
the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including signals, which will serve as a 
relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no additional improvements are 
recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Full Build site 
traffic and the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. It is recommended to signalize 
this intersection in order to accommodate future traffic volumes. 
 
With this improvement, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak 
and LOS C in the PM peak. 
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, this intersection was analyzed as a roundabout in future conditions. 
During the 2025 future build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peaks. This roundabout is expected to 
fail after two (2) years in the AM peak and to exceed the desired level of saturation 
before the first year in the PM peak. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is 

Page 169 of 282



expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. This 
roundabout is expected to operate for twenty (20) years for the AM peak but fail in nine 
(9) years in the PM peak. Based on analysis results, a roundabout is not anticipated to 
have sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peak. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound 
right turn lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  
In order to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 
 

• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 

 
With these improvements in place, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peak. 
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 6 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 
  
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 

Page 170 of 282



Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic and the 
recommended improvements in place from Phase 1, this intersection is expected to 
operate at LOS D in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No additional 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
City Road at Site Access 7 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS A in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 8 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS E in 
the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. A LOS E/F is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections, but delays are expected to be minimal. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 
 
 
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 14 for Full Build in the report.  
 
 

Page 171 of 282



Level of Service Summary 
 
Table B presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 
 

Table B - Level of Service Summary 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2025 Future No 
Build   2025 Full Build 2025 Full Build with 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (14.1) 
SB Approach 

F (80.3) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1   

F (64.5) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (12.2) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (46.6) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

E (40.1) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (24.5) 
EB Approach 

F (94.9) 
EB Approach 

B (13.7) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (14.5) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5   

B (14.6) 
NB Approach 

B (14.5) 
NB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 6   
B (12.7) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9   
C (20.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10   
C (18.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11   
B (11.5) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12   
B (12.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13   
C (15.2) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

F (117.6) 
WB Approach 

D (48.3) 
Signalized 

  
 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14   
B (11.2) 

WB Approach  

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (9.2) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 8   

E (36.8) 
EB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

 

Page 172 of 282



Table B - Level of Service Summary cont. 

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2025 Future No 
Build   2025 Full Build 2025 Full Build with 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (14.6) 
NB Approach 

F (165.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1   

F (107.4) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (13.7) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (42.3) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

F (88.6) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (317.6) 
EB Approach 

F (692.7) 
EB Approach 

C (20.6) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site Access 4   
C (17.7) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5   

E (37.7) 
NB Approach 

D (35.0) 
NB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 6   
C (16.0) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9   
C (21.3) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10   
C (19.0) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11   
B (10.7) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12   
B (12.8) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13   
C (15.6) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (165.0) 
WB Approach 

C (26.7) 
Signalized 

  
 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14   
B (11.8)  

WB Approach  

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (9.3) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 8   

F (59.4) 
EB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 173 of 282



Left-over Access 
 
As requested by NCDOT, an analysis was conducted for full build conditions with a left-
over condition (left in, right in and right out) at Site Access 1, Site Access 3 and Site 
Access 5. The left turning movements at Site Access 1, 3 and 5 were redirected to the 
Brookhill Drive access point as shown in Figure 15 in the report. Figure 16 illustrates the 
full build volumes for this condition in the report. The resulting level of service is 
discussed below for intersections that experienced a change in level of service. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept in place, this intersection is expected to 
operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to conditions without the left-
over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor street left turns. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
With the left-over condition in place at Site Accesses 1, 3, and 5, additional traffic was 
routed to this signalized intersection. With improvements previously recommended in 
place, this intersection is anticipated to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
To accommodate the additional volumes, it is recommended to extend the southbound 
left turn lane to 175 feet of storage with appropriate taper. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept and turn lanes from Phase 1 in place, 
this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to 
conditions without the left-over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor 
street left turns. With the left-over condition in place, a single exiting lane can be 
provided. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept and turn lanes from Phase 1 in place, 
this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to 
conditions without the left-over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor 
street left turns. With improvements previously recommended in place, this intersection 
is anticipated to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
All remaining study intersections’ level of service and improvements remained the same 
as the full access condition. 
  
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 17 for Full Build with the left-over condition.  
 

Page 174 of 282



Level of Service Summary 
 
Table C presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study intersections. 
 

Table C - Level of Service Summary – Left-Over Access Conditions 

Intersections 

Full Build with Improvements 

AM Peak PM Peak 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1 

C (24.1) 
SB Approach 

C (21.0) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

 D (55.0) 
Signalized 

D (52.3) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3 

B (11.5) 
SB Approach 

B (12.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5 

B (10.6) 
NB Approach 

B (12.5) 
NB Approach 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

  

Page 175 of 282



Summary and Conclusion  
 
DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic.  
 
The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The land 
uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were established for analytical purposes 
and do not necessarily represent a prediction of the development schedule.  
 
This study analyzes two phases for the property’s development: 
 
Phase 1 development assumed 511 single family dwelling units and 312 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road, one (1) access point 
on City Road and one (1) access point on O’Neil Street.  
 
Full Build development was assumed to have 716 additional single family dwelling 
units, 317 additional townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 
square feet of retail. The combination of both Phase 1 and Full build yield a total of 
1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling 
units and 75,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2025. This phase will add two (2) access points on Covered Bridge Road, 
one (1) access point on O’Neil Street and six (6) access points on Brookhill Drive.  
 
The Town of Clayton and NCDOT requested roundabout analyses be conducted for the 
intersections of Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive, Covered Bridge Road 
at Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street. The analysis found that a 
roundabout was anticipated to operate at an unacceptable level of service in full build 
conditions, and/or the roundabout was anticipated to fail within the 20 year design 
timeframe. 
 
In addition, NCDOT requested that Site Accesses 1, 3 and 5 be analyzed with a left-
over condition. Analysis results show that acceptable level of service is anticipated at 
the study intersections with the recommended improvements in place. 
  
Table D on the following page summarizes the recommended improvements for each 
Phase.  
 
In conclusion, this study has reviewed the impacts of both background traffic and this 
development traffic, and has determined that with the recommended improvements in 
place, there will be adequate capacity to accommodate future traffic. The final design of 
these improvements will need to be coordinated during the site plan approval process.  
 
Please note that all accesses to the site are required to be constructed to NCDOT 
standards where applicable. 
  
 

Page 176 of 282



Table D –  Recommended Improvement Summary 

 

No Build Phase 1 Full Build 

2014 
(0 Lots) 

2015 
(250 Lots) 

2016 
(500 
Lots) 

2017 
(823 Lots) 

2018 
(1,075 Lots) 

2019 
(1,325 Lots) 

2020 
(1,575 Lots + Retail) 

2021 
(1,825 Lots) 

2022 
(2,075 
Lots) 

2023-
2025 

(2,200 
Lots) 

Covered Bridge Road 
at Brookhill Drive/ Site 

Access 2 
     

Provide SBL turn lane 150 feet 
storage and appropriate taper 
(175 feet in left-over condition) 

• Provide EBL turn lane 
with 425 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane 
with 150 feet of storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide NB through-right 
turn lane with 150 feet 
storage and appropriate 
taper 

Signalize 
intersection   

Covered Bridge Road 
at Site Access 3  

• Provide EBR turn lane with 125 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane with 100 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide NB through-right turn 
lane with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

        

Covered Bridge Road 
at O’Neil Street 

(Note: Although turn 
lanes are currently 

needed, they will be 
provided during 

realignment) 

  

• Realign intersection 
per site plan 

• Provide EBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide NBL turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide SBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

Signalize 
intersection      

Covered Bridge Road 
at Site Access 5       

• Provide EBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane 
with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

   

Covered Bridge Road 
at Shotwell Road 

Signalize 
intersection 

• Provide NBR turn lane with 250 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide SBL turn lane with 225 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide WBR turn lane with 
100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

        

 

Page 177 of 282



Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Clayton, NC 
Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co. 
Original: November 6, 2014 
Revised: February 27, 2015 
 

Table of Contents 
 

1.0 Introduction ........................................................................................................................ 3 
Figure 1 – Site Plan ..................................................................................................... 5 
Figure 2A – Site Location Map .................................................................................... 6 
Figure 2B – Vicinity Map .............................................................................................. 7 

2.0 Existing Conditions ........................................................................................................... 8 
2.1 Inventory ................................................................................................................ 8 
2.2 Existing Traffic Volumes ........................................................................................ 8 
Figure 3 – Existing Lane Geometry ............................................................................. 9 
Figure 4 – 2014 Existing Traffic Volumes .................................................................. 10 

3.0 Approved Developments and Committed Improvements ............................................. 11 
3.1 Approved Developments ...................................................................................... 11 
3.2 Committed Improvements .................................................................................... 11 

4.0 Methodology .................................................................................................................... 11 
4.1 Base Assumptions and Standards ....................................................................... 11 

5.0 Capacity Analysis ............................................................................................................ 12 
5.1 Level of Service Evaluation Criteria ..................................................................... 12 

6.0 Existing Conditions ......................................................................................................... 13 
6.1 Level of Service Summary ................................................................................... 13 

7.0 Phase 1 Build Conditions ................................................................................................ 14 
7.1 Trip Generation .................................................................................................... 14 
7.2 Trip Distribution .................................................................................................... 14 
7.3 2017 Future No Build Traffic ................................................................................ 14 
7.4 2017 Phase 1 Future Build Traffic ....................................................................... 15 
Figure 5 – Phase 1 Residential Trip Distribution ........................................................ 16 
Figure 6 – 2017 Future No Build Volumes ................................................................. 17 
Figure 7 – Phase 1 Build Residential Site Trips ......................................................... 18 
Figure 8 – 2017 Phase 1 Build Volumes .................................................................... 19 
7.5 Phase 1 Build Discussion of Results.................................................................... 20 
7.6 Phase 1 Build Level of Service Summary ............................................................ 22 
Figure 9 – Phase 1 Build Recommended Improvements ........................................... 23 

8.0 Full Build Conditions ....................................................................................................... 24 
8.1 Trip Generation .................................................................................................... 24 
8.2 Residential Trip Distribution ................................................................................. 25 
8.3 Retail Trip Distribution .......................................................................................... 25 
8.4 2025 Future No Build Traffic ................................................................................ 25 
8.5 2025 Full Build Traffic .......................................................................................... 25 
Figure 10 – 2025 Future No Build Volumes ............................................................... 26 
Figure 11A – Full Build Residential Trip Distribution .................................................. 27 
Figure 11B – Full Build Retail Trip Distribution .......................................................... 28 

Page 178 of 282



Figure 11C – Full Build Pass-by Trip Distribution ...................................................... 29 
Figure 12A – Full Build Residential Site Trips ............................................................ 30 
Figure 12B – Full Build Retail Site Trips .................................................................... 31 
Figure 12C – Full Build Pass-by Site Trips ................................................................ 32 
Figure 13 – 2025 Full Build Volumes ......................................................................... 33 
8.6 Full Build Discussion of Results ........................................................................... 34 
8.7 Level of Service Summary ................................................................................... 38 
Figure 14 – Full Build Recommended Improvements ................................................ 40 
8.8 Left-over Access .................................................................................................. 41 
8.9 Level of Service Summary ................................................................................... 42 
Figure 15 – Rerouted Volumes .................................................................................. 43 
Figure 16 – 2025 Left-Over Condition- Full Build Volumes ........................................ 44 
Figure 17 – Left-Over Condition - Full Build Recommended Improvements .............. 45 

9.0 Summary and Conclusion ............................................................................................... 46 
Appendix ................................................................................................................................. 48 

Level of Service Analysis ....................................................................................... 49 
Trip Generation ...................................................................................................... 67 
Traffic Volume Data ............................................................................................... 68 
Supporting Documentation ..................................................................................... 69 

Page 179 of 282



Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 
Clayton, NC 
Prepared for Galaxy NC, LLC/ CO/ Wakefield Development Co. 
Original: November 6, 2014 
Revised: February 27, 2015 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The site is 
proposed to have access points on Covered Bridge Road, O’Neil Street and Brookhill 
Drive. The site plan is shown in Figure 1. This study analyzes two phases for the 
property’s development. Phase 1 is located south of Covered Bridge Road and Phase 2 
is located north of Covered Bridge Road and includes the proposed retail uses at the 
southwest corner of Covered Bridge Road and O'Neil Street. 
 
In November 2014, a transportation impact analysis (TIA) was submitted to the Town of 
Clayton and North Carolina Department of Transportation (NCDOT). Since the 
submittal, the site plan has been updated with revised access points and land uses. 
This TIA has been updated to reflect the latest site plan.  
 
Phase 1 development assumed 511 single family dwelling units and 312 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road, one (1) access point 
on City Road and one (1) access point on O’Neil Street.  
 
Full Build development was assumed to have 716 additional single family dwelling 
units, 317 additional townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 
square feet of retail. The combination of both Phase 1 and Full build yield a total of 
1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling 
units and 75,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2025. This phase will add two (2) access points on Covered Bridge Road, 
one (1) access point on O’Neil Street and six (6) access points on Brookhill Drive.  
 
It should be noted that the land uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were 
established for analytical purposes and do not necessarily represent a prediction 
of the development schedule.  
 
DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic. The 
following intersections were included in the study: 
 

1. Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
2. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
3. Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
4. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 

Page 180 of 282



5. Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
6. O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
7. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
8. O’Neil Street at Site Access 6  
9. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 
10. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 
11. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 
12. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12 
13. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13 
14. Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
15. Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14 
16. City Road at Site Access 7 
17. Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 8 

 
The study intersections were analyzed during AM (7-9) and PM (4-6) peaks for the 
following conditions:  
 

• 2014 Existing Conditions 
• 2017 Future No Build Conditions 
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out Conditions  
• 2017 Phase 1 Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary) 
• 2025 Future No Build Conditions 
• 2025 Full Build-Out Conditions  
• 2025 Full Build-Out with Improvements (as necessary) 

 
Town of Clayton and NCDOT was contacted to obtain background information and to 
ascertain the elements to be covered in this Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA). 
Information regarding the property was provided by Wakefield Development Co. 
 

Page 181 of 282



 

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

 
S

IT
E

 P
LA

N
 

  

Page 182 of 282



 

FI
G

U
R

E
 2

A 
S

IT
E

 L
O

C
A

TI
O

N
 M

A
P

 

  S
IT

E
 IN

D
IC

A
TO

R
 

  

Page 183 of 282



 

FI
G

U
R

E
 2

B 
V

IC
IN

IT
Y 

M
A

P 
S

TU
D

Y 
IN

TE
R

S
E

C
TI

O
N

S
 

E
XI

S
TI

N
G

 
P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
 

   
   

   
   

   

 

1.
 

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
 R

oa
d 

at
 C

ity
 R

oa
d 

2.
 

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
 R

oa
d 

at
 S

ite
 

A
cc

es
s 

1 
3.

 
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
at

 B
ro

ok
hi

ll 
D

riv
e/

 S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

2 
4.

 
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
at

 S
ite

 
A

cc
es

s 
3 

5.
 

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
 R

oa
d 

at
 O

’N
ei

l 
S

tre
et

 
6.

 
O

’N
ei

l S
tre

et
 a

t S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

4 
7.

 
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
at

 S
ite

 
A

cc
es

s 
5 

8.
 

O
’N

ei
l a

t S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

6 
9.

 
B

ro
ok

hi
ll 

D
riv

e 
at

 S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

9 
10

. 
B

ro
ok

hi
ll 

D
riv

e 
at

 S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

10
 

11
. 

B
ro

ok
hi

ll 
D

riv
e 

at
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s 
11

 
12

. 
B

ro
ok

hi
ll 

D
riv

e 
at

 S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

12
 

13
. 

B
ro

ok
hi

ll 
D

riv
e 

at
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s 
13

 
14

. 
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

 R
oa

d 
at

 S
ho

tw
el

l 
R

oa
d 

15
. 

B
ro

ok
hi

ll 
D

riv
e 

at
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s 
14

 
16

. 
C

ity
 R

oa
d 

at
 S

ite
 A

cc
es

s 
7 

17
. 

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
 a

t S
ite

 A
cc

es
s 

8 

Page 184 of 282



2.0 Existing Conditions 
 
2.1 Inventory 
 
A field investigation was conducted by DAVENPORT staff to determine the existing 
roadway conditions in the study area. Table 2.1 presents a summary of this review.  
Figure 3 illustrates the existing lane geometry. 

 
Table 2.1 - Street Inventory 

Facility 
Name Route # Typical Cross 

Section 
Pavement 

Width 
Speed 
Limit Maintained By 

City Road SR 1709 2-lane undivided Approx. 20’ 55 MPH NCDOT 

Brookhill 
Drive SR 2620 2-lane undivided Approx. 22’ 35 MPH NCDOT 

O’Neil Street SR 1708 2-lane undivided Approx. 20’ 45 MPH  NCDOT 

Covered 
Bridge Road SR 1700 2-lane undivided  Approx. 24’ 

Not Posted 
Assumed  
40 MPH 

NCDOT 

Smith Drive SR 1768 2-lane undivided  Approx. 20’ 25 MPH NCDOT 

Shotwell 
Road SR 1553 2-lane undivided Approx. 22' 45 MPH NCDOT 

 
2.2 Existing Traffic Volumes 
 
Existing traffic volumes for this project were collected by DAVENPORT staff.  Table 2.2 
below contains the dates these counts were conducted. Traffic volumes were balanced 
between the study intersections. School was in session at the time of traffic counts. 
Figure 4 shows existing AM and PM peak hour volumes. More information can be found 
in the Traffic Volume Data section of the appendix.   
 

Table 2.2 - Traffic Volume Data 

Count Location: Date Taken: By: 

Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 10/16/14 DAVENPORT 

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive 10/16/14 DAVENPORT 

Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 10/21/14 DAVENPORT 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 10/16/14 DAVENPORT 

Page 185 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~3
,2

00
'

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

~3
,3

00
'

Smith Drive

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

35

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

25

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

55

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
3

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

 L
A

N
E

 
G

E
O

M
E

T
R

Y

O'Neil Street

City Road

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

45

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

55

Shotwell Road

SP
EE

D
LI

M
IT

45

Page 186 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Smith Drive

32
 / 

11

31
8 

/ 1
88

10 / 38
152 / 290

69 / 29
279 / 2

1 
/ 1

8
29

9 
/ 1

93

8 
/ 4

8
83

 / 
28

7

17 / 17

48 / 18

94
 / 

29
3

6 
/ 1

1

266 / 285
297 / 203

202 / 
3 / 8

Covered Bridge Road

2 
/ 2

32
8 

/ 1
92

17
 / 

17

8 
/ 1

3
70

 / 
31

6
1 

/ 3

6 / 1
19 / 6
18 / 7

15 / 18
0 / 15
4 / 0

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

FI
G

U
R

E
 4

 
E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 T

R
A

FF
IC

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

A
VE

N
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
P

O
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

94
262

315

City Road

8

Page 187 of 282



3.0 Approved Developments and Committed Improvements 
 
3.1 Approved Developments 
 
Approved developments are developments that have been recently approved in the 
area, but not yet constructed. Per Town of Clayton, there is one approved 
developments to be considered in this analysis. The Ashcroft Development is a 150 
single family unit development located off of O’Neil Street and Sam’s Branch Greenway. 
A TIA has not been provided to include the distribution of trips; therefore, an assumption 
of distribution has been analyzed based on existing traffic patterns and engineering 
judgment. A distribution and site trip figures can be found in the Appendix. These trips 
are expected to be in place in build conditions of this development. 
 
3.2 Committed Improvements 
 
Committed Improvements are improvements that are planned by NCDOT, a local 
municipality, or a developer in the area, but not yet constructed.  Per NCDOT, there are 
no committed developments in the study area. 
 
4.0 Methodology  
 
4.1 Base Assumptions and Standards 
 
In general, the analysis for this project was conducted utilizing commonly accepted 
NCDOT standards.  The following table contains a summary of the base assumptions: 
 

Table 4.1 - Assumptions 

Peak Hour Factor 0.90 

Background Traffic  Annual Growth Rate 2.0% per year for all roadways 

Base Signal Timing/Phasing N/A 

Analysis Software Synchro/SimTraffic Version 8.0 
Sidra Intersection 6 

Lane widths 12-feet 

Truck percentages 2% background traffic 

 

Page 188 of 282



5.0 Capacity Analysis 
 
5.1 Level of Service Evaluation Criteria 
 
The Transportation Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual (HCM) utilizes a term 
“level of service” to measure how traffic operates in intersections and on roadway 
segments.  There are currently six levels of service ranging from A to F.  Level of 
service “A” represents the best conditions and Level of Service “F” represents the worst.  
Synchro Traffic Modeling software was used to determine the level of service for studied 
intersections.  Note for unsignalized intersection analysis, the level of service noted is 
for the worst approach of the intersection.  This is typically the left turn movement for 
the side street approach, due to the number of opposing movements. Sidra Intersection 
software was used to determine the level of service for roundabouts. All worksheet 
reports from the analyses can be found in the Appendix.   
 

 

Table 5.1  – Highway Capacity Manual 

Levels of Service and Control Delay Criteria 

Signalized Intersection Unsignalized Intersection 

Level of Service Control Delay Per 
vehicle (sec) Level of Service Delay Range 

(sec) 

A ≤ 10 A ≤ 10 

B > 10 and ≤ 20 B > 10 and ≤ 15 

C > 20 and ≤ 35 C > 15 and ≤ 25 

D > 35 and ≤ 55 D > 25 and ≤ 35 

E > 55 and ≤ 80 E > 35 and ≤ 50 

F > 80 F > 50 

Page 189 of 282



6.0 Existing Conditions 
 
In order to measure the impact of this project and identify any pre-existing capacity 
problems, an analysis was conducted for the existing conditions for all the study 
intersections. It should be noted that the intersections of Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil 
Street and Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road currently experience LOS F in the 
PM peaks. In addition, the existing volumes at these intersections indicate that the 
MUTCD Peak Hour Volumes, Warrant 4, is satisfied.  
 
Table 6.1 summarizes the existing level of service results. 
 
6.1 Level of Service Summary 

 
Table 6.1 - Level of Service Summary 

Intersection 2014 AM Existing 2014 PM Existing 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (12.6)  
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest 

delay 

Page 190 of 282



7.0 Phase 1 Build Conditions  
 
As discussed in the introduction, Phase 1 considers build out of property located south 
of Covered Bridge Road. As currently planned, Phase 1 development assumes 511 
single family dwelling units and 312 townhome dwelling units. 
 
7.1 Trip Generation 
 
Trips for this development were projected using TripGen 2013 software, based on the 
9th edition of ITE Trip Generation Manual. Table 7.1 contains the results. 
 

Table 7.11 - ITE Trip Generation – Phase 1 
Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development Clayton, NC 

Average Weekday Driveway Volumes 
24 Hour 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak 
Hour Two-

Way 

Land Use 
ITE 

Land 
Code 

Size Volume Enter Exit Enter Exit 

Phase 1 
Single Family 

Homes 210 511  Dwelling 
Units 4,710 92 275 287 169 

Townhomes/ 
Condos 230 312  Dwelling 

Units 1,731 22 106 103 50 

Total Trips 6,441 114 381 390 219 
 
 
7.2 Trip Distribution 
 
Site trips for this proposed development were distributed based on the existing traffic 
patterns and engineering judgment. The Phase 1 trip distribution model is shown in 
Figure 5 and the directional distributions for the site trips are as follows: 
 

• 55% to/from the south on Shotwell Road 
• 25% to/from the north on Covered Bridge Road 
• 10% to/from the north on Shotwell Road 
• 5% to/from the south on City Road  
• 5% to/from the north on O’Neil Street 

 
7.3 2017 Future No Build Traffic 
 
The 2017 future no build traffic volumes were computed by applying a 2.0% 
compounded annual growth rate to the 2014 existing traffic volumes. Figure 6 shows 
the 2017 future no build traffic volumes for AM and PM peaks.   
 

Page 191 of 282



7.4 2017 Phase 1 Future Build Traffic 
 
The 2017 Phase 1 traffic volumes were obtained by summing 2017 future no build 
volumes, Phase 1 site trips due to the proposed project. Phase 1 Build residential site 
trips are shown in Figure 7. The resulting build volume totals for AM and PM peaks are 
shown in Figure 8. More information can be found in the Traffic Volume Data section of 
the appendix. 

 

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road – West Leg 
Looking East 

Page 192 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Smith Drive

2%
25

%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

3%
 O

U
T

65
%

 O
U

T

3% IN

65
%

 IN
28

%
 IN

 
30

%
 IN

10
%

 IN
28

%
 O

U
T

30% O

10% O

13
%

 IN
10

%
 IN

3%
 O

U
T

20
%

 O
U

T
28

%
 IN

10
%

 O
U

T

3% IN

5% OU

20% IN
5% IN

28% OU

13% O

10
%

55% IN

10% IN

55
%

 O
U

T

10
%

 O
U

T

Covered Bridge Road

58
%

 IN
10

%
 IN

10% O

58
%

 O
U

T

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

O'Neil Street

City Road

FI
G

U
R

E
5

P
H

A
S

E
 1

 
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L 

T
R

IP
 

D
IS

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N
 

5%
55

%
5%

Site Access 3

Site Access 2OUT

OUT

UT

UT

UT

Shotwell Road

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

UT

2%
 O

U
T

5%
 O

U
T

2% IN
3% IN

5% IN
3% OUT

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

2% IN
3% IN

2%
 O

U
T

3% OUT

Page 193 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Smith Drive

38
 / 

14

33
7 

/ 2
00

12 / 45
161 / 308

73 / 31
296 / 2

1 
/ 1

9
32

2 
/ 2

08

8 
/ 5

1
90

 / 
30

9

18 / 18

51 / 19

10
0 

/ 3
11

8 
/ 1

6

285 / 312
315 / 215

223 / 
7 / 11

Covered Bridge Road

2 
/ 2

35
2 

/ 2
07

18
 / 

18

8 
/ 1

4
76

 / 
34

0
1 

/ 3

6 / 1
20 / 6
19 / 7

16 / 19
0 / 16
4 / 0

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

FI
G

U
R

E
 6

 
20

17
 F

U
T

U
R

E
 N

O
 

B
U

IL
D

 V
O

LU
M

E
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

A
VE

N
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
P

O
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

2
278

340

City Road

9

Page 194 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

38
 / 

22

21
0 

/ 1
20

11 / 39
0 / 0

63 / 21
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

10
7 

/ 6
1

11
 / 

39

0 
/ 0

32
 / 

10
9

34
 / 

11
7

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

76
 / 

44

11
 / 

7

6 / 20
23 / 78

19 / 11
3 / 12

38 / 2
0 / 0
114 / 

11
 / 

39
15

 / 
51

38
 / 

22
32

 / 
10

9
50 / 2

107 / 

Covered Bridge Road

Smith Drive

0 
/ 0

24
8 

/ 1
42

11
 / 

7

0 
/ 0

74
 / 

25
4

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

3 / 12
0 / 0
0 / 0

22
1 

/ 1
27

66
 / 

22
6

11
 / 

39

38 / 22

0 / 0

0 
/ 0

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 7

 
P

H
A

S
E

 1
 B

U
IL

D
 -

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L 
S

IT
E

 
T

R
IP

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
l

be
w

ith
ou

t
lia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

5

1

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

2

66

8

61

City Road

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4 19
 / 

11

8 
/ 4

11 / 7
6 / 20

3 / 12
2 / 8

2

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

0 / 0
11 / 7

2 / 8
3 / 12

0 
/ 0

8 
/ 4

Page 195 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

76
 / 

36

54
7 

/ 3
20

23 / 84
161 / 308

136 / 5
296 / 2

1 
/ 1

9
43

3 
/ 2

73
11

 / 
39

8 
/ 5

1
12

6 
/ 4

22
34

 / 
11

7

18 / 18
4 / 4

51 / 19

18
0 

/ 3
59

19
 / 

23

295 / 336
342 / 297

246 / 3
10 / 23

38 / 2
4 / 4
114 / 

33
8 

/ 2
70

15
 / 

51

15
0 

/ 3
53

32
 / 

10
9

50 / 2

107 / 

Covered Bridge Road

Smith Drive

2 
/ 2

60
0 

/ 3
49

29
 / 

25

8 
/ 1

4
15

0 
/ 5

94
1 

/ 3

6 / 1
24 / 10
19 / 7

19 / 31
4 / 20
4 / 0

59
4 

/ 3
54

16
4 

/ 5
86

11
 / 

39

38 / 22

4 / 4

4 
/ 4

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 8

 
20

17
 P

H
A

S
E

 1
 B

U
IL

D
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
l

be
w

ith
ou

t
lia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

527
278

355
3

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

2

66

8

61

City Road

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4 19
 / 

11

8 
/ 4

308 / 339
6 / 20

237 / 367
2 / 8

2

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

4 / 4
50 / 35

2 / 8
23 / 47

4 
/ 4

8 
/ 4

Page 196 of 282



7.5 Phase 1 Build Discussion of Results 
 
The following section discusses 2017 Phase 1 Build level of service for each 
intersection. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended.  
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended.  
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Phase 1 site traffic, LOS C is 
expected in the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peaks. The LOS E condition is typical for 
minor streets at unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and 
limited to the peak periods and SimTraffic model does not indicate any queuing issues. 
Therefore, no improvements are recommended. 
  
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
This intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM 
peak during Phase 1 future build conditions. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound 
right turn lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  
In order to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 
 

• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 125 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 

 
Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. This LOS F condition is due to a 
lack of sufficient gaps for left-turning vehicles from the stop-controlled approach, which 
is the result of conflicting traffic volumes on O’Neil Street. With the addition of Phase 1 
site traffic, LOS D is expected in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peaks.  
 
This intersection is anticipated to operate at a deficient level of service regardless of the 
proposed development. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, the 
following improvements are recommended: 

Page 197 of 282



 
• Provide northbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide southbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Realignment as depicted in the site plan 

 
With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peak, reducing the AM delay by 11.5 seconds and the PM 
delay by 138.3 seconds. The LOS F condition is anticipated to be limited to the peak 
hour and the SimTraffic model results indicate that there are no queuing issues.  
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
B in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
 
In 2017 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Phase 1 site 
traffic, LOS F is expected in the AM and PM peaks.  
 
As further discussed in the report, the existing traffic volumes at this intersection 
indicate that a signal is currently warranted. Therefore, in order to improve the operation 
and safety of this intersection, the following improvements are recommended: 
 

• Signalize the intersection 
• Provide northbound right turn lane with 250 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Provide southbound left turn lane with 225 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
• Restripe westbound lane to provide right turn lane with 100 feet of storage 

 
With these improvements, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in the AM 
peak and LOS B in the PM peak. 
 
City Road at Site Access 7 
 
In Phase 1 Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS 
A in the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 for Phase 1. 
  

Page 198 of 282



7.6 Phase 1 Build Level of Service Summary 
 
Table 7.2 presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study 
intersections. 
 

Table 7.2 - Level of Service Summary – Phase 1 Build Conditions 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 Build 
with Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (12.8) 
SB Approach 

C (19.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1   

C (17.0) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (11.4) 
SB Approach 

C (24.7) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

B (14.8) 
NB Approach 

B (13.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (18.6) 
EB Approach 

D (30.2) 
EB Approach 

C (18.7) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (12.5)  

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

E (41.8) 
WB Approach 

F (275.3) 
WB Approach 

C (23.3) 
Signalized 

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (8.8) 

WB Approach  

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2017 Future No 
Build 

2017 Phase 1 
Build  

2017 Phase 1 Build 
with Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (13.1) 
NB Approach 

C (20.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access1   

C (20.5) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

E (36.8) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

C (18.6) 
NB Approach 

C (16.1) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (120.4) 
EB Approach 

F (292.7) 
EB Approach 

F (154.4) 
EB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (14.5) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (54.3) 
WB Approach 

F (452.2) 
WB Approach 

B (14.9) 
Signalized 

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (8.8) 

WB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 199 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,6

90
'

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

~1
,2

60
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

250'10
0'

225'

100'

100'
10

0'

12
5'

~8
50

' 10
0'

100'

~2
,1

80
'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
9

P
H

A
S

E
1 

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil Street

City Road

Shotwell Road

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

Site Access 1

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~1,240'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

~1,030'

Page 200 of 282



8.0 Full Build Conditions  
 
Full Build considers the development located north of Covered Bridge Road and the 
southwest corner of Covered Bridge Road and O’Neil Street. Full Build, including 
Phase 1, development assumes to have a total of 1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 
townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 square feet of retail. 
This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2025. 
 
8.1 Trip Generation 
 
Trips for this development were projected using TripGen 2013 software, based on the 
9th edition of ITE Trip Generation Manual. Table 8.1 contains the results. 
 

Table 8.1 - ITE Trip Generation – Full Build 
Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development Clayton, NC 

Average Weekday Driveway Volumes 
24 Hour 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak 
Hour Two-

Way 

Land Use 
ITE 

Land 
Code 

Size Volume Enter Exit Enter Exit 

Full Build 

Apartments 220 344 Dwelling 
Units 2,208 34 138 134 72 

Single Family 
Homes 210 1227 Dwelling 

Units 10,544 217 651 632 371 

Townhomes/ 
Condos 230 629 Dwelling 

Units 3,186 38 187 182 90 

Shopping 
Center 820 75 Th.Sq.Ft. 

GLA 5,633 81 50 237 257 

Total Unadjusted Trips 21,571 370 1,026 1,185 790 
PM Internal Capture: 5% Residential and Retail 

Trips -104 0 0 -52 -52 

34% PM Pass-by Reduction for Retail -922 0 0 -73 -77 
Total Reduction -1,026 0 0 -125 -129 

Total Adjusted Trips 20,545 370 1,026 1,060 661 
 
Mixed-Use developments of this type are designed to combine a number of uses into 
one site, allowing people to live, work and shop in the same area and without 
dependence on a vehicle.   This proposed development meets the criteria as defined in 
the ITE Trip Generation Handbook for a “multi-use” development.  Therefore, the trips 
for this development were reduced using the method prescribed in Chapter 7 of the ITE 
handbook.  The internal capture rate for this site was calculated and a reduction of 5% 
was applied to daily and PM peak hour trips for residential and retail land uses. The 
worksheets for the internal capture are shown in the supporting document of the 
Appendix. 

Page 201 of 282



 
Developments of this type generate “pass-by” trips. The ITE Trip Generation Manual 
defines “pass-by” trips as trips that are generated by the development, but are already 
on the adjacent roadway. These trips are not new trips, but are a part of the existing 
background traffic on adjacent roadways. A 34% pass-by reduction was applied to the 
PM peak for the retail land use per NCDOT standards.  
 
8.2 Residential Trip Distribution 
 
Site trips for this proposed development were distributed based on the existing traffic 
patterns and engineering judgment. The directional distributions for the residential site 
trips are the same as Phase 1 Build.  
 
8.3 Retail Trip Distribution 
 
This distribution for the retail site trips were estimated based on existing traffic pattern 
and engineering judgment. The retail distribution is as follows: 
 

• 30% to/from the north on Covered Bridge Road 
• 25% to/from the south on O’Neil Street 
• 25% to/from the south on Shotwell Road 
• 10% to/from the south on Shotwell Road  
• 5% to/from the south on City Road 
• 3% to/from the north on Smith Drive 
• 2% to/from the north on Brookhill Drive 

 
The pass-by trip distribution has 35% of pass-by trips were assumed to originate from 
the west on Covered Bridge Road, 65 % from the east on Covered Bridge Road. 
 
The Full Build residential, retail and pass-by distribution for site trips is shown in Figure 
11A, 11B and 11C, respectively. 
 
8.4 2025 Future No Build Traffic 
 
The 2025 background volumes were obtained by applying a 2.0% compounded annual 
growth rate to the 2014 existing traffic volumes. Figure 10 shows the 2025 future no 
build traffic volumes for AM and PM peaks. 
 
8.5 2025 Full Build Traffic 
 
Full build-out traffic volumes were obtained as the sum of 2025 future no build volumes 
and site trips due to Full Build. Full Build residential site trips, retail site trips and pass-
by trips are shown in Figures 12A, 12B and 12C, respectively. The resulting build 
volume totals for AM and PM peaks are shown in Figure 13. More information can be 
found in the Traffic Volume Data section of the appendix. 

Page 202 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Smith Drive

44
 / 

16

39
5 

/ 2
34

14 / 52
189 / 361

86 / 36
347 / 3

1 
/ 2

2
37

6 
/ 2

43

10
 / 

60
10

5 
/ 3

62

21 / 21

60 / 22

11
7 

/ 3
64

9 
/ 1

8

334 / 364
369 / 252

260 / 
8 / 13

Covered Bridge Road

2 
/ 2

41
2 

/ 2
42

21
 / 

21

10
 / 

16
88

 / 
39

8
1 

/ 4

7 / 1
24 / 7
22 / 9

19 / 22
0 / 19
5 / 0

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

0 
20

25
 F

U
T

U
R

E
 N

O
 

B
U

IL
D

 V
O

LU
M

E
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

A
VE

N
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
P

O
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

O'Neil Street

Shotwell Road

66
326

397

City Road

2

Page 203 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

B
rid

ge

Smith Drive

2%

25
%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

3%
 O

U
T

65
%

 O
U

T

2%
 IN

1%
 IN

 +
16

%
 O

U
T

1%
 IN

63
%

 O
U

T

3%
 IN

18
%

 IN
 

20% IN
3% IN

10
%

10% IN

55
%

 O
U

T

10
%

 O
U

T

Covered Bridge Road

3% OUT

3% OUT

2% OUT

15
%

 IN

39% OUT

15% OUT

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

2%
 IN

23
%

 IN
 

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

A
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L 

T
R

IP
 D

IS
T

R
IB

U
T

IO
N

5%
55

%
5%

Site Access 1

Site Access 3

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

Site Access 2

3% IN

65
%

 IN
63

%
 IN

1% OUT

16
%

 IN
  +

 1
%

 O
U

T
8%

 IN

8% OUT

2% OUT

3%
 O

U
T

20
%

 O
U

T

2%
 O

U
T

3%
 O

U
T

13
%

 IN
18

%
 O

U
T

2% IN
3% IN

3% IN
3% OUT

3% IN
3% OUT

13% OUT

3% OUT

Shotwell Road55% IN

39
%

IN
3%

 IN
3%

 IN
 

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

2% IN
3% IN

2%
 O

U
T

3% OUT

Site Access 5

23
%

 O
U

T

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

3% IN + 
3% OUT

3% IN + 
3% OUT

2%
 IN

2% OUT

Page 204 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Bro
D

Smith Drive

2%
25

%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

2% 
23% 

Shotwell Road

10
%

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

12

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

13

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

14

3% IN
30% IN

2% IN
28% IN5% IN

13% IN
10% IN

5% IN

5% IN

3%
 O

U
T

2%
 O

U
T

5%
 O

U
T

13
%

 O
U

T

5%
 O

U
T

5%
 O

U
T

10% OUT 28% OUT 30% OUT 33% O

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

ookhill
Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

A
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
 

R
E

S
ID

E
N

T
IA

L 
T

R
IP

 D
IS

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N

5%
55

%
5%

9%
 O

U
T

2%
 O

U
T

9% IN

2% IN

2%
 O

U
T

23% OUT

IN
IN

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

N
43% IN

43% OUT

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

3%
 O

U
T

7%
 O

U
T

3% IN

7% IN

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

OUT

33% IN

Page 205 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

C
ov

er
ed

B
rid

ge

Smith Drive

2%

30
%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

5%
 O

U
T

35
%

 O
U

T
38

%
O

U
T

43
%

 O
U

T
23

%
 O

U
T

20% IN

10
%

10% IN

25
%

 O
U

T

10
%

 O
U

T

Covered Bridge Road

2% IN

25
%

 IN

3%

2%

3% IN

3%
 O

U
T

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

10% IN

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

B
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
R

E
T

A
IL

T
R

IP
 D

IS
T

R
IB

U
T

IO
N

 

5%
25

%
25

%

Site Access 1

Site Access 3

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

Site Access 2

5% IN

35
%

 IN
43

%
 IN

38
%

IN
5%

 IN

2% OUT

20
%

 O
U

T

20
%

 O
U

T
15

%
 IN

23
%

IN

25% IN
20% IN

25% OUT

15% OUT

Shotwell Road
25% IN

Site Access 5

23
%

 IN

5% OUT

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

10% IN

10% OUT

10
%

 O
U

T

5% IN

5%
 O

U
T

5% IN

5% OUT

23% OUT

25% OUT

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

5% IN

5% OUT

Page 206 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Smith Drive

2%
30

%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

30% 

Shotwell Road

10
%

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

12

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

13

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

14

2% IN2% OUT

2%IN 2%IN 2% IN

3%

2%IN

2% OUT

2%

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

Brookhill
Drive

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

B
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
 

R
E

T
A

IL
T

R
IP

 D
IS

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N
 

5%
25

%
25

%30% OUT

IN

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

2% OUT 2% OUT

2% IN

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

2% OUT

2% IN

Page 207 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

2%

D
ES

TI
N

AT
IO

N
N

O
D

E
%

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
11

C
FU

LL
 B

U
IL

D
R

E
T

A
IL

P
A

S
S

-B
Y

 T
R

IP
 

D
IS

T
R

IB
U

T
IO

N
 

35
%

65
%

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

-5
%

 IN
5%

 IN

20
%

 IN
-2

0%
 IN

 
45

%
 IN

-4
5%

 IN

10
%

 IN
-1

0%
 IN

 
20% OUT

10% OUT

5% OUT

Site Access 545% OUT

20% OUT

20
%

 IN
-2

0%
 IN

 

Page 208 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2A
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L 

S
IT

E
 

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

0 
/ 0

63
4 

/ 3
13

29
 / 

14

0 
/ 0

18
8 

/ 5
82

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

9 / 27
0 / 0
0 / 0

29
 / 

14

20
 / 

10

29 / 14
9 / 27

9 / 27
6 / 18

98
 / 

48

53
7 

/ 2
65

29 / 90
0 / 0

159 / 493
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

61
5 

/ 3
03

3 
/ 9

9 
/ 2

7
18

2 
/ 5

64
6 

/ 1
8

0 / 0
0 / 0

29 / 14

10 / 5
0 / 0
20 / 10

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

11
3 

/ 3
49

56
 / 

14
8

23
 / 

72
146 / 72

0 / 0
381 / 188

20 / 10
0 / 0
78 / 38

43
 / 

13
4

15
9 

/ 8
6

6 
/ 1

8
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

19
5 

/ 9
6

29
 / 

14

29 / 14
9 / 27

9 / 27
58 / 179

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

6 
/ 1

8
52

 / 
16

1
9 

/ 2
7

9 
/ 2

7
17

6 
/ 8

7
38

 / 
11

6

20 / 10
0 / 0

29 / 14

29 / 14
0 / 0
127 / 63

16

0 / 0
29 / 14

6 / 18
9 / 27

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10

Page 209 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2A
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
R

E
S

ID
E

N
T

IA
L 

S
IT

E
 

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

38 / 41
0 / 0

38 / 41
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

88
 / 

43

0 / 0
420 / 207

0 / 0

6 / 18
124 / 385
26 / 81

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10

0 / 0
273 / 135

6 / 18
81 / 251

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

12
7 

/ 6
3

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

49
 / 

24

0 / 0
98 / 48

0 / 0

38 / 116
29 / 90
14 / 45

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

66
 / 

20
6

0 
/ 0

22
4 

/ 1
11

0 
/ 0

0 / 0

0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

68
 / 

34

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

29
 / 

14322 / 159
0 / 0

20 / 63
95 / 296
9 / 27

0 / 0

11

293 / 144
0 / 0

87 / 269
9 / 27

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

0 
/ 0

29
 / 

14

15
17

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

49
 / 

24

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

49
 / 

24

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

14 / 45
0 / 0
14 / 45

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

20
 / 

10

0 
/ 0

66 / 206
6 / 18

224 / 111
0 / 0

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 210 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2B
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
R

E
T

A
IL

 
S

IT
E

 T
R

IP
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

2 
/ 5

18
 / 

63
3 

/ 9

0 
/ 0

28
 / 

57
0 

/ 0

2 / 5
0 / 0
0 / 0

4 / 8
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

13 / 45
0 / 0

20 / 41
0 / 0

5 
/ 1

8

13
 / 

45

8 / 16
0 / 0

20 / 41
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

22
 / 

77
0 

/ 0

0 
/ 0

35
 / 

71
0 

/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

31
 / 

62
4 

/ 8
0 / 0
2 / 3
0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
3 / 9

0 
/ 0

19
 / 

68
0 

/ 0
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

10
 / 

36

3 
/ 9

5 / 18
4 / 8

8 / 16
16 / 33

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

0 
/ 0

12
 / 

41
0 

/ 0

0 
/ 0

19
 / 

38
12

 / 
25

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
8 / 27

16

0 / 0
3 / 9

0 / 0
4 / 8

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

Page 211 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2B
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
R

E
T

A
IL

 
S

IT
E

 T
R

IP
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

5 
/ 1

8

10
 / 

36

3 / 9
8 / 16

4 / 8
16 / 33

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
2 / 3
0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
2 / 3

0 / 0
1 / 4

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
2 / 3
0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

41

0 
/ 0

19
 / 

38

13 / 45

12 / 41

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 02 / 3

0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
0 / 0

0 / 0

11

2 / 3
0 / 0

1 / 4
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

0 
/ 0 0 
/ 0

15
17

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
2 / 3
0 / 0

0 / 0
1 / 4
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

0 00
0

0
0

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 212 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2C
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
P

A
S

S
-B

Y
 

S
IT

E
 T

R
IP

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

0 
/ -

4
0 

/ 4
0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 4
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

0 
/ 0

0 
/ -

15
0 

/ 1
5

0 
/ 0

0 
/ -

7
0 

/ 7

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 8
0 / 0
0 / 15

16

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

Page 213 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

2C
 

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 -
P

A
S

S
-B

Y
 

S
IT

E
 T

R
IP

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

0 
/ -

33
0 

/ 3
3

0 
/ -

15
0 

/ 1
5

0 / 15

0 / 35

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 00 / 0

0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0

11

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

0 
/ 0 0 
/ 0

15
17

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 214 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

3 
20

25
 F

U
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
FU

T
U

R
E

 V
O

LU
M

E
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

4 
/ 7

10
64

 / 
61

8
53

 / 
44

10
 / 

16
30

4 
/ 1

03
7

1 
/ 4

9 / 6
28 / 11
22 / 9

32 / 57
4 / 23
5 / 0

29
 / 

14

20
 / 

10

389 / 445
9 / 27

301 / 482
6 / 18

14
7 

/ 8
2

94
5 

/ 5
44

51 / 158
189 / 361

265 / 900
347 / 326

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

4 
/ 4

10
73

 / 
64

5
3 

/ 9

9 
/ 2

7
33

2 
/ 1

05
6

6 
/ 1

8

4 / 4
4 / 4

29 / 14

10 / 5
4 / 4
20 / 10

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

12
3 

/ 4
09

19
6 

/ 5
72

27
 / 

84
167 / 93

2 / 3
441 / 210

20 / 14
1 / 4
81 / 47

44
 / 

15
6

55
8 

/ 4
01

6 
/ 1

8
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

32
6 

/ 5
00

41
 / 

41

298 / 433
21 / 48

355 / 411
447 / 468

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

6 
/ 1

8
44

5 
/ 4

56
9 

/ 4
2

9 
/ 2

7
32

5 
/ 5

05
50

 / 
14

8

20 / 10
4 / 4

29 / 14

29 / 22
4 / 4
135 / 105

16

4 / 4
78 / 55

6 / 18
37 / 76

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

Page 215 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

3 
20

25
 F

U
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
FU

T
U

R
E

 V
O

LU
M

E
S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

5 
/ 1

8

10
 / 

36

388 / 436
8 / 16

314 / 463
16 / 33

8 
/ 8

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

88
 / 

43

4 / 4
503 / 254

8 / 8

6 / 18
136 / 471
26 / 81

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

4 / 4
380 / 206

6 / 18
117 / 361

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

13
1 

/ 6
7

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 / 4
205 / 119

4 / 4

42 / 120
65 / 200
14 / 45

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

44
7 

/ 4
42

20
 / 

74

35
4 

/ 4
83

19
 / 

53

13 / 60

12 / 76

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

68
 / 

34

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

29
 / 

14417 / 218
4 / 4

20 / 63
119 / 394
9 / 27

4 / 4

11

396 / 211
4 / 4

119 / 375
9 / 27

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

4 
/ 4

29
 / 

14

15
17

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 / 4
115 / 79

4 / 4

14 / 45
44 / 118
14 / 45

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

20
 / 

10

4 
/ 4

797 / 875
6 / 18

620 / 931
4 / 4

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 216 of 282



 

2/27/15 14-425 Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 34 

8.6 Full Build Discussion of Results 
 
The following section discusses 2025 Full Build level of service for each intersection. 
During the review of the TIA, the Town of Clayton and NCDOT requested that the 
following intersections: Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive, Covered Bridge 
Road at Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street, be analyzed as a 
roundabout for the future full build-out conditions. The roundabout analyses were 
analyzed with SIDRA, reports are in the appendix. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peak. This LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections. The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the 
peak periods. The traffic simulation does not indicate any queuing issues at this 
intersection. Therefore, no improvements are recommended.  
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, a roundabout was tested at the intersection for future conditions. During 
the 2025 future build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate at LOS 
F in the AM and PM peaks. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is expected to 
operate at LOS E in the AM and PM peaks. The roundabout is not expected to fail after 
zero (0) years in the AM and PM peak. The NCDOT Guidelines dictate that “the design 
of a roundabout should be based on projected traffic 20 years after completion of 
construction.” Based on analysis results, a roundabout is not anticipated to have 
sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Full Build conditions, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS F in the AM and 
PM peaks. The LOS F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized intersections. 
The delays are expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In addition, site 
traffic will have the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including signals, 
which will serve as a relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic, LOS F is 
expected in the AM and PM peaks. In order to improve the operation of this intersection, 
it is recommended to: 
 

 Signalize the intersection  
 Provide an eastbound left turn lane of 425 feet of storage with appropriate taper 
 Provide a westbound left turn lane of 150 feet of storage with appropriate taper 

Page 217 of 282



 

2/27/15 14-425 Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 35 

 Provide a northbound left turn lane of full storage and a through-right turn lane of 
100 feet of storage with appropriate taper 

 Provide a southbound left turn lane of 150 feet storage for left turn lane 
 
With this improvement, it is expected to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 
 

Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, a roundabout was analyzed for this intersection. During the 2025 future 
build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate at LOS F in the AM 
peak and LOS F in the PM peaks. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is 
expected to operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks but it is expected to fail in four 
(4) years in the AM peak and two (2) years in the PM peak. Based on analysis results, a 
roundabout is not anticipated to have sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 

Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
With the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS E in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. The LOS E 
and F condition is typical for minor streets at unsignalized intersections. The delays are 
expected to be minimal and limited to the peak periods. In addition, site traffic will have 
the opportunity to utilize other site access points, including signals, which will serve as a 
relief valve should the delay be excessive. Therefore, no additional improvements are 
recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. With the addition of Full Build site 
traffic and the recommended improvement in place from Phase 1, this intersection is 
expected to operate at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. It is recommended to signalize 
this intersection in order to accommodate future traffic volumes. 
 
With this improvement, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak 
and LOS C in the PM peak. 
 
Roundabout Analysis 
 
As requested, this intersection was analyzed as a roundabout in future conditions. 
During the 2025 future build conditions, a single-lane roundabout is expected to operate 
at LOS C in the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peaks. This roundabout is expected to 
fail after two (2) years in the AM peak and to exceed the desired level of saturation 
before the first year in the PM peak. A dual-lane roundabout was analyzed and is 
expected to operate at LOS B in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. This 
roundabout is expected to operate for twenty (20) years for the AM peak but fail in nine 
(9) years in the PM peak. Based on analysis results, a roundabout is not anticipated to 
have sufficient capacity for the 20-year timeframe. 
 
 

Page 218 of 282



 

2/27/15 14-425 Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 36 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 4 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS E in the PM peak. Based on projected volumes, an eastbound 
right turn lane and westbound left turn lane will be warranted on Covered Bridge Road.  
In order to facilitate turning movements in and out of this site access, the following 
improvements are recommended: 
 

 Provide eastbound right turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 
 Provide westbound left turn lane with 100 feet of storage and appropriate taper 

 
With these improvements in place, this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS D in the PM peak. 
 
O’Neil Street at Site Access 6 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No improvements are recommended. 
  
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 

Page 219 of 282



 

2/27/15 14-425 Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development – Transportation Impact Analysis 37 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS C in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell Road 
 
In 2025 future no build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate 
at LOS F in the AM and PM peaks. With the addition of Full Build site traffic and the 
recommended improvements in place from Phase 1, this intersection is expected to 
operate at LOS D in the AM peak and LOS C in the PM peak. No additional 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
City Road at Site Access 7 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS A in 
the AM and PM peaks. No improvements are recommended. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 8 
 
In Full Build conditions, this unsignalized intersection is expected to operate at LOS E in 
the AM peak and LOS F in the PM peak. A LOS E/F is typical for minor streets at 
unsignalized intersections, but delays are expected to be minimal. Therefore, no 
improvements are recommended. 
 
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 14 for Full Build.  
 
 

Page 220 of 282



8.7  Level of Service Summary 
 
Table 8.2 presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study 
intersections. 
 

Table 8.2 - Level of Service Summary 

AM Peak 2014 Existing 2025 Future No 
Build   2025 Full Build 2025 Full Build with 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.4) 
SB Approach 

B (14.1) 
SB Approach 

F (80.3) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1   

F (64.5) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (11.1) 
SB Approach 

B (12.2) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (46.6) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

E (40.1) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

C (16.8) 
EB Approach 

C (24.5) 
EB Approach 

F (94.9) 
EB Approach 

B (13.7) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site Access 4   
B (14.5) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5   

B (14.6) 
NB Approach 

B (14.5) 
NB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 6   
B (12.7) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9   
C (20.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10   
C (18.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11   
B (11.5) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12   
B (12.2) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13   
C (15.2) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

D (31.0) 
WB Approach 

F (117.6) 
WB Approach 

D (48.3) 
Signalized 

  
 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14   
B (11.2) 

WB Approach  

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (9.2) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 8   

E (36.8) 
EB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 221 of 282



 

Table 8.2 - Level of Service Summary cont. 

PM Peak 2014 Existing 2025 Future No 
Build   2025 Full Build 2025 Full Build with 

Improvements 

Covered Bridge Road at City 
Road/ Smith Drive 

B (12.6) 
NB Approach 

B (14.6) 
NB Approach 

F (165.2) 
SB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1   

F (107.4) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill 
Drive/ Site Access 2 

B (12.0) 
SB Approach 

B (13.7) 
SB Approach 

F (Err) 
NB Approach 

 D (42.3) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3   

F (88.6) 
NB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at O'Neil 
Street 

F (68.9) 
EB Approach 

F (317.6) 
EB Approach 

F (692.7) 
EB Approach 

C (20.6) 
Signalized 

O'Neil Street at Site Access 4   
C (17.7) 

EB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5   

E (37.7) 
NB Approach 

D (35.0) 
NB Approach 

O’Neil Street at Site Access 6   
C (16.0) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 9   
C (21.3) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 10   
C (19.0) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 11   
B (10.7) 

EB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 12   
B (12.8) 

WB Approach  

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 13   
C (15.6) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Shotwell 
Road 

E (38.0) 
WB Approach 

F (165.0) 
WB Approach 

C (26.7) 
Signalized 

  
 

Brookhill Drive at Site Access 14   
B (11.8)  

WB Approach  

City Road at Site Access 7   
A (9.3) 

WB Approach  

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 8   

F (59.4) 
EB Approach  

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

Page 222 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,6

90
'

~2
,1

80
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

10
0'

225'

100'

~3
90

'

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~1
,2

60
'

~4
60

'

150'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

FULL

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
14

FU
LL

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Shotwell Road

250'

100'

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

10
0'

12
5'

Site Access 1

Site Access 5

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~790'

42
5'

15
0'

150'

100'
10

0'

FULL

10
0'

10
0'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

~1,030'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

~450'

Page 223 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill
Drive

Smith Drive

2%

Shotwell Road

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

12

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

13

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

14

~300'~525'~1,060'
**

* 
N

O
T 

TO
 S

C
A

LE
 *

**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
14

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

E
D

 
IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~830'~1000'

~1,650'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

~500'

Page 224 of 282



8.8  Left-over Access 
 
As requested by NCDOT, an analysis was conducted for full build conditions with a left-
over condition (left in, right in and right out) at Site Access 1, Site Access 3 and Site 
Access 5. The left turning movements at Site Access 1, 3 and 5 were redirected to the 
Brookhill Drive access point as shown in Figure 15. Figure 16 illustrates the full build 
volumes for this condition. The resulting level of service is discussed below for 
intersections that experienced a change in level of service. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 1 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept in place, this intersection is expected to 
operate at LOS C in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to conditions without the left-
over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor street left turns. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 
 
With the left-over condition in place at Site Accesses 1, 3, and 5, additional traffic was 
routed to this signalized intersection. With improvements previously recommended in 
place, this intersection is anticipated to operate at LOS D in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
To accommodate the additional volumes, it is recommended to extend the southbound 
left turn lane to 175 feet of storage with appropriate taper. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 3 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept and turn lanes from Phase 1 in place, 
this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to 
conditions without the left-over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor 
street left turns. With the left-over condition in place, a single exiting lane can be 
provided. 
 
Covered Bridge Road at Site Access 5 
 
In Full Build conditions, with a left-over concept and turn lanes from Phase 1 in place, 
this intersection is expected to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. Compared to 
conditions without the left-over, the LOS is expected to improve due to prohibiting minor 
street left turns. With improvements previously recommended in place, this intersection 
is anticipated to operate at LOS B in the AM and PM peaks. 
 
All remaining study intersections’ level of service and improvements remained the same 
as the full access condition. 
  
Improvements are illustrated in Figure 17 for Full Build with the left-over condition.  
 

Page 225 of 282



8.9 Level of Service Summary 
 
Table 8.3 presents the summary of the level of service analysis for all study 
intersections. 
 

Table 8.3 - Level of Service Summary – Left-Over Access Conditions 

Intersections 

Full Build with Improvements 

AM Peak PM Peak 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 1 

C (24.1) 
SB Approach 

C (21.0) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at 
Brookhill Drive/ Site Access 2 

 D (55.0) 
Signalized 

D (52.3) 
Signalized 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 3 

B (11.5) 
SB Approach 

B (12.3) 
NB Approach 

Covered Bridge Road at Site 
Access 5 

B (10.6) 
NB Approach 

B (12.5) 
NB Approach 

LOS (delay in seconds) 
Note for unsignalized conditions, LOS and delay indicates only minor street approach with longest delay 

 

Page 226 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

5 
R

E
R

E
O

U
T

E
D

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10
0 

/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

-4 / -4
-4 / -4

0 / 0

0 / 0
-4 / -4
-20 / -10

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

0 
/ 0

-4
 / 

-4
0 

/ 0
24 / 14

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
167 / 191

0 
/ 0

-1
47

 / 
-1

81
0 

/ 0
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

0 
/ 0

-1
2 

/ -
76

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10
0 

/ 0

-20 / -10
-4 / -4

0 / 0

0 / 0
-4 / -4
-135 / -105

16

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

Page 227 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

5 
R

E
R

E
O

U
T

E
D

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

20
 / 

10

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

4 
/ 4

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0

-12 / -76

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 00 / 0

0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0

11

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

0 
/ 0 0 
/ 0

15
17

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0
0 / 0

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

0 
/ 0

0 
/ 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

0 / 0
0 / 0

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 228 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

6 
20

25
 L

E
FT

-O
V

E
R

 
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

 -
FU

LL
 

B
U

IL
D

 F
U

T
U

R
E

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

1
2

3
4

5
6

14

4 
/ 7

10
64

 / 
61

8
53

 / 
44

10
 / 

16
30

4 
/ 1

03
7

1 
/ 4

9 / 6
28 / 11
22 / 9

32 / 57
4 / 23
5 / 0

29
 / 

14

20
 / 

10

389 / 445
9 / 27

301 / 482
6 / 18

14
7 

/ 8
2

94
5 

/ 5
44

51 / 158
189 / 361

265 / 900
347 / 326

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

4 
/ 4

10
93

 / 
65

5
3 

/ 9

9 
/ 2

7
33

2 
/ 1

05
6

6 
/ 1

8

0 / 0
0 / 0

29 / 14

10 / 5
0 / 0
0 / 0

Site 
Access 1

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

12
3 

/ 4
09

19
2 

/ 5
68

27
 / 

84
191 / 107

2 / 3
441 / 210

20 / 14
1 / 4
248 / 238

44
 / 

15
6

41
1 

/ 2
20

6 
/ 1

8
C

ov
er

ed
 B

rid
ge

R
oa

d

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 2

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Site 
Access 3

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s
4

32
6 

/ 5
00

41
 / 

41

298 / 433
21 / 48

355 / 411
447 / 468

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Covered Bridge
Road

O'Neil 
Street

Shotwell
Road

City 
Road

Smith 
Drive

6 
/ 1

8
43

3 
/ 3

80
9 

/ 4
2

9 
/ 2

7
34

5 
/ 5

15
50

 / 
14

8

0 / 0
0 / 0

29 / 14

29 / 22
0 / 0
0 / 0

16

4 / 4
78 / 55

6 / 18
37 / 76

City Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
7

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

Page 229 of 282



N
SI

G
N

AL
IZ

ED
IN

TE
R

SE
C

TI
O

N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

A
M

 / 
PM

 

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

B
LU

E
= 

PR
O

PO
SE

D
G

R
EY

= 
U

N
AN

AL
YZ

ED

B

B

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T

FI
G

U
R

E
 1

6 
20

25
 L

E
FT

-O
V

E
R

 
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

 -
FU

LL
 

B
U

IL
D

 F
U

T
U

R
E

 
V

O
LU

M
E

S

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,i

s
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.R
eu

se
of

,o
r

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,t

hi
s

do
cu

m
en

tb
y

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

tw
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
sh

al
lb

e
w

ith
ou

tl
ia

bi
lit

y
to

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vio

la
tio

n
of

th
e

ag
re

em
en

tb
et

w
ee

n
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

7
8

9
10

12
13

5 
/ 1

8

10
 / 

36

388 / 436
8 / 16

314 / 463
16 / 33

8 
/ 8

4 
/ 4

40
 / 

20

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

92
 / 

47

4 / 4
503 / 254

8 / 8

6 / 18
136 / 471
26 / 81

4 
/ 4

20
 / 

10

4 / 4
380 / 206

6 / 18
117 / 361

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

13
1 

/ 6
7

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 / 4
205 / 119

4 / 4

42 / 120
65 / 200
14 / 45

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

O'Neil 
Street

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Brookhill 
Drive

Site 
Access 5

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
6

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
9

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
10

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
12

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
13

44
7 

/ 4
42

20
 / 

74

35
4 

/ 4
83

19
 / 

53

13 / 60

0 / 0

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

68
 / 

34

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

29
 / 

14417 / 218
4 / 4

20 / 63
119 / 394
9 / 27

4 / 4

11

396 / 211
4 / 4

119 / 375
9 / 27

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
11

4 
/ 4

29
 / 

14

15
17

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 
/ 4

4 
/ 4

49
 / 

24

4 / 4
115 / 79

4 / 4

14 / 45
44 / 118
14 / 45

Brookhill 
Drive

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
14

20
 / 

10

4 
/ 4

797 / 875
6 / 18

620 / 931
4 / 4

Covered Bridge 
Road

Si
te

 
A

cc
es

s 
8

Page 230 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

AY

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill Drive

~1
,6

90
'

~2
,1

80
'

Smith Drive

Covered Bridge Road

~5
,2

00
'

10
0'

225'

100'

10
0'

~3
90

'

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~1
,2

60
'

~4
60

'

175'

Pe
r  
th
e 
sit
e 
pl
an
,t
hi
s 

in
te
rs
ec
tio

n 
w
ill
 b
e 

re
al
ig
ne

d

FULL

10
0'

**
* 

N
O

T 
TO

 S
C

A
LE

 *
**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
BE

R
14

-4
25

S
TE

EP
LE

C
H

AS
E

M
IX

ED
-U

SE
D

EV
EL

O
PM

EN
T

Th
is

do
cu

m
en

t,
to

ge
th

er
w

ith
th

e
co

nc
ep

ts
an

d
de

si
gn

s
pr

es
en

te
d

he
re

in
,

is
in

te
nd

ed
on

ly
fo

r
th

e
sp

ec
ifi

c
pu

rp
os

e
an

d
cl

ie
nt

fo
r

w
hi

ch
it

w
as

pr
ep

ar
ed

.
R

eu
se

of
,

or
im

pr
op

er
re

lia
nc

e
on

,
th

is
do

cu
m

en
t

by
ot

he
rs

w
ith

ou
t

w
rit

te
n

au
th

or
iz

at
io

n
an

d
ad

ap
ta

tio
n

by
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

P
O

R
T

an
d

sh
al

lb
e

a
vi

ol
at

io
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
A

VE
N

PO
R

T
an

d
th

e
cl

ie
nt

.

FI
G

U
R

E
17

LE
FT

-O
V

E
R

 
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

FU
LL

B
U

IL
D

R
E

C
O

M
M

E
N

D
E

D
 

IM
P

R
O

V
E

M
E

N
T

S

O'Neil 
Street

City Road

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

Shotwell Road

250'

100'

Site Access 3

Site Access 2

10
0'

12
5'

Site Access 1

Site Access 5

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

4

~790'

42
5'

15
0'

150'

10
0'

FULL

10
0'

10
0'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

7

~1,030'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

6

~450'

Page 231 of 282



N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

U
N

SI
G

N
AL

IZ
ED

IN
TE

R
SE

C
TI

O
N

TR
AF

FI
C

M
O

VE
M

EN
T

B
LA

C
K

= 
EX

IS
TI

N
G

G
R

EY
= 

U
N

AN
AL

YZ
ED

PU
R

PL
E

= 
PH

AS
E

1
B

LU
E

= 
PR

O
PO

SE
D

R
O

AD
W

A
Y

LE
G

EN
D

Brookhill
Drive

Smith Drive

2%

Shotwell Road

Covered Bridge Road

Si
te

A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

12

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

13

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

14

~300'~525'~1,060'
**

* 
N

O
T 

TO
 S

C
A

LE
 *

**

P
R

O
JE

C
T

N
U

M
B

E
R

14
-4

25

S
TE

E
P

LE
C

H
A

S
E

M
IX

E
D

-U
S

E
D

E
V

E
LO

P
M

E
N

T
Th

is
do

cu
m

en
t,

to
ge

th
er

w
ith

th
e

co
nc

ep
ts

an
d

de
si

gn
s

pr
es

en
te

d
he

re
in

,
is

in
te

nd
ed

on
ly

fo
r

th
e

sp
ec

ifi
c

pu
rp

os
e

an
d

cl
ie

nt
fo

r
w

hi
ch

it
w

as
pr

ep
ar

ed
.

R
eu

se
of

,
or

im
pr

op
er

re
lia

nc
e

on
,

th
is

do
cu

m
en

t
by

ot
he

rs
w

ith
ou

t
w

rit
te

n
au

th
or

iz
at

io
n

an
d

ad
ap

ta
tio

n
by

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

sh
al

l
be

w
ith

ou
t

lia
bi

lit
y

to
D

AV
EN

PO
R

T
an

d
sh

al
lb

e
a

vio
la

tio
n

of
th

e
ag

re
em

en
tb

et
w

ee
n

D
AV

EN
PO

R
T

an
d

th
e

cl
ie

nt
.

C
ov

er
ed

 B
rid

ge
R

oa
d

FI
G

U
R

E
17

LE
FT

-O
V

E
R

 
C

O
N

D
IT

IO
N

FU
LL

 B
U

IL
D

 
R

E
C

O
M

M
E

N
D

E
D

 
IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

11

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

10

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

8

M
A

TC
H

LI
N

E
M

A
TC

H
LI

N
E

~830'~1000'

~1,650'

Si
te

 A
cc

es
s

9

~500'

Page 232 of 282



9.0 Summary and Conclusion  
 
DAVENPORT was retained to determine the potential traffic impacts of this 
development and to identify transportation improvements that may be required to 
accommodate the impacts of both background traffic and new development traffic.  
 
The proposed Steeplechase Mixed-Use Development is located along Covered Bridge 
Road bordered by City Road and O’Neil Street in Clayton, North Carolina. The land 
uses, phasing, and build out date estimates were established for analytical purposes 
and do not necessarily represent a prediction of the development schedule.  
 
This study analyzes two phases for the property’s development: 
 
Phase 1 development assumed 511 single family dwelling units and 312 townhome 
dwelling units. This phase of development is envisioned to be completed in 2017. This 
phase will utilize three (3) access points on Covered Bridge Road, one (1) access point 
on City Road and one (1) access point on O’Neil Street.  
 
Full Build development was assumed to have 716 additional single family dwelling 
units, 317 additional townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling units and 75,000 
square feet of retail. The combination of both Phase 1 and Full build yield a total of 
1,227 single family dwelling units, 629 townhome dwelling units, 344 apartment dwelling 
units and 75,000 square feet of retail. This phase of development is envisioned to be 
completed in 2025. This phase will add two (2) access points on Covered Bridge Road, 
one (1) access point on O’Neil Street and six (6) access points on Brookhill Drive.  
 
The Town of Clayton and NCDOT requested roundabout analyses be conducted for the 
intersections of Covered Bridge Road at City Road/ Smith Drive, Covered Bridge Road 
at Brookhill Drive and Covered Bridge Road at O’Neil Street. The analysis found that a 
roundabout was anticipated to operate at an unacceptable level of service in full build 
conditions, and/or the roundabout was anticipated to fail within the 20 year design 
timeframe. 
 
In addition, NCDOT requested that Site Accesses 1, 3 and 5 be analyzed with a left-
over condition. Analysis results show that acceptable level of service is anticipated at 
the study intersections with the recommended improvements in place. 
  
Table 9.1 on the following page summarizes the recommended improvements for each 
Phase. Improvements are illustrated in Figure 9 for Phase 1. Improvements are 
illustrated in Figure 14 and 17 for Full Build and Full Build with left-over conditions, 
respectively.  
 
In conclusion, this study has reviewed the impacts of both background traffic and this 
development traffic, and has determined that with the recommended improvements in 
place, there will be adequate capacity to accommodate future traffic. The final design of 
these improvements will need to be coordinated during the site plan approval process.  
 
Please note that all accesses to the site are required to be constructed to NCDOT 
standards where applicable. 
  

Page 233 of 282



Table 9.1 –  Recommended Improvement Summary 

 

No Build Phase 1 Full Build 

2014 
(0 Lots) 

2015 
(250 Lots) 

2016 
(500 
Lots) 

2017 
(823 Lots) 

2018 
(1,075 Lots) 

2019 
(1,325 Lots) 

2020 
(1,575 Lots + Retail) 

2021 
(1,825 Lots) 

2022 
(2,075 
Lots) 

2023-
2025 

(2,200 
Lots) 

Covered Bridge Road 
at Brookhill Drive/ Site 

Access 2 
     

Provide SBL turn lane 150 feet 
storage and appropriate taper 
(175 feet in left-over condition) 

• Provide EBL turn lane 
with 425 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane 
with 150 feet of storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide NB through-right 
turn lane with 150 feet 
storage and appropriate 
taper 

Signalize 
intersection   

Covered Bridge Road 
at Site Access 3  

• Provide EBR turn lane with 125 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane with 100 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide NB through-right turn 
lane with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

        

Covered Bridge Road 
at O’Neil Street 

(Note: Although turn 
lanes are currently 

needed, they will be 
provided during 

realignment) 

  

• Realign intersection 
per site plan 

• Provide EBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide NBL turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

• Provide SBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage 
and appropriate taper 

Signalize 
intersection      

Covered Bridge Road 
at Site Access 5       

• Provide EBR turn lane 
with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

• Provide WBL turn lane 
with 100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

   

Covered Bridge Road 
at Shotwell Road 

Signalize 
intersection 

• Provide NBR turn lane with 250 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide SBL turn lane with 225 
feet storage and appropriate 
taper 

• Provide WBR turn lane with 
100 feet storage and 
appropriate taper 

        

 

Page 234 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
MOTION GRANTING SUBDIVISION APPROVALS 

SHORT FORM 
 
 

Motion:  
 
Based on the substantial and competent evidence and testimony presented to the Town 
Council on this matter, the Council finds and concludes that Subdivision Application PSD 
2014-128, Steeplechase Planned Development, (subject to the conditions recommended by 
the Planning Board and Planning Staff and with full incorporation of all statements and 
agreements entered into the record by the testimony of the applicant and applicant’s 
representatives): 
 
(1) That the subdivision meets all required specifications of the Town Unified 

Development Ordinance; 

(2) That the subdivision will not be detrimental to the use or orderly development of other 
properties in the surrounding area and will not violate the character of existing 
standards for development of properties in the surrounding area; 

(3) That the subdivision design will provide for the distribution of traffic in a manner that 
will avoid or mitigate congestion within the immediate area, will provide for the 
unified and orderly use of or extension of public infrastructure, and will not materially 
endanger the environment, public health, safety, or the general welfare; and 

(4) That the subdivision will not adversely affect the general plans for the orderly growth 
and development of the town and is consistent with the planning policies adopted by 
the Town Council. 

 
Duly adopted by the Clayton Town Council this 6th  day of April, 2015. 

Page 235 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
SUBDIVISION APPLICATION 

EVALUATION FORM 
 

Application Number: PSD 2014-128 
 
The Town Council shall decide the matter of Subdivision Application Number PSD 2014-
128 by motion and vote on each of the following four findings of fact. Any motion to find 
against the application must be supported by statement of specific reasons or conclusions 
reached in support of the motion. 
 
Finding One of Four: 
 
Circle One 
 
A. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will meet all required specifications and will 
conform to the Town Unified Development Ordinance. (Applicant meets the 
criteria for approval). 

 
B. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will meet all required specifications and will 
conform to the Town Unified Development Ordinance: (Applicant meets the 
criteria for approval upon acceptance of the noted conditions.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
C. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will not meet all required specifications and/or will 
not conform to the Town Unified Development Ordinance for the following stated 
reasons: (Applicant fails to meet the criteria for approval.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 

Page 236 of 282



Finding Two of Four: 
 
Circle One 
 
A. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will not be detrimental to the use or orderly 
development of other properties in the surrounding area and will not violate the 
character of existing standards for development of properties in the surrounding 
area. (Applicant meets the criteria necessary for approval.) 

 
B. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will not be detrimental to the use or orderly 
development of other properties in the surrounding area and will not violate the 
character of existing standards for development of properties in the surrounding 
area upon compliance with the following stated conditions: (Applicant meets the 
criteria necessary for approval upon acceptance of the noted conditions.)  

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
C. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, will be detrimental to the use or orderly development of other 
properties in the surrounding area and/or will violate the character of existing 
standards for development of properties in the surrounding area for the following 
stated reasons: (Applicant fails to meet the criteria necessary for approval.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________

Page 237 of 282



Finding Three of Four: 
 
Circle One 
 
A. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision design, if approved, will provide for the distribution of traffic in a 
manner that will avoid or mitigate congestion within the immediate area, will 
provide for the unified and orderly use of or extension of public infrastructure, 
and will not materially endanger the environment, public health, safety, or the 
general welfare. (Applicant meets the criteria necessary for approval.) 

 
B. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision design, if approved, will provide for the distribution of traffic in a 
manner that will avoid or mitigate congestion within the immediate area, will 
provide for the unified and orderly use of or extension of public infrastructure, 
and will not materially endanger the environment, public health, safety, or the 
general welfare upon compliance with the following stated conditions: (Applicant 
meets the criteria necessary for approval upon acceptance of the noted 
conditions.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
C. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision design, if approved, will not provide for the distribution of traffic 
in a manner that will avoid or mitigate congestion within the immediate area, will 
not provide for the unified and orderly use of or extension of public infrastructure, 
and/or will materially endanger the environment, public health, safety, or the 
general welfare for the following reasons. (Applicant fails to meet the criteria for 
approval.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 

Page 238 of 282



Finding Four of Four: 
 
Circle One 
 
A. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will not adversely affect the general plans for the 
orderly growth and development of the town and is consistent with the planning 
policies adopted by the Town Council. (Applicant meets the criteria necessary for 
approval.) 

 
B. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will not adversely affect the general plans for the 
orderly growth and development of the town and is consistent with the planning 
policies adopted by the Town Council upon compliance with the following stated 
conditions: (Applicant meets the criteria necessary for approval upon acceptance 
of the noted conditions.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
C. Based on the evidence and testimony presented it is the finding of the Council that 

the subdivision, if approved, will adversely affect the general plans for the orderly 
growth and development of the town and/or is not consistent with the planning 
policies adopted by the Town Council for the following stated reasons: (Applicant 
fails to meet the criteria necessary for approval.) 

 
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
____________________________________________________________________ 

Page 239 of 282



Once all findings have been decided one of the two following motions must be made: 
 
 
Motion to Approve: Based upon satisfactory compliance with the above four stated 
findings and fully contingent upon acceptance and compliance with all conditions as 
previously noted herein and with full incorporation of all statements and agreements 
entered into the record by the testimony of the applicant and applicant’s representative I 
move to approve Subdivision Application # _2014-128  
 
 
 
 
OR 
 
 
 
Motion to Deny: Based upon failure to meet all of the above four stated findings and for 
reasons stated therein, I move to deny Subdivision Application #   2014-128. 
 

Page 240 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 6a    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Library Card Fees 
 
DESCRIPTION: Nancy Medlin, Deputy Town Manager,  will provide an 

updated report regarding proposed structure of library user 
fees. 

  
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
3-16-15   Presentation    Report 
         
 
4-6-15   Presentation   Updated Report 
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 241 of 282



LIBRARY 
 
I. Copy Machine or Computer Printouts - $.20 per copy  
 
II. Lost Book Charge - Cost to replace book or audio book  
 
III. Overdue Fines for book or audio book - $.25 per day 
 
IV. Library Card Replacement (unexpired)- $5.00 
 
V. User Fees: 
   
  Non-Resident 
   Annual    $25.00 
   Semi-Annual    $15.00 
   Quarterly    $10.00 
 
  Non-Resident Family (annual)  $50.00  
 

Resident Taxpayer    No Fee 
 

  Non-Resident Taxpayer   No Fee 
 
  Town of Clayton Employee  No Fee 
 
  Educational Employee (Town Limits) No Fee 
 
  Non-Resident Internet Use  $5.00/hour 
   
 
 
 
 

Page 242 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 6b    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Long Range Plan (Library) 
 
DESCRIPTION: Christie Starnes, Library Director, will present the Long 

Range Plan for the Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library 
  
RELATED GOAL:  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
  
 
4-6-15   Presentation   Report 
 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 243 of 282



Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library: Town of Clayton, North Carolina 
 
 
 
 

CONTENTS 
 

I. Long-Range Strategic Plan 
II. Mission & Vision Statement 
III. Circulation Policy 
IV. Collection Management Policy 
V. Disruptive Behavior Policy 
VI. Unattended Child & Disruptive Child Policy 
VII. Meeting Room Use Policy 
VIII. Child Safety Guideline Brochure 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTE: Items referencing online documents have the corresponding web address 
inserted. This document will be available online as a PDF and those referenced items 
will provide hyperlinks to sources outside of TOC website. The only URL we do not have 
at this time is the new library catalog link, which will be available in June. The catalog 
link and the corresponding book-search blocks will be updated by June 1, 2015. 
. 

Page 244 of 282



 
 

I. LONG-RANGE PLAN 
 
 

Strategic Plan 
Town of Clayton: Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library, NC 

July 1, 2015 – June 30, 2020 
 
 
The vision statement on page three sets the stage for what the library hopes to accomplish during this 
five-to-ten year planning stage. The goals and objectives provide guidance to the detailed strategies that 
the Town of Clayton, Library Board and staff will employ to achieve the vision. 

 
Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library is very fortunate to have residents who think it is a very important 
hub in the community1. It is now up to the Town, Library Board and staff to create new opportunities 
to enhance the library’s services and promote all the library has to offer. 

 
 
The Clayton Community 
The Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library service area is made up of 6,648 households within the Town of 
Clayton and covers 13.61 square miles. Most of the households (over 4,000) are considered family 
households as defined by the U.S. Census Bureau and of those family households, 62% are 
households that include children under 18 years of age. Fifteen percent of households have a least 
one person over 65 years of age. 

 
Of the population over the age of 25 years (10,260), 64% have either 
received a bachelor’s degree or have had some college as their highest 
level of education and 7% possess a graduate or professional degree. 
Twenty-three percent have attained a high school diploma with no 
college. Ninety-three percent of the population over the age of 25 has a 
high school diploma and 29% of the same population attained a 
bachelor’s degree or higher. The majority of the residents (90.7%) speak 
only English at home. 2 

 
Many Clayton residents commute to work, with an average commute of about 28 minutes. Of the 8,270 
employed persons in Clayton, almost 3,500 are in “management, business, science and arts 
occupations,” and over 2,000 are in the fields of education and healthcare. Almost 2,000 workers are in 
construction and manufacturing work. The median household income in Clayton is $61,218, and the 
median family income is $73,3633, which is on average 2% higher than the national income. 

 
 
 
 
 

1 Jim Elmore. Focus Group #3. October 28, 2014. 
2 United States. U.S. Census Bureau. “2008-2012 American Community Survey.” 7/23/2014 http://factfinder2.census.gov 
3 United States. US Census Bureau. 

Page 245 of 282

http://factfinder2.census.gov/


Library History 
The Clayton Library can trace its roots back to 1927, when The Woman’s Club of Clayton voted to 
sponsor a town library. The Town Council was persuaded to include space in the Town Hall building for 
a public library. The residents of Clayton were proud of their library room that opened two afternoons 
each week, with an initial collection of donated books totaling 600 volumes. In May 1965, Mrs. B. A. 
Hocutt deeded over her home to the Town of Clayton to be used as the future home of a public library. 
Friends of the Library, Inc. organized in 1976 to seek funds for the building and maintenance of a new 
library. By 1979, the Clayton community contributed over $52,000 toward construction of a new public 
library and the Johnston County commissioners pledged a $15,000 grant. The estimated cost of the 
library was $200,000 and about half of that total came from a bond issue. On May 17, 1981, the Hocutt- 
Ellington Memorial Library replaced the room in the Town Hall building. The area of the library was 
3,500 square feet. As library services grew and space became an issue, three additions were added to 
the existing building in 1996, 2002, and 2006. 

 
 
Current Library Use 
The Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library serves the residents of the Town of Clayton, extraterritorial 
jurisdiction and extended areas. According to the 2010 census, the Town of Clayton population is 
16,116. The total holdings for the library are 74,262 items, with additional electronic holdings. The 
library counts 14,123 active card holders and maintains a circulation of over 43,000 items per year 
(148,403 checkout and renewal). The library received 7,469 interlibrary loan items for patrons picking 
up at Clayton and lent 2,526 items to other libraries for interlibrary loan. In fiscal year 2013/2014, the 
library counted an attendance of 152,324 library visits for the year. In that same fiscal year, the library 
offered 167 program sessions, with program attendance at 6,950. The library maintains a staff of 7.6 
full-time equivalents. 

 
 
Methods 
The Library Board of Trustees embarked on a long-range planning process in 2014 with the formation of 
a Long Range Strategic Planning Committee. The committee consisted of trustees, the library director, 
and the library staff members, with the inclusion of members of the Friends of the Library. The 
committee solicited community input through both a paper and an online survey and through a series of 
focus groups, all of which took place in October 2014. The surveys and focus groups were publicized in 
all local media outlets, including online outlets. Six hundred and twenty-three people filled out the  
survey either on paper or online  and 28 people participated in the focus groups, which were moderated 
by Daphne Key, Gabe Johnson and Belle Allen. Focus groups were divided into categories: business 
people and professionals, parents with children, non-library users, teens, Friends of the Library, library 
staff and Library Trustees. 

 
 
The survey results were compiled using an online survey tool through Survey Monkey and focus 

Page 246 of 282



group results were compiled by the Library Director. The committee reviewed the survey and focus 
group results in preparation for developing the Long Range Strategic Plan. 

 
 

Mission 
 
 

Our mission is to enrich the quality of life within our community by nurturing library users of all ages. 
 

The library upholds and supports the Library Bill of Rights. 
 
 
 

Vision 
 
 

The Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library will be the community’s preferred resource for local history, 
recreational reading, lifelong learning, quality collections and exemplary service. 

 
 

Values 
 
 

Our commitment to value is uncompromising. We strive for quality services delivered to each member 
of the community. 

 
Our commitment to inclusiveness embraces defending the rights of all individuals to use the library’s 
resources and services. We value our community’s diversity and strive to reflect that by providing a full 
spectrum of resources and services to the community we serve. 

 
Our commitment to integrity ensures that our town’s activities will be conducted with fairness, openness 
and honesty. We will do the right things, not just the easy things. 

 
Our commitment to stewardship guides us as we wisely utilize all resources to secure the best value 
for the community. 

 
Our commitment to transformation is achieved by embracing change rather than sustaining the status 
quo. We work to ensure that the knowledge, skills and abilities of our employees are relevant to the 
needs of our community. 

 
 

Primary Goals 
To achieve our mission and vision, the Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library has identified seven areas 
of emphasis to which we will devote our collection, facility, policy, programming, staff and volunteer 
resources. 

Page 247 of 282



 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

FOCUS 1: Communication 
 
 

GOAL – Grow and strengthen the methods of communicating the Library’s message for 
residents to connect to each other and build a wider local library community. 

 
 

OBJECTIVES: 
 

Explore additional ways to reach patrons/non-patrons 

Action Steps: 

• Create a quarterly newsletter; print and electronic format 
• Install on-site marquee sign 

 
Explore and expand the use of Social Media outlets for communicating with patrons and non- 
patrons 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Continue to use Facebook, Twitter and Pinterest for social media contact with patrons 

and investigate upcoming social media outlets 
• Promote all social media initiatives so that patrons are aware of their availability 

 
Evaluate and expand the Library website and calendar of events to better meet the needs of 
patrons of all ages. 

 
Action Steps: 

 

 
• Investigate online registration option for email notification for events 
• Continually evaluate website for organization, relevance, information and 

timeliness 

Page 248 of 282



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

FOCUS 2: Cultural Arts 
 
 
GOAL– Provide a welcoming environment for patrons of all 
ages and interests to draw people to the community, and be a 
resource for information and life-long learning. 

 
OBJECTIVES: 

 
Partner with cultural and recreational departments and 
organizations to share performances and activity space, and 
collaborate with them on programs and events. 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Investigate non-library space for shared 

events and marketing 
• Collaborate with area groups and 

cultural organizations toward grant 
partnerships 

 
Identify and develop new collections to enhance 
quality of life entertainment for our patrons. 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Add Movie Streaming collection 
• Add Music Streaming collection 

 
 
 
Collaborate with external partners in order to provide a broad range of services that meet the 
community’s needs. 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Initiate collaborative Lunch N’ Learns 
• Program community book club meet-ups, “Book Bash” 
• Schedule onsite job-skill workshops including STEM speakers 

Page 249 of 282



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

FOCUS 3: Technology 
 
 

GOAL– Provide technology and technology training for patrons of all ages and interests. 

OBJECTIVES: 

Use cutting-edge technology to improve library services to the public and to provide an 
enhanced library experience for our customers. 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Continue to expand the eBook collection and improve e-services 
• Schedule monthly computer classes – PC Basics, Email, Google 
• Install more public computer stations 
• Provide laptop space & charge stations 
• Add a conference room with Wi-Fi 
• Add collaboration rooms or quiet study rooms 

Page 250 of 282



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FOCUS 4: Young Adult 
 
 
GOAL - The library will provide a space and maintain a variety of programs, collections, and 
services to meet the personal, educational, and cultural needs of middle school and high school 
students and their families. 

 
OBJECTIVES: 

 
 
Make the library relevant to young adults including ownership in collections and space. 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Continue to expand young adult fiction and nonfiction 
• Continue to expand graphic novels and manga collection 
• Create a young adult area within the library 

 
Foster positive relationships with teens. 

 
• Outreach to local middle schools and high schools 
• Create monthly teen events and programs 
• Initiate stages for the development of a Teen Advisory Board 

Page 251 of 282



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

FOCUS 5: Local History 
 
 
GOAL – Encourage timeless enthusiasm for Clayton’s economic, residential and 
family histories. 

 
OBJECTIVES: 

 
 
Develop methods for external and on-site self-guided research. 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Collaborate with Heritage Center and NC Preservation Office 
• Create web-based digital archives for online searching 

 
 
 
Maintain historical preservation through advocacy. 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Schedule events with Clayton Historical Association 
• Collaborate with The Clayton Center with exhibits 
• Showcase community-based library participation 
• Showcase oral histories by way of resident storytellers 

Page 252 of 282



FOCUS 6: Children  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

GOAL – The library will provide and maintain a variety of programs, collections, and services to 
meet the personal, educational, and cultural needs of 
children, their caregivers and families. 

 
OBJECTIVES: 

 
 

Enhance collections and programming to support early 
literacy. 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Add an additional Early Literacy Station 
• Expand seating for family reading space 
• Add shelving to showcase new books 

 
Continue to increase participation with Summer Reading 
Program 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Provide story times for leveled readers 
• Assess the need for Saturday family events 

Page 253 of 282



FOCUS 7: Seniors  

 
 

 
 

 

GOAL – The library will provide traditional and non-traditional services, programming and 
partnerships to address senior needs within the community. 

 
OBJECTIVES: 

 
 

Increase outreach through programming at nursing homes/assisted living facilities and other 
places in the community where seniors gather. 

 
Action Steps: 

 
• Offer community members the opportunity to give a book to outreach 

collections for seniors. 
• Use new catalog to lend books to senior facilities. 
• Expand large print collection and books on tape 

 
 
 

Address senior needs such health, education, storytelling and arts & culture. 
 

• Develop and institute programs to teach basic computer skills, including email, photo 
sharing, and social media, to seniors. 

• Partner with The Clayton Center & Recreation Department to enhance 
entertainment and event activities. 

• Create collaborative events centered on children’s story time during Summer 
Reading; Bridging the Generations! 

Page 254 of 282



Participants  

 
 

 

The following individuals contributed to 
the community needs assessment 
project either through process planning, 
participating or organizing focus 
groups, formulating data or writing this 
document. 

 

Joyce Gurley 
Mary Alice Barbour 
Dolores Bagley 
Nancy Burgart 
Susan Ferrell 
Joyce Barbour 
Rebecca Duncan 
Isabella Duncan 
Michelle Eckhart 
Mike Reiser 
Dr. Karel Lloyd 
Gwen Canady 
Duba Coats 
Ruthie Eason 
Dora Mustlipher 
Stephanie Pena 
Janet Uzzell 
Jim Elmore 
Jan Cowperthwaite 
Sybil Ross 
Elaine Coker 
Michael Grannis 
Cynthia Toudle 
Jared Mella 
Karysma Robinson 
Samantha Blanchard 
Bailey Ellis 
Dominique Quinten 
Olivia Biro 
Jordan Pounds 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Janet Lowry 
Daphne Key, Ph. D. 
Art Holder 
Belle B. Allen 
Elizabeth T. Barber 
Emily B. Bagley 
Gabe Johnson 
Stacy Beard  
Nancy Medlin 
Debbie Ragland 
Caroline Mak 
Loan Such 
Linda Holliday 
Nikki King 
Pam Johnson 
Mardia Jacobs 
Pam Baumgartner 
Mary Creech 
Christie Starnes 
Steve Biggs 

 

 
Special thanks to the many members of the 

Clayton community who completed the final 

survey, gave us feedback through one- on-one 

discussions, and who ultimately determine the 

direction of 
the library. 

Page 255 of 282



 

II. MISSION & VISION STATMENT 
 
 
 

Mission 
 
 
 
Our mission is to enrich  the quality of life within our community by nurturing library 
users of all ages. 

 
The library upholds and supports the Library Bill of Rights. 

 
 
 

Vision 
 
 
The Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library will be the community’s preferred resource for 
local history, recreational reading, lifelong learning, quality collections and exemplary 
service. 

 
 

Values 
 
 
Our commitment to value is uncompromising. We strive for quality services delivered to 
each member of the community. 

 
Our commitment to inclusiveness embraces defending the rights of all individuals to 
use the library’s resources and services. We value our community’s diversity and strive 
to reflect that by providing a full spectrum of resources and services to the community 
we serve. 

 
Our commitment to integrity ensures that our town’s activities will be conducted with 
fairness, openness and honesty. We will do the right things, not just the easy things. 

 
Our commitment to stewardship guides us as we wisely utilize all resources to secure 
the best value for the community. 

 
Our commitment to transformation is achieved by embracing change rather than 
sustaining the status quo. We work to ensure that the knowledge, skills and abilities of 
our employees are relevant to the needs of our community. 

Page 256 of 282



 

 

 

III. CIRCULAITON POLICY 
 
 
 
Purpose of Policy 

 
This Circulation Policy covers library card registration criteria and related matters. 
Specific information about borrowing, loan periods, fines and fees can be found on 
the Library’s website and at the Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library (HEML) service 
desks. 

 
Confidentiality of Library User Records 

 
The HEML will abide by the North Carolina General Statute on Confidentiality of 
Library User Records (§ 125-19), which states— 

 
(a) Disclosure. -- A library shall not disclose any library record that identifies a 
person as having requested or obtained specific materials, information, or services, 
or as otherwise having used the library, except as provided for in subsection (b). 

 
(b) Exceptions. -- Library records may be disclosed in the following instances: 

 
(1) When necessary for the reasonable operation of the library; 

 
(2) Upon written consent of the user; or 

 
(3) Pursuant to subpoena, court order, or where otherwise required by law. 

 
Library Cards 

 
All persons who reside on property within the corporate town limits of the 
Town of Clayton are entitled to a HEML card at no cost. One piece of current 
identification showing your name and address inside the town limits is 
required. 
 

 A parent or legal guardian is responsible for the use of library 
materials by children under the age of 16. 

 Any young adult 16 years of age and older may apply for their own card. 
They must have proof of residency in their own name. 

 Children under the age of seven may borrow items on their 
parent/guardian’s card. Children from the age of 7-15 can be issued their 

own library card with a parent/guardian signature. 
 Library cards are valid for 1 year from the date of issue, with the exception of 

some temporary living situations when shorter expiration dates may be 
issued. 

Page 257 of 282



 

 
 Library cards are not transferable either permanently or temporarily. 
 A library card is not to be used by any person other than the person to whom it is 

issued. There is only one exception to this rule: the card of a patron registered as 
Patron Type “Homebound” may be used by someone designated by the patron. 
 
Education Employees 

  Persons who work for educational institutions within the corporate  limits of  
Clayton may obtain a free library card under the name of the  organization for 
which they work. Proof of current employment/affiliation with the  institution for 

which the card will be used must be presented when the card is  requested. 
 This card entitles the organization to all services provided by HEML. 

 
     Non-Resident Property Owner 
 Non-residents who own and pay taxes on property within the corporate town limits 

of the Town of Clayton are entitled to a HEML library card, at no cost. A current tax 
bill must be presented along with current photo identification. 

 One library card per tax bill will be issued for a period of one year. 
 The card entitles the cardholder to all services provided by the HEML. 

 
Non-Resident 

 Persons who do not reside within the corporate limits of the Town of Clayton nor 
own property within the corporate limits of the Town of Clayton may purchase a 
non-resident borrower’s card according to guidelines found in Chapter 153A Article 
14  (Libraries) of North Carolina General Statutes. 

 The fee structure for this card is set each year by the Town of Clayton Town 
Council and can be found in the Comprehensive List of Fees and Charges. 
 
Non-Resident Family 

 A family non-resident borrower’s card may be issued to any family with two or more 
    children residing at the same legal address of the applicant. 
 May only be used by the patron to whom the card was issued. 

 
 

Non-Resident Internet Use 
 Offered to out-of-town guest who need to use our public kiosks for an hour. 
 Visitors must provide valid driver’s license. 
 No physical card is issued for this service; an internet-use registration form. 
 The fee for this card is set each year by the Town of Clayton Town Council and may 

be found in the Comprehensive List of Fees and Charges.2
 

 

Page 258 of 282

http://www.ncga.state.nc.us/EnactedLegislation/Statutes/PDF/ByArticle/Chapter_153A/Article_14.pdf
http://www.ncga.state.nc.us/EnactedLegislation/Statutes/PDF/ByArticle/Chapter_153A/Article_14.pdf
http://www.ncga.state.nc.us/EnactedLegislation/Statutes/PDF/ByArticle/Chapter_153A/Article_14.pdf


 

 
Town Employees 

 HEML cards are issued as a courtesy to all Town of Clayton employees 
regardless of County residency. 

 A Town Employee card is valid for the duration of employment with the Town of 
Clayton. 
 

Renewal of Library Cards 
 Library cards have an expiration date. To renew HEML card, a patron must 

prove his/her identity and residency within the corporate town limits of 
Clayton in the same way as for the original card application. 

 All fines and fees must be paid before a card can be renewed. 
 
 

Lost or Stolen Library Cards 
 Cardholders are responsible for materials checked out on their cards until the 

card is reported lost or stolen to the HEML. 
 A fee is charged for the replacement of a current library card, as outlined in the 

Comprehensive List of Fees and Charges. 
 To replace a lost or stolen card, a patron must prove his/her identity and 

residency in the same way as in the original card application. 
 Library user fees will be as listed in the Town of Clayton Comprehensive 

List of Fees and Charges. 
 

 
“Card In Hand” Requirements 
To conduct circulation transactions or to receive information about a cardholder’s 
circulation records, patrons must present a valid library card. Patrons conducting 
business by phone must provide the library card barcode number. Discretionary 
exceptions to this policy may be made for the occasional forgotten library card if the 
patron offers valid identification or is identified by a member of the library staff. 

 
        Responsibilities of Cardholders 
 Cardholders are responsible for all materials borrowed on their card. This includes 

returning the materials in a timely manner and in the same condition as when the 
materials were borrowed. 

 Materials kept out beyond the loan periods will be considered overdue, and fine or 
replacement fees will be assessed. Replacement and processing fees will be 
assessed for lost, damaged or unreturned materials. 

Page 259 of 282



 

 
 Overdue notices are mailed as a courtesy. Patrons are responsible for the timely 

return of materials whether or not they receive the overdue notice. Any uncollected 
fees in excess of $50 will be subject to collection through the NC Debt Setoff 
Program. 

 Having overdue materials, fines or fees on library cards may cause borrowing or 
service restrictions. 

 Cardholders or parents/guardians of cardholders under 16 years of age are also 
responsible for notifying HEML of any change of address, email address or 
telephone number. 

 According to North Carolina statute Chapter 14-398 it is considered theft to borrow 
but not return library materials. 

 
 
Use of Library Materials by the Public 

 
1. All Library collections are available to the general public for in-house use. 
2. Some restrictions apply to in-house equipment and computer use. 
3. Some restrictions apply to use of fragile or valuable collections, including some 

archival collections. 

Page 260 of 282

http://www.ncga.state.nc.us/EnactedLegislation/Statutes/PDF/BySection/Chapter_14/GS_14-398.pdf


 

Circulation Periods 
 
Circulation of library materials will be as follows: 

 
• High demand items and best sellers circulate 1 week 

(best sellers of 400+ pages will circulate for 2 weeks.) 
• All other materials circulate 3 weeks. 

 
Renewal of Library Materials 

 
Renewal can be done in person, by telephone or online. 

 
• Renewal requires the library card on which the items were checked out. 
• Telephone renewal can be done by calling HEML during our operating hours. 
• Items that are reserved for use by another patron cannot be renewed. 
• Internet Renewal is available from HEML Online Catalog. Just click on the My 

Account tab on any page of the Catalog and input your library card number 
and PIN. Some items may not be renewed with the online renewal system. 
Please contact the HEML for more details. 

 
Fines and Fees 

 
Fees for overdue library materials will be as listed in the Town of Clayton Comprehensive 
List of Fees and Charges. 

 

Overdue Notices 
 

Courtesy Email 
 

Patrons with an email address listed in their library account will receive an email 
two days before an item is due back to the library. Courtesy email reminders will 
allow patrons the chance to renew materials or to return them, so fines can be 
avoided. Failure to receive a courtesy email reminder does not absolve the patron 
of responsibility for accrued late fines.. 

 
First Notice at 2 Weeks 

 
 

The first overdue notice will be sent to the patron email address of record when 
the item is 2 weeks overdue. The notice will include a list of overdue materials. 
If an email address is not listed in the patron’s library account, the first overdue 
notice may be sent as a phone text or voicemail. 

 
Failure to return the overdue items within seven (7) working days of the date of 
the notice will result in a suspension of a cardholder's borrowing privileges until 
the account is cleared. 

Page 261 of 282



 

Failure to return the overdue items within 4 weeks of the original due date will 
result in a charge to the cardholder's account for the replacement cost of the 
materials. 

 
Second Notice: Bill for replacement at 4 weeks 

 
The second overdue notice will be sent when the item is 4 weeks overdue. This 
notice will include a bill for the replacement cost of the items. If the overdue items 
are subsequently located and returned to HEML, the patron will only be 
responsible for paying the overdue fines. 

 
Lost and Damaged Items 

 
Fees for items that are lost or damaged will equal the list/retail price of the item as 
well as the processing cost, e.g. spine label, book cover, book tape, MARC record, 
etc. 

 
Fine/fee Collection 

 
Library patrons or the parents of juvenile library patrons are expected to return library 
materials promptly and to pay any fines incurred. 

 
1. Status of borrowing privileges if the patron has outstanding fees/fines. 

a. If an item is more than 14 days overdue, borrowing privileges are 
suspended until the materials are returned and the fine is paid. 

b. If a patron’s account totals more than $25.00, borrowing privileges are 
suspended unless: 

 the patron is paying through an approved installment plan. 
Information on this plan will be entered into the patron record. It will 
be removed upon final payment. 

 there are exceptions noted on the patron’s record. 
 

Notations to a patron record will be eliminated when his/her account is settled. 
 

2. Claims returned 
 

On occasion a library patron reports to the library that an overdue notice has 
been sent in error, and the items have already been returned. This is referred to 
as a "claims returned" response. 

 
The library will accept a patron’s claimed returned response five times. Each 
instance will be noted in the patron’s account. 

Page 262 of 282



 

After five (5) instances, the library will assume that there is a possibility of false 
reports of “claims returned.” The most recent “claims returned” items will be 
considered overdue on the patron’s account. The patron will be expected to 
return the items or reimburse the library for the lost materials according to the 
fee schedule listed. 

 
Failure to pay for lost items may result in suspended library privileges. Any fee in 
excess of $50 will be subject to collection through the North Carolina Debt Setoff 
Program. As authorized by the North Carolina General Statutes, Chapter 105A, the 
Setoff Debt Collection Act (the “Act”), the Town of Clayton will submit debt to the North 
Carolina Department of Revenue for collection by applying the debt against any income 
tax refund in excess of $50 that you may be entitled to receive or from lottery proceeds. 

 
Confidentiality 

 
This confidentiality policy applies equally to adults and minors. When an adult requests 
the records of a child, the library will respond only if the child consents to the request. 

 
Staff may respond to telephone requests for information about materials checked out to 
patron accounts (adult or child) if the caller has the barcode number on the library card. 

Page 263 of 282



 

IV. COLLECTION MANAGEMENT POLICY 
 
 
Purpose of Policy 

 
The Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library (HEML) is a community institution dedicated to 
the concept of fair and equal service for all. This Collection Development Policy 
provides guidelines for the library staff in their role as selectors of library materials. It 
also serves as a method of communicating the Library's principles to all interested 
stakeholders. 

 
Principles 

 
Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library Mission Statement 

Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library Values 

Endorsement of ALA Statements 

The HEML supports the Library Bill of Rights 
 

Freedom to Read Statement and the Freedom to View Statement 
 

Inherent in the collection development philosophy is an appreciation for each customer 
of the HEML. The Library provides materials to support each individual’s journey, and 
does not place a value on one customer’s needs or preferences over another’s. 

 
Intellectual Freedom 

 
The HEML is committed to the principle that the constitutionally protected freedoms of 
speech and press are enjoyed by all. To this end, the HEML strives to offer a collection 
that represents the needs of our diverse community. Inclusion of an item in the collection 
does not mean that the HEML endorses any theory or statement contained in those 
materials and resources. 

 
While every patron may not agree with the viewpoints offered in some material, the 
HEML has a responsibility to provide a balanced collection with access to material 
reflecting diverse ideas through which any side of a question, cause, or movement may 
be explored, provided that the material meets the outlined selection criteria. The 
balanced nature of the collection is reflected in the diversity of materials, not in an 
equality of numbers. Patrons are free to choose what they like from the collection, to 
reject what they don't like, but not to restrict the freedom of others to choose. 

Page 264 of 282

http://www.ala.org/advocacy/intfreedom/librarybill/
http://www.ala.org/advocacy/intfreedom/statementspols/freedomreadstatement
http://www.ala.org/advocacy/intfreedom/statementspols/freedomviewstatement


 

Decisions about what materials are suitable for particular children should be made by 
the people who know them best - their parents or guardians. Selection of materials for 
adults is not constrained by possible exposure to children or young adults. 

 
The HEML is committed to free and open access to its collections and to connecting 
people with the world of ideas, information and materials they wish to explore in a 
friendly, nonjudgmental manner. 

 
 
 
 
Procedures 

 
Materials Selection 

 
For this Collection Development Policy, the selection of material includes the 
decision to add to, and retain materials in, the library's collection. All library 
acquisitions, whether purchased or donated, are considered and evaluated using 
the same standards. Using the following criteria, materials are evaluated and 
selected by the library staff. Ultimate responsibility for selection rests with the 
library administration. 

 
The HEML selects material on a variety of criteria including but not limited to: 

 
• currency 
• relevance or popularity of topic 
• demand/anticipated demand 
• authority/critical review 
• local significance 
• uniqueness of information 
• expressed needs and interests of Clayton residents 
• date of publication 
• expression of challenging or alternative points of view 
• accessibility for multiple patrons for electronic materials 

 
 
 
 

The HEML also collects books, artifacts, and historical reference materials 
related to the long and rich history of Clayton and its residents. The 
Virginia Lee Satterfield local history room is an ongoing historical collection 
of the Clayton area homes, businesses and family heritage. Historical 
documents and pictures are continuously sought out and added to the 
collection. 

 
The large print book collection meets the needs of an increasing number 
of visually impaired patrons. The major thrust of the collection is popular 

Page 265 of 282



 

fiction, along with high interest non-fiction, including biographies. 
Additional resources are available from the North Carolina Library for the 
Blind and Physically Handicapped. 

 

The audiobook collection contains sound recordings of fiction and 
nonfiction books, emphasizing popular high-demand items. 

 
Materials Deselection 

 
The HEML continuously reviews its collections and removes materials that are 
worn, obsolete, or unnecessary duplicates. This act is also known as "weeding" 
and is an on-going process. When sources become dated and misrepresentative 
of current knowledge, they are marked for removal from the collection. These 
materials are then reviewed by the Library Director to determine if they should  
be permanently discarded.  Replacement of lost or weeded materials is not 
automatic, but evaluated based on the same criteria as new purchases. 

 
The HEML deselects material on a variety of criteria including but not limited to: 

 
• poor physical condition 
• age 
• out of date 
• no longer popular 
• erroneous information 
• dated information/point of view 
• duplication 
• superseded editions 
• lack or loss of interest 
• availability in alternative format 
• altered collection emphasis 

 
 
 
 

Community Suggestions 
 

The HEML welcomes expressions of opinions from the public concerning 
materials selected or not selected for inclusion in its collections. Requests to add 
or remove materials will be considered within the contexts of the principles 
affirmed in this document. 

 
All suggestions for purchase are subject to the same selection criteria as other 
materials and are not automatically added to the collection. It is the HEML’s 
intent that suggestions for purchase be used to help in developing collections 
which serve the interests and needs of the community. 

Page 266 of 282

http://statelibrary.ncdcr.gov/lbph/
http://statelibrary.ncdcr.gov/lbph/


 

Book suggestions can be submitted online, or you can suggest a title in person 
while visiting the HEML. 

 
Patrons or staff members who wish to request the reconsideration of materials 
must complete and sign a "Request for Reconsideration" form, which is available 
at the Library's circulation desk. Anonymous phone calls, rumors, or voiced 
concern will not be honored. Action will only occur after the signed "Request for 
Reconsideration" form is returned to the HEML. 

 
Completed forms should be dropped off at any circulation desk at the HEML. 
The item in question will be submitted for review by the Library Director and 
staff.. 

 
 

Gift Materials 
 
 

HEML accepts gifts of new or gently-used books, magazines, and music or 
books on compact disc. Decisions on whether and how donated items will be 
added to the collections are based on the same evaluative criteria that are 
applied to purchased materials. 

 

 
Items that are not added to the collections are given to the Friends of the Library 
group supporting the HEML. 

Page 267 of 282

http://www.townofclaytonnc.org/Library/recommend.aspx


 

V. DISRUPTIVE BEHAVIOR POLICY 
 
 
In order that the Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library (HEML) may function 
properly as a library in providing a quiet, pleasant environment conducive to 
serious study as well as casual use, the following forms of conduct are deemed 
unacceptable and not permitted in the library or library grounds: 

 
 
 

1. Smoking; 
2. Audible use of cell phones; 
3. Bearing unauthorized firearms or other lethal weapons; 
4. Theft, mutilation, and defacement of library property; 
5. Threats, abuse, and/or physical harm to library patrons or staff; 
6. Consumption or exchange of drugs or alcoholic beverages; 
7. Sexual activity, solicitation, following staff or users around, or other harassing 

behavior; 
8. Obscene or abusive language; 
9. Food, except in designated areas. Beverages in covered containers are 

permissible. 
10. Loitering or sleeping; 
11. Blocking or interfering with the free movement of individuals; 
12. Sitting, standing, or lying on tables or stacks; 
13. Rearranging of any furniture or equipment from one location to another; 
14. Listening to audible devices except with earphones; 
15. Use of rest room for meetings, loitering, solicitation for immoral purposes, drugs 

or alcohol; 
16. Solicitation of money, selling of any kind (except sales of public library 

material by library or Friends as authorized by the library), or distribution of 
literature not approved by administration; 

17. Entry to non-public areas except by invitation or approval of library staff; 
18. Taking library property outside library building without authorization by library 

staff; 
19. Riding skateboards, rollerblades or bikes in a manner other than means of 

transportation; 
20. Engaging in disorderly conduct, committing a nuisance, or unreasonably 

disturbing and/or offending library users; 
21. Campaigning, petitioning, interviewing, survey-taking, soliciting, sales, or 

other speech or conduct, which results in the disruption of normal Library 
activities; 

22. Wearing clothes in a fashion that is crude, showing of undergarments; 
23. Running or throwing things. 

Page 268 of 282



 

The above list of unacceptable conduct is meant to be illustrative, but not 
exhaustive.  Final evaluation of unacceptable conduct in the HEML shall be made 
by the Library Director and/or designated staff.  Individuals may be temporarily 
banned, temporarily trespassed or permanently trespassed from the HEML and/or 
all Town properties for unacceptable conduct. If any individual proves in violation of 
the above, the Library Director can temporarily ban the user, or Clayton Police 
Department will officially trespass from the Town of Clayton Library. Depending on 
the severity of the violation, the official trespass can extend to all Town of Clayton 
properties. 

Page 269 of 282



 

VI. UNATTENDED CHILD & DISRUPTIVE CHILD POLICY 
 
 
Parents are responsible for the care, safety, and behavior of their children of Library 
property. Library staff has the authority to take security measures for behavioral and 
safety issues of unattended children, up to and including Town of Clayton Police 
Department. 

When witnessing an unattended child, library staff 
must take the following actions: 

 
 
If the unattended child is not disruptive, but is left for extended periods of time, the 
manager will prepare a letter to the parent, including a copy of Child Safety at the 
Library. 

 
 
If the unattended child is disruptive, ask the child to stop the behavior. If the disruptive 
behavior continues, determine if parent/caregiver is present by searching the building. 

 
 
If parent/caregiver is located, explain the situation and ask parent/caregiver to address 
the disruptive behavior. If the parent/caregiver refuses or is unable to control the child’s 
behavior, ask the family to leave the library. If the parent/caregiver refuses to leave, 
call Town of Clayton Police. 

 
 
If the parent/caregiver is not located in the library, call the parent. Explain the situation 
to the parent. Ask the parent to pick up the child. If the parent cannot immediately pick 
up the child, call Town of Clayton Police. Ask them to take custody of the child. 

 
 
If parent cannot be reached by phone, call Town of Clayton Police. Ask them to take 
custody of the child. The police officer will document all action taken on the incident 
report, recording child’s name, address and phone number. 

 
 
If a child is left unattended after the library closes, ask if a ride is coming. Two library 
staff will stay with the child inside the library until the parent arrives. If the parent does 
not arrive in 15 minutes after closing, attempt to contact the parent. If the parent 
cannot be contacted, call Town of Clayton Police to take custody of child. Prepare a 
letter to the parent and leave it on the front door. DO NOT drive a child home or to any 
other location. 

Page 270 of 282



 

VII. MEETING ROOM POLICY 
 
Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library - Sybil Champion Meeting Room 

 

Policy Statement 
 
The Sybil Champion Meeting Room located in the Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library 
(HEML) is primarily for programs sponsored by the HEML, Library Board, and other 
Library and Town-related organizations. Reservations will not be accepted for a 
series of meetings that designate the library as a regular meeting place and 
reservations may not be made more than 1 month in advance. HEML sponsored 
programs have a priority use of the room and groups will be notified if the HEML needs 
use of the room. When HEML sponsored activities are not occupying the room, other 
groups may use the room for lawful, non-commercial, non-religious, and non-partisan 
activities. (See footnote) Groups using the library’s meeting rooms may not charge 
admission or make any monetary collections. Partisan political meetings and religious 
instruction, services or ceremonies are not permitted. All meetings must be open to the 
public. Public meeting room use does not constitute endorsement of the beliefs or ideas 
expressed by organizations or individuals using the space. Commercial enterprises 
do not meet qualifications for meeting room use 

 
User Responsibilities 

 
• An authorized adult representative of the group reserving the meeting room must 
remain on the premises for the duration of the period for which it is reserved. 

 
• Groups should designate a representative to direct attendees/participants to the 
meeting space. 

 
• When booking the space, groups should allow sufficient time before the library closes 
for set-up, break-down, and clean-up. 

 
• Each group is responsible for setting up the room according to its own needs. Library 
facilities and meeting room users agree to restore the area to its original condition. It is 
expected that the chairs and tables in the meeting room will be returned to the same 
arrangement in which they were found. 

 
• Any user of the meeting room showing a film/video/DVD in the library must adhere to 
the copyright law. Films/videos/DVDs must have public performance rights in order to 
be viewed in the Library meeting room. 

 
• Groups using the meeting room must assume all responsibility for any damage to the 
Library facilities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 Page 271 of 282



 

Prohibited Activities 
• Drugs, alcohol, and the use of tobacco products 
• Disruptive behavior 
• Activities that impede the functions of the Library 
• The use of any equipment that interferes with Library operations or which creates 

any losses or liabilities for the Library 
• Commercial demonstration and or sales or promotion of products or services 
• Private social parties or personal celebrations 

 
Liability 

 
The HEML assumes no responsibility for lost or stolen items or damage to vehicles in 
the parking lot. Signing of the application by an individual or any representative of the 
group and/or organization releases the HEML of any responsibility for damage or loss 
suffered during the period of agreement. Groups, individuals and/or organizations shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless HEML, Town of Clayton and its officers, agents, 
and employees from and against any and all claims, suits, actions of any kind, arising 
and resulting and accruing from any negligent act, omission or error of the group, 
individual and/or organization resulting in or relating to personal injuries or property 
damage arising from the organization/group’s use of the library meeting room. 

 
Publicity 

 
Each group is responsible for its own publicity. Any printed publicity needs to include the 
statement: “This program is not sponsored by the Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library – 
Town of Clayton.” Participants may not call or mail the HEML or the Town of Clayton to 
register. You may place a directional sign on a display stand provided by the library just 
prior to the meeting. Materials may not be attached to walls, windows, doors or 
furnishings. Unauthorized signs will be removed. 

 
The Library Director and Deputy Town Manager have the right to reject any group 
and/or individual at any time for any present or past guideline violations. 

 
If you have any concerns, questions, or request for exceptions, please direct them to: 

Policy Effective Date: 

Approval By: Senior Library Assistant or Library Director 
 
*North Carolina General Statute 163-99 requires that our meeting rooms be made available for political 
parties' (as defined by NCGS 163-96) annual or biennial precinct meetings and county and district 
conventions. Except as mandated by law, political meetings are not allowed. 

Page 272 of 282



 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
When witnessing an unattended child, library staff 

must take the following actions: 
 
 
If the unattended child is not disruptive, but is left for extended 
periods of time, the manager will prepare a letter to the parent, 
including a copy of Child Safety at the Library. 

 
 
If the unattended child is disruptive, ask the child to stop the 
behavior. If the disruptive behavior continues, determine if 
parent/caregiver is present by searching the building. 

 
 
If parent/caregiver is located, explain the situation and ask 
parent/caregiver to address the disruptive behavior. If the 
parent/caregiver refuses or is unable to control the child’s be- 
havior, ask the family to leave the library. If the parent/caregiver 
refuses to leave, call Town of Clayton Police. 

 
 
If the parent/caregiver is not located in the library, call the par- 
ent. Explain the situation to the parent. Ask the parent to pick 
up the child. If the parent cannot immediately pick up the child, 
call Town of Clayton Police. Ask them to take custody of the 
child. 

 
 
If parent cannot be reached by phone, call Town of Clayton Po- 
lice. Ask them to take custody of the child. The police officer will 
document all action taken on the incident report, recording 
child’s name, address and phone number. 

 
 
If a child is left unattended after the library closes, ask if a ride is 
coming. Two library staff will stay with the child inside the library 
until the parent arrives. If the parent does not arrive in 15 
minutes after closing, attempt to contact the parent. If the par- 
ent cannot be contacted, call Town of Clayton Police to take 
custody of child. Prepare a letter to the parent and leave it on 
the front door. DO NOT drive a child home or to any other loca- 
tion. 

 
 
Adopted by Town of Clayton Council:  

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library claytonlibrarync.org 

Page 273 of 282



 

 
 

Safety of Children in the Library 
 
 
The staff of the Hocutt-Ellington Memorial Library strives to cre- 
ate an inviting and creative space for children in, however, the 
safety and well-being of children in the library is a matter of 
serious concern. 

 
 
Parental Responsibility 

 
Parents must be aware that responsibility for children using the 
library rests at all times with the parents or assigned caregivers 
and not the library staff. 

 

 
Parents should familiarize themselves with the library hours, 
which are posted at each door of the library and on the library 
website, and should not leave children at the library before we 
open or after we close. 

 

 
Children old enough to be left alone in the library should know 
how to contact a parent or caregiver in case of an emergency. 

 

 
Parents of young children need to be particularly aware of the 
layout of the building and all of the doors 
which may pose a hazard to children. 

 
 
Unattended Children 

 
Children left unattended during library hours 
can be vulnerable. Examples of vulnerability 
include the child being too young to be on 
his or her own, the child being sent into an 
unsafe area, or the child being left alone 
outside the library after hours. Please see the Unattended Child 
& Disruptive Policy on the back of this handout. 

Appropriate Behavior 
 
Parents and caregivers are responsible for monitoring the behav- 
ior of their children in compliance with the Disruptive Behavior 
Policy. In particular, the policy deems the following unacceptable 
behavior in relation to children: 

 
Theft, mutilation, and defacement of library property; 

 
Food, except in designated areas; 

 
Blocking or interfering with the free movement of individuals; 

 
Sitting, standing, or lying on tables or stacks; 

 
Rearranging of any furniture or equipment from one location to an- 

other; 
 

Listening to audible devices except with earphones; 
 
Running and throwing things. 

 
 
ONLINE SAFETY RESOURCES 

 
 
The Carnegie Cyber Academy ww 
w.carnegiecyberacademy.com  Tips for kids and parents on 
internet safety as well as an interactive educational game, 
Carnegie Cadets! 

 

Child Safety on the Information Superhighway ww w.sa 
fekids.com  Document from the National Center for Missing and 
Exploited Children that outlines how parents can ensure their children 
have a safe online experience. 

 

Get Net Wise kids.getnetwise.org  
Online safety guide, tools for families, ways to report trouble, and web- 
sites for kids. 

 

Online Tools for Parents and Children 
 http://tinyurl.com/ALAPar entGuide  
Lists several sites to help you navigate the Internet with your child. 

 
Safety Nets safetynet.aap.org 
Guide to using the Internet from the American Academy of Pediatrics. 

Page 274 of 282

http://www.carnegiecyberacademy.com/
http://www.carnegiecyberacademy.com/
http://tinyurl.com/ALAPar
http://safetynet.aap.org/


TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 7a    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Clean Sweep Proclamation 
 
DESCRIPTION: Stacy Beard, Public Information Officer, will offer additional 

information regarding the 2015 Clean Sweep Proclamation  
  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
  
 
4-6-15   Place on 4-20-15    Proclamation 
    Consent Agenda 
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 275 of 282



Town of Clayton 
Proclaim Spring Litter Sweep 

As 
April 18-May 2, 2015 

 

Whereas, the Spring 2015 LITTER SWEEP roadside cleanup will take place 
April 18 – May 2, 2015, and; 

Whereas,  the Newcomers & Neighbors Club encourages civic and 
professional groups, businesses, churches, schools, neighborhoods, families 
and individual citizens to participate in the Department of Transportation 
cleanup by sponsoring and organizing local roadside cleanups; and 

Whereas, the great natural beauty of our community and a clean 
environment are sources of great pride for the Town of Clayton, attracting 
tourists and aiding in recruiting of new industries; and  
 
Whereas, the cleanup will increase awareness of the need for cleaner 
roadsides, emphasize the importance of not littering, and encourage recycling 
of solid wastes; and 

Whereas,  volunteers help to beautify our town and raise awareness of the 
impact of litter on the environment while giving every citizen the opportunity 
to take responsibility for clean roads; 

NOW, THEREFORE, LET IT BE PROCLAIMED by the Honorable Mayor 
and Town Council of the Town of Clayton that April 18- May 2, 2015, be 
proclaimed as “Litter Sweep” Spring 2015 Roadside Cleanup.  Let it also be 
proclaimed that Clayton citizens are urged to keep our roadsides clean; to 
reduce and recycle solid wastes; and to report violations of the litter laws. 

Duly proclaimed this 20th of April 2015 while in regular session. 

  

                                                                                                             
_______________________ 

                                                                                              Jody L. McLeod    
                                                                                              Mayor 

 

Page 276 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda Item: 7b    Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 
 
TITLE: Vacancy on Public Arts Advisory Board 
 
DESCRIPTION: Nancy Medlin will present application to fill current vacancy 

on the Public Arts Advisory Board.  The applicant has been 
interviewed by staff and is highly recommended for approval.  
The term of this vacancy expires on December 31, 2017. 

  
 
ITEM SUMMARY: 
 
Date:  Action:    Info. Provided: 
 
4-6-15 Approval of Appointment Application 
      Advisory Board Listing 

     
 
         
         
 
 
 
  
         
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 277 of 282



Page 278 of 282



Page 279 of 282



TOWN OF CLAYTON 
TOWN COUNCIL 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 
 

Agenda  Item: 8c     Meeting Date:  April 6, 2015 

TITLE:  Staff  - Town Clerk     

DESCRIPTION: Calendar of Events   

ITEM SUMMARY:  

Date:   Requested Action:   Info. Provided: 

4-6-15   None     Calendar of Events 

         

Page 280 of 282



April 2015 
o Council Meeting – Monday, April 6, 2015 @ 6:30 PM
o Town Council Retreat – Wednesday, April 8, 2015 @ 1:00 - 4:00 PM –

Clayton Center – Rotary Room
o Town Council Retreat – Thursday, April 9, 2015 @ 9:00 AM – 4:00 PM –

Clayton Center – Rotary Room
o Flag of Truce – Saturday, April 11, 2015 @ 9:00 AM
o The Clayton Center Palladian Series: The Fabulous Equinox – Jeremy Davis &

Orchestra– Saturday, April 11, 2015 @ 8:00 PM
o Council Meeting – Monday, April 20, 2015 @ 6:30 PM

May 2015
o Zaxby’s Movie Night – Saturday, May 2, 2015 @ 6:00 PM
o Council Meeting – Monday, May 4, 2015 @ 6:30 PM
o Clayton Road Race – Saturday, May 9, 2015 @ 8:00 AM
o Budget Work Session – Wednesday, May 13, 2015 @ 6:00 PM
o Budget Work Session – Thursday, May 14,2015@ 6:00 PM
o Senior Appreciation Day – Friday, May 15, 2015 – 10 AM – 12:00 Noon –

Council Chambers
o Heart Chase – Saturday, May 16, 2015 @ 8:00 AM
o Council Meeting – Monday, May 18, 2015 @ 6:30 PM
o A Solider’s Walk Home – Monday, May 18, 2015 @ 6:45 PM
o Memorial Day Holiday – Monday, May 25, 2015

June 2015
o Council Meeting – Monday, June 1, 2015 @ 6:30 PM
o Coffee Chat with Triangle Community Coalition – Wednesday, June 10, 2015

@ 8:00 AM – Clayton Center
o Council Meeting – Monday, June 15, 2015 @ 6:30 PM

July 2015
o Independence Day Holiday – Friday, July 3, 2015
o Council Meeting – Monday, July 20, 2015 @ 6:00 PM

August 2015
o Council Meeting – Monday, August 3, 2015 @ 6:30 PM
o Council Meeting – Monday – August 17, 2015 @ 6:30 PM
o Zaxby’s Movie Night – Saturday, August 22, 2014 @ 6:00 PM

September 2015
o Labor Day Holiday – Monday – September 7, 2015
o Council Meeting –TUESDAY – September8, 2015 @ 6:30 PM
o Council Meeting – Monday – September 21, 2015 @ 6:30 PM

Page 281 of 282



October 2015 
o Council Meeting - Monday – October 5, 2015 @ 6:30 PM 
o NCLM Annual Conference – October 11-13, 2015; Winston Salem, NC 
o Council Meeting – Monday- October 19, 2015 @ 6:30 PM 

 
November 2015 

o Fall Back: 2015 Daylight Saving Time ends – Sunday, November 1, 2015, at 
2:00 AM 

o Council Meeting – Monday – November 2, 2015 @ 6:30 PM 
o Veteran’s Day Holiday – Wednesday, November 11, 2015 
o Council Meeting – Monday – November 16, 2015 @ 6:30 PM 
o Thanksgiving Day Holiday – Thursday, November 26, 2015 & Friday, 

November 27, 2015 
 
December 2015 

o Santa Road Race – Saturday, December 5, 2015 @ 9:00 AM  
o Council Meeting – Monday – December 7, 2015 @ 6:30 PM 
o Council Meeting – Monday – December 21, 2015 @ 6:30 PM 
o Christmas Holiday – Wednesday, December 23, 2015; Thursday, December 

24, 2015; & Friday, December 25, 2015 
 
 

Page 282 of 282


	AGENDA COVER PAGE
	April 6 2015  Agenda
	3a COVER Minutes
	3a March 2 2015 MINUTES

	3b COVER Fresh Air Fund Proclamation
	3b The Fresh Air Fund PROCLAMATION 

	3c COVER Surplus Property Resolution
	3c Surplus RESOLUTION

	3d COVER Records Retention Amendments March 16 2015
	3d  RESOLUTION Municipal Records Retention & Disposition

	3e COVER Clayton Road Race
	3e Clayton Road Race 2015-03 Action Item Report

	3f COVER Santa Baby Road Race
	3f Santa Baby Road Race 2015-04 Action Item Report

	3g COVER Zaxby's Movie Night
	3gZaxby's Movie Night 2015-05 Action Item Report

	3h COVER Warranty and Dedications
	Spring Branch Medical Park Phase 2 Smith Packet AL Facility
	Chandlers Ridge (Old Lyndale) Subdivision Phase 2

	4a COVER New Employee Introduction
	4b COVER Certificate of Excellence Financial Reporting
	4b Excellence in Financial Reporting Notification

	4c COVER Miss Clayton 2015
	5a COVER 2014-127 Steeplechase Rezone
	5a Staff Report
	5a PDD 2014-127 Steeplechase Rezoning  Supporting Documents
	Map - Zoning PDD 2014-128 and PSD 2014-127.pdf
	 Map - Aerial PDD 2014-128 and PSD 2014-127
	SR04 Application PDD2014-127
	Owners Consent Form
	Neighborhood meeting materials PDD2014-127
	Attendance Roster
	Neighborhood Mtg Summary
	Neighborhood Mtg Letter.pdf



	5a Consistency Reasonable Statement
	5a MOTION 
	5a ORDINANCE
	5b COVER PDD 2014-128
	 Staff Report 
	Findings of Fact
	Map - Zoning 
	Map - Aerial
	Map - Proposed Land Use
	Application
	Owner Consent
	Neighborhood Meeting Roster
	Meeting Summary
	DOT Imapct Analysis Review
	NCDOT Steeplechase TIA Review Comments 20150129 - Update Required
	WW Allocation Request Ltr - SteepleChase PSD 2014-128



	Impact Analysis Revised 2-27-15
	5b MOTION - Short
	5b MOTION - Long
	6a COVER Library User Fees
	Library User Fees in Comp List of Fees and Charges

	6b COVER Library Long Range Plan
	TOC HEML Long Range Plan and Policies FINAL
	I. LONG-RANGE PLAN
	The Clayton Community
	Library History
	Current Library Use
	Methods
	Mission
	Vision
	Values
	Primary Goals

	FOCUS 1: Communication
	FOCUS 2: Cultural Arts
	FOCUS 3: Technology
	FOCUS 4: Young Adult
	FOCUS 5: Local History
	II. MISSION & VISION STATMENT
	Mission
	Vision
	Values

	III. CIRCULAITON POLICY
	Purpose of Policy
	Confidentiality of Library User Records
	Library Cards
	Education Employees
	Non-Resident Internet Use
	Town Employees
	Renewal of Library Cards
	Lost or Stolen Library Cards
	“Card In Hand” Requirements
	Responsibilities of Cardholders
	Use of Library Materials by the Public
	Circulation Periods
	Renewal of Library Materials
	Fines and Fees
	Overdue Notices
	First Notice at 2 Weeks
	Second Notice: Bill for replacement at 4 weeks
	Lost and Damaged Items
	Fine/fee Collection
	Confidentiality

	IV. COLLECTION MANAGEMENT POLICY
	Purpose of Policy
	Principles
	Intellectual Freedom
	Procedures
	Materials Deselection
	Community Suggestions
	Gift Materials

	V. DISRUPTIVE BEHAVIOR POLICY
	VI. UNATTENDED CHILD & DISRUPTIVE CHILD POLICY
	When witnessing an unattended child, library staff must take the following actions:

	VII. MEETING ROOM POLICY
	Policy Statement
	User Responsibilities
	Prohibited Activities
	Liability
	Publicity
	Safety of Children in the Library
	Parental Responsibility
	Unattended Children
	Appropriate Behavior




	7a COVER Sweep Proclamation
	PROCLAMATION - Litter Sweep

	7b COVER Public Arts Board Vacancy
	HIPOLITO Application 2015

	8c COVER Calendar of Events
	8c Calendar of Events




